



DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS

IDENTITIES AND BASES IN PLACTIC, HYPOPLACTIC, SYLVESTER, AND RELATED MONOIDS

DUARTE CHAMBEL RIBEIRO Master in Mathematics and Applications

DOCTORATE IN MATHEMATICS

NOVA University Lisbon October, 2021





IDENTITIES AND BASES IN PLACTIC, HYPOPLACTIC, SYLVESTER, AND RELATED MONOIDS

DUARTE CHAMBEL RIBEIRO

Master in Mathematics and Applications

| Adviser: | António José Mesquita da Cunha Machado Malheiro Associate Professor with Habilitation, NOVA School of Science and Technology, NOVA University Lisbon |
|-------------|---|
| Co-adviser: | Alan James Cain Researcher, CMA (Centre for Mathematics and Applications), NOVA School of Science and Technology, |
| | NOVA University Lisbon |

Examination Committee:

| Chair: | João Jorge Ribeiro Soares Gonçalves de Araújo Full Professor, NOVA School of Science and Technology, NOVA University Lisbon |
|--------------|--|
| Rapporteurs: | Jan Okninski Professor, Institute of Mathematics, Warsaw University Mikhail Vladimirovich Volkov Professor, Department of Algebra and Fundamental Informatics, Ural Federal University |
| Adviser: | Alan James Cain Researcher, CMA (Centre for Mathematics and Applications), NOVA School of Science and Technology, NOVA University Lisbon |
| Members: | João Jorge Ribeiro Soares Gonçalves de Araújo Full Professor, NOVA School of Science and Technology, NOVA University Lisbon Mário João de Jesus Branco |

DOCTORATE IN MATHEMATICS NOVA University Lisbon October, 2021

Identities and bases in plactic, hypoplactic, sylvester, and related monoids

Copyright © Duarte Chambel Ribeiro, NOVA School of Science and Technology, NOVA University Lisbon.

The NOVA School of Science and Technology and the NOVA University Lisbon have the right, perpetual and without geographical boundaries, to file and publish this dissertation through printed copies reproduced on paper or on digital form, or by any other means known or that may be invented, and to disseminate through scientific repositories and admit its copying and distribution for non-commercial, educational or research purposes, as long as credit is given to the author and editor.

To my friends and family.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my advisor Professor António Malheiro and my co-advisor Dr Alan J. Cain, to whom I owe much. They have been guiding me since my bachelor's study, and I couldn't be any luckier than to work with them. Their support, guidance and patience have been crucial to the making of this thesis. Even when swamped with their own personal work, they were always there to help me. I am very thankful for their careful reading of the thesis and all their suggestions, without which this work would be much less polished. I greatly enjoyed the mathematical discussions we had, which I miss very much. I hope we can work together on many future projects.

I'd like to give special thanks to Dr Marianne Johnson and Professor Mark Kambites of the University of Manchester, whose work has been inspiring to me. I also hope we can collaborate on future projects. Next, I give my thanks to Professor Jorge Almeida of the University of Porto and Professor Mikhail Volkov of the Ural Federal University, whose valuable feedback allowed me to clarify parts of this work, discover new definitions and obtain new and important results. In particular, I thank Professor Volkov for his comments on the connections between the results in this thesis and others in the literature. I give my thanks to the anonymous referee of [CMR21a], for their careful reading and helpful comments of the paper. I also give my thanks to all other professors and researchers in semigroup theory who organize and participate in conferences, workshops and seminars. Their work has allowed me to greatly broaden my horizons, in an open and welcoming manner.

I would like to thank the Department of Mathematics of NOVA School of Science and Technology and its members, in particular, Professor Vítor Hugo Fernandes, for sparking my interest in algebra and for all his support and encouragement. I give my thanks to all other professors of the Departamento de Matemática, to whom I am grateful for providing me with a solid and diverse background on mathematics. I would also like to thank Professor João Lourenço and all other contributors for their work on the NOVAthesis LaTeX template [Lou21].

This work is funded by National Funds through the FCT - Fundação para a Ciência

e a Tecnologia, I.P., under the scope of the project UIDB/00297/2020 (Center for Mathematics and Applications), the project PTDC/MAT-PUR/31174/2017, and the PhD Research Scholarship SFRH/BD/138949/2018. I gratefully acknowledge this financial support.

This thesis is dedicated to my friends, whom I missed tremendously during the pandemic. Some friendships were lost, others reborn. I sincerely hope I can keep these friendships I have, no matter what the future holds. I give my heartfelt thanks, in no particular order, to Cláudio, for being my musical soulmate over the last ten years; Samuel, for all the interesting and diverse conversations we have; Tiago, for our shared interest in Japanese culture; and all of my friends from the FCT NOVA gaming centre, too many to name, who hold a very special place in my heart, and who have made me a better person. I love you all.

I would like to greatly thank the Vinesauce community for the many hours of entertainment and stomach hurting laughs it provided over these years. My sense of humour has been utterly ruined by its dumb jokes, which have kept me in high spirits throughout the darkest days of the pandemic. I would also like to thank all the bands I listen to, too many to name. Music has been a constant throughout my life, and I cannot live without it.

Finally, my warmest thanks go to my parents João and Anabela and my grandparents Fernando and Lille, to whom I also dedicate this thesis. They have been an indispensable source of support and encouragement during my entire life, even in the toughest of times. I love you with all my heart, and I hope I continue to make you proud of me. *"Thálatta! Thálatta! — The Sea! The Sea!"* – The Ten Thousand, in Xenophon's *Anabasis*, bk IV, ch. 7, S 24, c. 370 BC

Abstract

The ubiquitous plactic monoid, also known as the monoid of Young tableaux, has deep connections to several areas of mathematics, in particular, to the theory of symmetric functions. An active research topic is the identities satisfied by the plactic monoids of finite rank. It is known that there is no "global" identity satisfied by the plactic monoid of every rank. In contrast, monoids related to the plactic monoid, such as the hypoplactic monoid (the monoid of quasi-ribbon tableaux), sylvester monoid (the monoid of binary search trees) and Baxter monoid (the monoid of pairs of twin binary search trees), satisfy global identities, and the shortest identities have been characterized.

In this thesis, we present new results on the identities satisfied by the hypoplactic, sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids. We show how to embed these monoids, of any rank strictly greater than 2, into a direct product of copies of the corresponding monoid of rank 2. This confirms that all monoids of the same family, of rank greater than or equal to 2, satisfy exactly the same identities. We then give a complete characterization of those identities, thus showing that the identity checking problems of these monoids are in the complexity class P, and prove that the varieties generated by these monoids have finite axiomatic rank, by giving a finite basis for them. We also give a subdirect representation of multihomogeneous monoids by finite subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids, thus showing that they are residually finite.

Keywords: Hypoplactic monoid, sylvester monoid, Baxter monoid, variety, identities, equational basis, axiomatic rank

Resumo

O ubíquo monóide plático, também conhecido como o monóide dos diagramas de Young, tem ligações profundas a várias áreas de Matemática, em particular à teoria das funções simétricas. Um tópico de pesquisa ativo é o das identidades satisfeitas pelos monóides pláticos de característica finita. Sabe-se que não existe nenhuma identidade "global" satisfeita pelos monóides pláticos de cada característica. Em contraste, sabe-se que monóides ligados ao monóide plático, como o monóide hipoplático (o monóide dos diagramas quasifita), o monóide silvestre (o monóide de árvores de busca binárias) e o monóide de Baxter (o monóide de pares de árvores de busca binária gémeas), satisfazem identidades globais, e as identidades mais curtas já foram caracterizadas.

Nesta tese, apresentamos novos resultados acerca das identidades satisfeitas pelos monóides hipopláticos, silvestres, silvestres-# e de Baxter. Mostramos como mergulhar estes monóides, de característica estritamente maior que 2, num produto direto de cópias do monóide correspondente de característica 2. Confirmamos assim que todos os monóides da mesma família, de característica maior ou igual a 2, satisfazem exatamente as mesmas identidades. A seguir, damos uma caracterização completa dessas identidades, mostrando assim que os problemas de verificação de identidades destes monóides estão na classe de complexidade P, e provamos que as variedades geradas por estes monóides têm característica axiomática finita, ao apresentar uma base finita para elas. Também damos uma representação subdireta de monóides multihomogéneos por monóides fatores de Rees finitos e subdiretamente irredutíveis, mostrando assim que são residualmente finitos.

Palavras-chave: Monóide hipoplático, monóide silvestre, monóide de Baxter, variedade, identidades, base equacional, característica axiomática

Contents

| Index | | | xix | |
|---------------------|-----------------------------|---|-----|--|
| Notation | | xxiii | | |
| 1 | Intr | ntroduction | | |
| 2 | Elementary semigroup theory | | | |
| | 2.1 | Semigroups and monoids | 5 | |
| | 2.2 | Binary relations, orders and lattices | 7 | |
| | 2.3 | Homomorphisms | 7 | |
| | 2.4 | Congruences and quotients | 8 | |
| | 2.5 | Alphabets, words and free semigroups | 8 | |
| | 2.6 | Presentations | 9 | |
| 3 | Uni | versal algebra and computational complexity | 11 | |
| | 3.1 | Varieties and identities | 11 | |
| | 3.2 | Subdirectly irreducible and residually finite algebras | 15 | |
| | 3.3 | Computational complexity | 16 | |
| 4 | Mor | noids from insertion algorithms | 19 | |
| | 4.1 | The plactic monoid | 19 | |
| | 4.2 | The hypoplactic monoid | 22 | |
| | 4.3 | The sylvester and #-sylvester monoids | 24 | |
| | 4.4 | The Baxter monoid | 35 | |
| 5 Embedding results | | bedding results | 37 | |
| | 5.1 | Non-existence of embedding into a monoid of lesser rank | 37 | |
| | | 5.1.1 Hypoplactic monoid case | 37 | |
| | | 5.1.2 Binary search tree monoids case | 38 | |
| | 5.2 | Embedding into a direct product | 40 | |
| | | 5.2.1 Embeddings of the hypoplactic monoids | 40 | |

| CONTENTS | , |
|----------|---|
|----------|---|

| | | 5.2.2 | Embeddings of the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids | 43 |
|----|--------------|-----------|--|----|
| 6 | Ider | ntities s | satisfied by the plactic-like monoids | 49 |
| | 6.1 | Identi | ties satisfied by the hypoplactic monoid | 49 |
| | 6.2 | Identi | ties satisfied by the sylvester and related monoids | 53 |
| 7 | Vari | eties g | enerated by the plactic-like monoids | 61 |
| | 7.1 | Finite | bases and axiomatic rank | 61 |
| | | 7.1.1 | The axiomatic rank of the variety generated by the hypoplactic | |
| | | | monoid | 61 |
| | | 7.1.2 | The axiomatic rank of the varieties generated by the sylvester, #- | |
| | | | sylvester and Baxter monoids | 66 |
| | 7.2 | Subdi | rect representations of multihomogeneous monoids | 71 |
| 8 | Ope | en prob | lems | 77 |
| Bi | Bibliography | | 81 | |

INDEX

algebra 11 absolutely free 13 term of an 13 content of a 13 subterm 13 support of a 13 congruence on a 12 generated by 12 principal 12 direct product of 12 embedding of 12 subdirect 15 equational class of 14 homomorphic image 12 homomorphism of 12 natural 12 identity checking problem of an 18 isomorphic 12 isomorphism of 12 quotient 12 residually finite 16 subalgebra 11 generated by 12 subdirectly irreducible 15 subdirect product of 15 type of an 11 universal property 13 universe of an 11 V-free 13

variety of 13 axiomatic rank of a 15 infinite 15 basis rank of a 15 basis of a 15 finitely based 15 generated by 13 algorithm 16 alphabet 8 asymptotic upper bound 18 binary relation 7 anti-symmetric 7 compatible 8, 12 reflexive 7 symmetric 7 transitive 7 binary operation 5 associative 5 Church–Turing thesis 16 computable function 16 defining relation 9 #-sylvester 33 Baxter 36 hypoplactic 24 plactic 21 sylvester 28 equivalence class 7

equivalence relation 7 evaluation 14 formal deduction 14 function 11 arity of a 11 binary 11 constant 11 unary 11 generating set 6 monoid 6 generator 9 graph 24 connected 25 edge of a 24 path of a 24 length of a 24 subgraph 24 induced 24 tree 25 labelled 25 node of a 25 ancestor 25 lowest common 25 child 25 depth of a 25 descendant 25 left 25 right 25 leaf 25 leftmost 26 parent 25 rightmost 26 root of a 25 topmost 26 to the right of 26 to the left of 26 rooted 25 binary 25 canopy of a 35 left strict 25

pair of twin 35 right strict 25 sylvester class of a 28 subtree 25 left 25 right 25 vertex of a 24 adjacent 24 ideal 6 principal 6 identity 14 balanced 14 content of a 14 length of a 14 support of a 14 consequence 14 equational theory 14 left 1-hereditary 15 of a class of algebras 15 right 1-hereditary 15 holds 14 obtained by 14 replacement 14 substitution 14 symmetry 14 transitivity 14 rank of an 14 satisfied by 14 up to equivalence 14 size of an 14 identity relation 7 identity element 5 inorder traversal 26 inversion 23 join 7 lattice 7 complete 7 sublattice 7 left precedence 34

index of 34 lower bound 7 meet 7 monoid 5 #-sylvester 33 finite-rank 33 anti-isomorphism of 8 anti-homomorphism of 8 Baxter 35 finite-rank 35 bicyclic 10 congruence on a 8 #-sylvester 33 Baxter 35 hypoplactic 23 plactic 20 sylvester 28 embedding of 8 free 8 homomorphism of 8 hypoplactic 23 finite-rank 23 isomorphism of 8 monogenic 6 free 6 plactic 20 finite-rank 20 presentation 10 submonoid 6 generated by 6 sylvester 28 finite-rank 28 universal property 9 multiplication 5 partial order 7 poset 7 postfix reading 25 postorder traversal 25 power 6 prefix reading 26

preorder traversal 26 product 5 projection map 5 quasi-ribbon tableau 22 right precedence 28 index of 28 semigroup 5 anti-isomorphism of 7 anti-homomorphism of 7 commutative 6 congruence on a 8 generated by 8 principal 8 Rees 8 direct product of 6 embedding of 7 factor 8 finitely presented 9 finitely generated 6 free 8 homogeneous 10 length 10 homomorphic image 7 homomorphism of 7 natural 8 isomorphic 7 isomorphism of 7 left zero 6 monogenic 6 free 6 multihomogeneous 10 content 10 support 10 presentation 9 defining 9 homogeneous 9 multihomogeneous 9 presented by 9 quotient set of a 7

Rees factor 8 right zero 6 subsemigroup 6 generated by 6 universal property 9 symbol 8 Turing machine 16 accepting state 17 accepts 17 configuration of a 17 yields 17 language recognized by a 17 rejecting state 17 rejects 17 time complexity of a 18 upper bound 7 variable 14 occurs 14

word 8 canonical 28 content 9 factor 9 language 8 decidable 17 time complexity class 18 Turing-recognizable 17 length 9 prefix 9 representative 9 subsequence 9 suffix 9 support 9 Young tableau 19 zero 5 left 5 right 5

Notation

| $\phi(x)$: image of <i>x</i> under ϕ | 5 |
|--|-----|
| $f \circ g : f$ composed with g | 5 |
| $\mathbb N$: set of natural numbers | 5 |
| \mathbb{N}_0 : set of natural numbers with zero | 5 |
| $X \setminus Y$: set difference of X and Y | 5 |
| $\phi\!\upharpoonright_{X'}\!:$ restriction of the map ϕ to X' | 5 |
| $\operatorname{im} \phi$: image of ϕ | 5 |
| Y^X : set of functions from X to Y | 5 |
| π_k : projection map to the <i>k</i> -th coordinates the transformation of transformation of the transformation of t | ite |
| of a Cartesian product | 5 |
| 1_M : identity of a monoid M | 5 |
| x^n : <i>n</i> -th power of <i>x</i> | 6 |
| $(S_i)_{i \in I}$: family of semigroups S_i | 6 |
| $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$: direct product of a family | of |
| semigroups $(S_i)_i$ | 6 |
| J(x): principal ideal generated by x | 6 |
| $\langle X \rangle$: subsemigroup generated by X | 6 |
| \triangle_X : identity relation on a set X | 7 |
| ≤ : partial order | 7 |
| $\bigwedge X$: meet of X | 7 |
| $\bigvee X$: join of X | 7 |
| $\ker\phi$: kernel of a homomorphism ϕ | 7 |
| S/ ho : quotient set of S by $ ho$ | 8 |
| $[x]_{\rho}: \rho$ -class of x | 8 |
| $ ho^{ atural}$: natural homomorphism | 8 |
| ρ_I : Rees congruence induced by I | 8 |
| S/I : Rees factor semigroup of S by I | 8 |
| $ ho^{\#}$: congruence generated by $ ho$ | 8 |
| Con(S): set of congruences on S | 8 |

| X^+ : free semigroup on X | 8 |
|---|-------------|
| ε : empty word | 8 |
| X^* : free monoid on X | 8 |
| ι : inclusion embedding | 9 |
| u : length of a word u | 9 |
| $ u _x$: number of occurrences of a letter | er x |
| in a word <i>u</i> | 9 |
| cont(u) : content of a word u | 9 |
| supp(u): support of a word u | 9 |
| $\langle X \mathcal{R} \rangle$: semigroup or monoid prese | nta- |
| tion | 9 |
| $[w]_S$: congruence class of a word w re | pre- |
| senting an element of a monoid S defi | ned |
| by a presentation | 9 |
| $\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})$: Variety generated by a class \mathcal{F} | C of |
| algebras | 13 |
| $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}X : \mathcal{V}$ -free algebra over X | 13 |
| $u \approx v$: identity | 14 |
| $r_a(\mathcal{V})$: axiomatic rank of a variety \mathcal{V} | 15 |
| $r_b(\mathcal{V})$: basis rank of a variety \mathcal{V} | 15 |
| O(t(n)): big-O notation | 18 |
| P : complexity class of all languages | de- |
| cidable in polynomial time | 18 |
| Снеск- $Id(\mathbf{A})$: identity checking p | rob- |
| lem of an algebra A | 18 |
| A : infinite ordered alphabet of posi | tive |
| integers | 19 |
| A_n : finite ordered alphabet of first n | pos- |
| itive integers | 19 |

| $P_{plac}^{\rightarrow}(u)$: Young tableau computed fr | om |
|---|-----|
| the word <i>u</i> | 20 |
| ≡ _{plac} : plactic congruence | 20 |
| plac : infinite-rank plactic monoid | 20 |
| $plac_n$: plactic monoid of rank n | 20 |
| \Re_{plac} : plactic relations | 21 |
| $P_{hypo}^{\rightarrow}(u)$: quasi-ribbon tableau co | om- |
| puted from the word <i>u</i> | 22 |
| ≡ _{hypo} : hypoplactic congruence | 23 |
| hypo : infinite-rank hypoplactic mon 23 | oid |
| hypo _n : hypoplactic monoid of rank n | 23 |
| \mathcal{R}_{hypo} : hypoplactic relations | 24 |
| $P = x_1 x_2 \dots x_k$: path or cycle notation | 25 |
| Post(T) : postfix reading of a label | led |
| rooted binary tree <i>T</i> | 25 |
| Pre(T) : prefix reading of a label | led |
| rooted binary tree T | 26 |
| $P_{svlv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$: right strict binary search t | ree |
| computed from the word <i>u</i> | 27 |
| ≡ _{sylv} : sylvester congruence | 28 |
| sylv : infinite-rank sylvester monoid | 28 |
| $sylv_n$: sylvester monoid of rank n | 28 |
| \Re_{sylv} : sylvester relations | 28 |
| $P_{\text{sylp}^{\#}}(u)$: left strict binary search t | ree |
| computed from the word <i>u</i> | 33 |
| $\equiv_{sylv^{\#}}$: #-sylvester congruence | 33 |
| sylv [#] : infinite-rank #-sylvester mon | oid |
| 33 | |
| sylv [#] _n : #-sylvester monoid of rank n | 33 |
| $\mathcal{R}_{sylv^{\#}}$: #-sylvester relations | 33 |
| $P_{\text{baxt}}(u)$: pair of twin binary search tr | ees |
| computed from the word u | 35 |
| \equiv_{baxt} : Baxter congruence | 35 |
| baxt : infinite-rank Baxter monoid | 35 |
| $baxt_n$: Baxter monoid of rank n | 35 |
| \mathcal{R}_{baxt} : Baxter relations | 36 |

 \mathcal{V}_{hypo} : variety generated by the hypoplactic monoid 42 \mathcal{V}_{svlv} : variety generated by the sylvester monoid 45 $\mathcal{V}_{svlv^{\#}}$: variety generated by the #sylvester monoid 46 $\mathcal{V}_{\text{baxt}}$: variety generated by the Baxter monoid 47 C: variety of all commutative monoids 51 \mathcal{J}_2 : pseudovariety corresponding to the class of all piecewise testable languages of height 2 51 \mathcal{C}_3 : the 5-element monoid of all order preserving and extensive transformations of the chain 1 < 2 < 351 $u \mid_{x,v}$: word obtained from a word *u* by eliminating every occurrence of a symbol 51 other than *x* or *y* $o_{x \leftarrow v}(u)$: number of occurrences of the symbol y before the first occurrence of the symbol x in a word u, when reading *u* from right-to-left 53 $o_{v \to x}(u)$: number of occurrences of the symbol y before the first occurrence of the symbol x in a word u, when reading *u* from left-to-right 53 \mathcal{B}_{hypo} : basis for the variety generated by the hypoplactic monoid 61 \mathcal{B}_{sylv} : basis for the variety generated by the sylvester monoid 66 $\mathcal{B}_{svlv^{\#}}$: basis for the variety generated by the #-sylvester monoid 68 \mathcal{B}_{baxt} : basis for the variety generated by the Baxter monoid 68 K_x : set of all elements y of a monoid M such that the element *x* is not in the principal ideal generated by y72

INTRODUCTION

1

A semigroup identity is a formal equality that, when satisfied by a semigroup, holds for any evaluation of its variables in that semigroup (see Section 3.1). Many interesting semigroups satisfy identities: for instance, the ubiquitous bicyclic monoid satisfies Adjan's identity $xyyxxyxyx \approx xyyxyxxyyx$, which is the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by this monoid [Adj66].

The study of the identities satisfied by a semigroup S is of great importance, since, by Birkhoff's Theorem, the equational theory of S defines the variety generated by it. Besides the complete characterization of the identities satisfied by a semigroup, there are two other natural problems which arise when studying them: The first is the finite basis problem [Sap14; Vol01], which asks if the identities satisfied by S are consequences of those in some finite subset. There exist several powerful methods with which to approach the problem for finite semigroups, however, this is not the case for infinite semigroups. The second problem is the identity checking problem CHECK-ID(S) [KS95], a decision problem whose instance is an arbitrary identity $u \approx v$, and the answer to such an instance is 'YES' if S satisfies $u \approx v$, and 'NO' if it does not, and its computational complexity. It is well-known that, for any finite semigroup S, the problem CHECK-ID(S) is decidable, since there are only finitely many substitutions of the variables occurring in the identity by elements of S. Furthermore, CHECK-ID(S) belongs in the complexity class coNP. However, in the case of infinite semigroups, the brute-force approach used in the finite case does not work, and only recently there have been results on the computational complexity of identity checking for infinite semigroups, beyond undecidability and trivial or easy decidability in linear time [Che+20; DJK18; KV20].

The plactic monoid plac, whose elements can be identified with Young tableaux (see Section 4.1), has long been considered an important monoid, due to its numerous applications in different areas of mathematics, such as algebraic combinatorics [Lot02], representation theory [Ful97; Gre07], symmetric functions [Mac15; Sch77], Kostka-Foulkes polynomials [LS78] and crystal bases [BS17]. It was first studied by Schensted [Sch61] and Knuth [Knu70], and later studied in depth by Lascoux and Schützenberger [LS81]. By its definition via Schensted's insertion algorithm, the plactic monoid has decidable word problem.

The question of identities satisfied by the plactic monoid is actively studied [Izh19; KO15], since it is an infinite monoid with a powerful combinatorial structure. One of the initial motivations for the study of these identities was to obtain a more natural example of a finitely-generated polynomial-growth semigroup that does not satisfy non-trivial identities, than those given in [Shn93]. However, it is now known that each plactic monoid of finite rank satisfies non-trivial identities. For example, the plactic monoid of rank 2 also satisfies Adjan's identity $xyyxxyxyx \approx xyyxyxyyx$. The plactic monoid of rank 3 satisfies the identity $uvvuvu \approx uvuvvu$, where u(x, y) and v(x, y) are respectively the left and right side of Adjan's identity [KO15]. However, it does not satisfy Adjan's identity itself.

It is known that upper triangular tropical matrix semigroups satisfy non-trivial identities [Izh14; Okn15; Tay17]. Johnson and Kambites [JK21] gave a tropical representation of the plactic monoid of every finite rank, thus showing that they all satisfy non-trivial identities. Furthermore, they also show that every identity satisfied by the plactic monoid of finite rank *n* is also satisfied by the monoid of $n \times n$ upper triangular tropical matrices. This result, together with algorithms given in [DJK18] and [JT19], show that the identity checking problem for the plactic monoids of finite rank is in the complexity class P. On the other hand, Cain *et al* [Cai+17] showed that the plactic monoid of finite rank *n* does not satisfy any non-trivial identity of length less than or equal to n, thus showing that there is no single "global" identity satisfied by every plactic monoid of finite rank, and that the infinite-rank plactic monoid does not satisfy any non-trivial identity. Daviaud et al [DJK18] also show that the monoid of 2×2 upper triangular tropical matrices, the bicyclic monoid, and the plactic monoid of rank 2 satisfy exactly the same identities, expanding on the result obtained by Izhakian in [Izh19]. Since the bicyclic monoid is not finitely based [Shn89], none of these monoids are. The identities satisfied by the bicyclic monoid had previously been characterized by Pastijn [Pas06], in terms of the properties of associated polyhedral complexes.

In the context of combinatorial Hopf algebras, whose bases are indexed by combinatorial objects, the plactic monoid is used to construct the Hopf algebra of free symmetric functions **FSym** [DHT02; PR95], whose bases are indexed by standard Young tableaux. In this context, other monoids arise with similar combinatorial properties to those of the plactic monoid: the Hopf algebra **Sym** of non-commutative symmetric functions [Gel+95], whose bases are indexed by integer compositions, is obtained from the hypoplactic monoid hypo [KT97; Nov00], the monoid of quasi-ribbon tableaux (see Section 4.2); the Loday–Ronco Hopf algebra **PBT** [HNT05; LR98], whose bases are indexed by planar binary trees, is obtained from the sylvester monoid sylv [HNT05], the monoid of right strict binary search trees (see Section 4.3); the Baxter Hopf algebra **Baxter** [Gir12; Rea05], whose bases are indexed by Baxter permutations [Bax64], is obtained from the Baxter monoid baxt [Gir12], the monoid of pairs of twin binary search trees (see Section 4.4). Also arising in [Gir12] is the #-sylvester monoid, whose elements are identified with left strict binary search trees and whose properties can be derived from those of the sylvester monoid by parallel reasoning. These monoids are closely related to each other [Gir12, Proposition 3.7], as well as to the hypoplactic monoid [CM18a; Pri13]. These monoids satisfy identities, and the shortest identities have been characterized [CM18b]. Unlike in the case of the plactic monoid, these identities are satisfied regardless of rank. Related as well to the plactic monoid by its growth type [DK94], the Chinese monoid [Cas+01] embeds into a direct product of copies of the bicyclic monoid [JO11]. Furthermore, the Chinese and plactic monoids of rank 2 coincide, hence, they satisfy the same identities.

The main goal of this thesis is to present a systematic study of the identities satisfied by the hypoplactic, sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids. It also gives an alternate characterization of equality in words in the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids, by introducing the concepts of right and left precedences, which serve the same purpose as inversions for the hypoplactic monoid. The author remarks that Theorems 7.1.5, 7.1.6 and 7.1.7 have been proven independently, in different ways, in [Cai+21, Theorems 6.9 and 6.13] and in [HZ21, Theorems 4.6, 4.7 and 4.10]. Furthermore, Theorems 5.2.13, 5.2.16 and 5.2.18 also arise as consequences of, respectively, [HZ21, Theorems 4.6, 4.7 and 4.10]. The thesis is structured as follows: Chapters 2, 3 and 4 provide the necessary background on, respectively, elementary semigroup theory and presentations; universal algebra and computational complexity; and monoids arising from insertion algorithms. In Chapter 5, we show how to embed the plactic-like monoids of rank strictly higher than 2 into direct products of copies of the corresponding monoid of rank 2, thus showing that they generate exactly the same variety and satisfy exactly the same identities. Chapter 6 gives the characterization of these identities, as well as results on the computational complexity of the identity checking problem for these monoids. In Chapter 7, we give finite bases for the varieties generated by these monoids, thus showing that they have finite axiomatic rank. We also give a subdirect representation of multihomogeneous monoids by finite subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids, thus showing that they are residually finite. Finally, Chapter 8 concludes the thesis with a discussion of open questions.

The majority of the results on the hypoplactic monoid are published in [CMR21a] by Cain, Malheiro, and the present author, while the results on the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids are to appear in the submitted paper [CMR21b], by the same authors.

2

ELEMENTARY SEMIGROUP THEORY

This chapter gives elementary definitions and results on semigroup theory, and mostly follows Chapters 1 and 2 of [Cai16]. For further background on semigroups and monoids, see [How95]; for presentations, see [Hig92].

Throughout this thesis, maps are written *on the left*, e.g. $\phi(x)$, and composed *right* to *left*, e.g. $(f \circ g)(x) = f(g(x))$. The set of natural numbers (positive integers) is denoted by \mathbb{N} , and by \mathbb{N}_0 when including 0. For sets X, X', Y such that $X' \subseteq X$, and for a map $\phi: X \to Y$, we denote the set difference of X and Y by $X \setminus Y$, the restriction of the map ϕ to X' by $\phi \upharpoonright_{X'}$ and the image of ϕ by im ϕ . We denote the set of functions from X to Y by Y^X . Let $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of sets. For each $k \in I$, the projection map $\pi_k : \prod_{i \in i} X_i \to X_k$ to the *k*-th coordinate of the Cartesian product $\prod_{i \in I} X_i$ is the map defined by

$$\pi_k(x) = x(k)$$

where $x(k) \in X_k$ denotes the *k*-th component of the tuple *x*.

2.1 Semigroups and monoids

Let *S* be a set. A binary operation on *S* is a map $\bullet: S \times S \to S$. This operation is associative if $x \bullet (y \bullet z) = (x \bullet y) \bullet z$, for any $x, y, z \in S$. A semigroup is an algebraic structure which consists of a non-empty set *S* equipped with an associative binary operation \bullet . We denote such a pair by (S, \bullet) , or simply *S*, if there is no need to distinguish the operation. In this case, we usually write xy instead of $x \bullet y$, for any $x, y \in S$, and we call the operation multiplication, and the element xy the product of x and y. Due to semigroup operations being associative, there is no ambiguity in writing $x_1x_2\cdots x_n$, where $x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n \in S$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let *e* be an element of *S*. If ex = xe = x, for all $x \in S$, then *e* is an identity element of *S*. A semigroup contains at most one identity element. A semigroup *M* with an identity element is called a monoid, and its identity is usually denoted by 1_M .

Let *z* be an element of *S*. If zx = z, for all $x \in S$, then *z* is called a left zero. If xz = z, for all $x \in S$, then *z* is called a right zero. If zx = z = xz, for all $x \in S$, then *z* is a zero. A

semigroup contains at most one zero. If all elements of a semigroup *S* are left (respectively, right) zeros, then *S* is called a left zero semigroup (respectively, right zero semigroup).

For $x \in S$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we define

$$x^n = \overbrace{xx \cdots x}^{n \text{ times}}.$$

In general, x^n is only defined for positive *n*, however, if *S* is a monoid, we define $x^0 = 1_S$. An element of the form x^n is called a power of *x*.

A semigroup *S* is commutative if xy = yx, for all $x, y \in S$.

Let $(S_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of semigroups. The direct product of the family of semigroups $(S_i)_{i \in I}$ is the Cartesian product $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$ with componentwise multiplication: using tuple notation,

$$(\ldots, x_i, \ldots)(\ldots, y_i, \ldots) = (\ldots, x_i y_i, \ldots),$$

for $x_i, y_i \in S_i$, $i \in I$. Componentwise multiplication is associative: as such, the direct product is itself a semigroup. The direct product of a monoid is also a monoid.

Let *T* be a non-empty subset of a semigroup *S*. It is a subsemigroup if it is closed under multiplication. If it is also a monoid, then it is a submonoid of *S*. If it is closed under left and right multiplication by any element of *S*, then it is a two-sided ideal, or simply an ideal of *S*. Any ideal of *S* is a subsemigroup of *S*. For any $x \in S$, the principal ideal generated by *x* is the ideal

$$J(x) = \{x\} \cup \{xy : y \in X\} \cup \{yx : y \in X\} \cup \{yxz : y, z \in X\}.$$

Let $(T_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of subsemigroups of S. If the intersection $\bigcap_{i \in I} T_i$ is non-empty, it is also a subsemigroup of S. Let X be a non-empty subset of S and let $(T_i)_{i \in I}$ be the family of all subsemigroups of S which contain X. Notice that $(T_i)_{i \in I}$ is non-empty, since it contains at least S. Furthermore, every subsemigroup in $(T_i)_{i \in I}$ contains X, hence $\bigcap_{i \in I} T_i$ is non-empty and, as such, a subsemigroup, the smallest which contains X. It is called the subsemigroup generated by X and denoted by $\langle X \rangle$.

On the other hand, if X is a subset of a semigroup S such that $\langle X \rangle = S$, then X is called a generating set of S, and we say X generates S. If S admits a finite generating set, we say S is finitely generated. If S is generated by a single element, we say S is a monogenic semigroup. The free monogenic semigroup $\langle x \rangle$ is the semigroup generated by a single element x, such that $x^m = x^n \implies m = n$, for any $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Given a non-empty subset X of a monoid M, we define the submonoid generated by X in a similar way: it is the intersection of all submonoids of M which contain $X \cup \{1_M\}$. It is the smallest submonoid of M with identity 1_M which contains X. If $X \subseteq M$ is such that M is the submonoid generated by X, then X is called a monoid generating set for M and we say X generates M as a monoid. If M is generated by a single element, we say M is a monogenic monoid. The definition of free monogenic monoid is analogous to that of a free monogenic semigroup.

2.2 Binary relations, orders and lattices

A binary relation ρ on a set *X* is:

- reflexive if $x \rho x$ for all $x \in X$;
- symmetric if $x \rho y \implies y \rho x$ for all $x, y \in X$;
- anti-symmetric if $(x \rho y) \land (y \rho x) \implies x = y$, for all $x, y \in X$;
- transitive if $(x \rho y) \land (y \rho z) \implies x \rho z$ for all $x, y, z \in X$.

An equivalence relation ρ on a set *X* is a binary relation which is reflexive, symmetric and transitive, and it partitions the set *X* into equivalence classes, each made up of related elements. The set of equivalence classes is called the quotient set of *S* by ρ . The identity relation $\Delta_X = \{(x, x) : x \in X\}$ is an example of an equivalence relation.

A partial order on a set X is a binary relation which is reflexive, anti-symmetric and transitive, usually denoted by \leq . We write x < y when $x \leq y$ and $x \neq y$, for any $x, y \in X$. A partially ordered set or poset is a set X equipped with a partial order \leq , denoted by (X, \leq) .

Let (X, \leq) be a poset and let $Y \subseteq X$. An element $x \in X$ is a lower bound of Y if $x \leq y$, for all $y \in Y$. If $z \leq x$, for all $z \in X$ which are lower bounds of Y, then x is a greatest lower bound (alternatively, infimum or meet) of Y. The meet of Y, if it exists, is unique and denoted by $\bigwedge Y$, or, if $Y = \{a, b\}$, by $a \land b$. We define upper bound, least upper bound (or supremum or join), $\bigvee Y$ and $a \lor b$ in a similar fashion.

A poset (X, \leq) is a lattice if the meet and join of any two elements of X exist. If the meet and join of any subset of X exist, then X is a complete lattice. A subset Y of X is a sublattice of X if it is closed under meets and joins.

2.3 Homomorphisms

Let *S*, *T* be semigroups. A map $\phi : S \to T$ is called a homomorphism if $\phi(xy) = \phi(x)\phi(y)$, for all $x, y \in S$. If a homomorphism is injective, it is called an embedding; if it is bijective, it is called an isomorphism. If there exists an isomorphism $\phi : S \to T$, then we say that *S* and *T* are isomorphic. Two semigroups which are isomorphic can be viewed as the same algebraic structure in different settings: the elements of each semigroup may differ by nature, but they interact with one another in the same way. If $\phi : S \to T$ is a surjective homomorphism, we say *T* is a homomorphic image of *S*.

The kernel of a homomorphism $\phi : S \to T$ is the binary relation

$$\ker \phi = \{(x, y) \in S \times S : \phi(x) = \phi(y)\}.$$

Notice that ϕ is an embedding if and only if its kernel is the identity relation.

A map $\phi : S \to T$ is called an anti-homomorphism if $\phi(xy) = \phi(y)\phi(x)$, for all $x, y \in S$. If it is bijective, then it is called an anti-isomorphism. For monoids S, T and a map $\phi : S \to T$, monoid homomorphisms, embeddings, isomorphisms, anti-homomorphisms and anti-isomorphisms are defined in the same way, with the added condition that $\phi(1_S) = 1_T$.

2.4 Congruences and quotients

A binary relation ρ on a semigroup *S* is compatible if $x \rho y$ and $z \rho t$ imply $xz \rho yt$. A compatible equivalence relation is called a congruence.

Let ρ be a congruence on S. Let S/ρ denote the quotient set of S by ρ and, for any $x \in S$, let $[x]_{\rho}$ denote the ρ -class of x, that is, $[x]_{\rho} = \{y \in S : y \ \rho \ x\}$. The multiplication defined on S/ρ by

$$[x]_{\rho}[y]_{\rho} = [xy]_{\rho},$$

for $x, y \in S$, is well-defined and associative, hence the quotient set of *S* by ρ is a semigroup, called the quotient or factor of *S* by ρ . The map $\rho^{\natural} : S \to S/\rho$, defined by $\rho^{\natural}(x) = [x]_{\rho}$, is a surjective homomorphism, called the natural homomorphism or natural map.

The kernel of a homomorphism $\phi : S \to T$ is a congruence.

Theorem 2.4.1 ([How76, Theorem 5.4]). Let $\phi : S \to T$ be a homomorphism between semigroups and let ρ be a congruence on S such that $\rho \subseteq \ker \phi$. Then, there exists a homomorphism $\varphi : S/\rho \to T$ such that $\varphi \circ \rho^{\natural} = \phi$. Moreover, φ is injective if and only if $\rho = \ker \phi$.

Let *I* be an ideal of *S*. Then $\rho_I = (I \times I) \cup \triangle_S$ is a congruence on *S*, called the Rees congruence induced by *I*. Its factor semigroup is called a Rees factor semigroup, and is denoted by *S*/*I*, and its elements are denoted by $[x]_I$. These are the ρ_I -classes, which comprise *I* itself, which is the zero element of *S*/*I*, and singleton sets $\{x\}$, for each $x \in S \setminus I$.

For any binary relation ρ on *S*, the smallest congruence on *S* which contains ρ is called the congruence generated by ρ , and is denoted by $\rho^{\#}$. It is easy to see that $\rho^{\#}$ is the intersection of all congruences which contain ρ . If $\rho = \{(x, y)\}$, for some $x, y \in S$ such that $x \neq y$, we say $\rho^{\#}$ is the principal congruence generated by (x, y).

The set of congruences on *S*, denoted by Con(S), admits \subseteq as a partial order, and is a complete lattice.

Congruences on monoids and related definitions , as well as the analogue of Theorem 2.4.1 for monoids, arise in a natural way.

2.5 Alphabets, words and free semigroups

Let *X* be a non-empty set, referred to as an alphabet, whose elements are referred to as letters or symbols. The free semigroup over the alphabet *X*, denoted by X^+ , is the set of all non-empty words over *X*, under the operation of word concatenation. If we include the empty word, denoted by ε , we obtain the free monoid over the alphabet *X*, denoted by X^* . A subset of X^* is called a language.

The free semigroup over the alphabet *X* has the following property, called the universal property: For any semigroup *S* and map $\phi : X \to S$, there is a unique homomorphism $\phi^+ : X^+ \to S$ extending ϕ , that is, $\phi^+ \circ \iota = \phi$, where $\iota : X \to X^+$ is the inclusion embedding. Equivalently, the following diagram commutes:



The free monoid has an analogous universal property, concerning monoids and monoid homomorphisms.

Notice that any free monogenic semigroups and monoids are, respectively, free semigroups and free monoids over alphabets with a single letter.

Let $u \in X^*$ be such that $u = u_1 \cdots u_k$, where $u_i \in X$. The length of u is the number of symbols which occur in it, namely k, and is denoted by |u|. For any $x \in X$, the number of occurrences of x in u is denoted by $|u|_x$. For any $1 \le i \le j \le k$, the word $u_1 \cdots u_j$ is a prefix of u, the word $u_i \cdots u_k$ is a suffix of u and the word $u_i \cdots u_j$ is a factor of u. For any $i_1, \ldots, i_m \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ such that $i_1 < \cdots < i_m$, the word $u_{i_1} \cdots u_{i_m}$ is a subsequence of u. The empty word can also be considered a prefix, suffix, factor or subsequence of any word.

The content of u, denoted by cont(u), is the infinite tuple of non-negative integers, indexed by X, whose x-th element is $|u|_x$. The support of u, denoted by supp(u), is the subset of symbols $x \in X$ such that $|u|_x \ge 1$. Notice that if two words share the same content, then they also share the same support.

2.6 Presentations

A semigroup presentation is a pair $\langle X | \Re \rangle$, where X is an alphabet and \Re is a binary relation on X^+ . The symbols of the alphabet X are called generators, while the elements of \Re , which are pairs of words, are called defining relations. The presentation $\langle X | \Re \rangle$ defines the semigroup $A^+/\Re^{\#}$, up to isomorphism, and a semigroup S isomorphic to $A^+/\Re^{\#}$ is presented by $\langle X | \Re \rangle$.

Let *S* be a semigroup presented by $\langle X | \Re \rangle$. Since *S* is isomorphic to $A^+/\Re^{\#}$, there is a bijective correspondence between elements of *S* and $\Re^{\#}$ -classes. Then, we say a word $w \in X^*$ represents or is a representative of an element of *S* if its $\Re^{\#}$ -class corresponds to that element of *S*. We denote the $\Re^{\#}$ -class of *w* by $[w]_S$, to simplify the notation.

A presentation $\langle X | \mathcal{R} \rangle$ is finite if both X and \mathcal{R} are finite. A semigroup is finitely presented if it admits a finite presentation. Finite presentability is independent of the generating set. A semigroup can be finitely generated but not finitely presented.

A presentation $\langle X | \mathcal{R} \rangle$ is homogeneous (respectively, multihomogeneous) if for every $(u, v) \in \mathcal{R}$, we have |u| = |v| (respectively, $\operatorname{cont}(u) = \operatorname{cont}(v)$). In other words, in a homogeneous presentation, the defining relations preserve length, and, in a multihomogeneous presentation, they preserve content. Notice that any multihomogeneous presentation is

also homogeneous. A semigroup is homogeneous (respectively, multihomogeneous) if it is presented by a homogeneous (respectively, multihomogeneous) presentation. We define the length of an element of a homogeneous semigroup as the length of its representatives, and we define the content and support of an element of a multihomogeneous semigroup as the content and support of its representatives.

Monoid presentations are defined in a similar fashion. The defining relations are pairs of words over X^* , and the monoid presentation $\langle X | \mathcal{R} \rangle$ presents the monoid $A^*/\mathcal{R}^{\#}$, up to (monoid) isomorphism. The well-known bicyclic monoid is defined by the presentation $\langle a, b | (ab, \varepsilon) \rangle$. Every element of the bicyclic monoid is uniquely represented by a word of the form $b^i a^j$, for some $i, j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Universal algebra and computational complexity

This chapter gives the necessary background on universal algebra and computational complexity. For a more in-depth look at universal algebra, see [Ber12; BS81; Mal73; MMT18]; and for computation and complexity theory, see [Pap94; Sip13].

3.1 Varieties and identities

This section mostly follows Chapter 8 of [Cai16] and Chapter 2 of [BS81].

An algebra **A** is a non-empty set *A*, called the universe of **A**, equipped with a family of finitary functions $\{f_i : i \in I\}$. A function on a set *A* is a map $f_i : A^{\theta(f_i)} \mapsto A$, where θ is a map from the set of functions to $\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. For each function f_i , the number $\theta(f_i)$ is called the arity of f_i . A function of arity 0 is a constant, a function of arity 1 is a unary function, and a function of arity 2 is a binary function. For example, in semigroups, the multiplication operation is a binary function, while in monoids, the identity element can be viewed as a constant.

A type T of an algebra is a set of function symbols $\{\{i : i \in I\}, \text{ such that the arity of each function symbol is determined by a map <math>\vartheta : \{\{i : i \in I\} \rightarrow \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}\}$. We say an algebra **A** is of type T if there is a bijective correspondence between the functions of **A** and the function symbols of T. Types are usually written as a list of pairs in the map ϑ , viewed as a set. For example, semigroups have type $\{(\bullet, 2)\}$, while monoids have type $\{(\bullet, 2), (1_M, 0)\}$. Notice that monoids can also be viewed as semigroups, hence they can be of type $\{(\bullet, 2)\}$ as well. While functions and function symbols are formally distinct, we use the same symbol to refer to operations with the same arity in different structures, for example, the different multiplications in different semigroups.

For the remainder of this section, let us fix a type $\mathcal{T} = \{(\{i, \vartheta(\{i\})\} : i \in I\}\}$. Let **A** be an algebra of type \mathcal{T} . An algebra **B** of type \mathcal{T} is a subalgebra of **A** if its universe *B* is a non-empty subset of the universe *A* of **A**, and its functions are the restriction of the functions

of **A** to the universe *B*: for each $i \in I$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)} \in A$, we have

$$a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)} \in B \implies f_i(a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)}) \in B$$

In particular, any constant of **A** must be in **B**. Let $X \subseteq A$. The subalgebra generated by X is the subalgebra of **A** whose universe is the intersection of all universes B of subalgebras **B** of **A** such that $X \subseteq B$.

Let **A** and **B** be algebras of type \mathcal{T} . Then a map $\phi : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ is a homomorphism if, for each $i \in I$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)} \in A$, we have

$$\phi\Big(f_i\Big(a_1,\ldots,a_{\theta(f_i)}\Big)\Big)=f_i\Big(\phi(a_1),\ldots,\phi\big(a_{\theta(f_i)}\big)\Big).$$

Notice that, on the left side of the equality, f_i is a function of **A**, while on the right side, it is a function of **B**. An injective homomorphism is an embedding, and a bijective homomorphism is an isomorphism. If $\phi : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ is a surjective homomorphism, we say **B** is a homomorphic image of **A**; if ϕ is an isomorphism, we say **B** and **A** are isomorphic.

Let **A** be an algebra of type \mathcal{T} . An equivalence relation ρ on A is a congruence on **A** if it satisfies the compatibility property, that is, for each $i \in I$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)}, b_1, \ldots, b_{\theta(f_i)} \in A$, we have

$$\left((a_1 \ \rho \ b_1) \land \dots \land \left(a_{\theta(f_i)} \ \rho \ b_{\theta(f_i)}\right)\right) \Longrightarrow \left(f_i\left(a_1, \dots, a_{\theta(f_i)}\right) \ \rho \ f_i\left(b_1, \dots, b_{\theta(f_i)}\right)\right)$$

The compatibility property allows us to introduce an algebraic structure on the quotient set A/ρ , inherited from the algebra **A**. The quotient algebra of **A** by ρ , denoted by \mathbf{A}/ρ , is the algebra of type \mathcal{T} whose universe is A/ρ and, for each $i \in I$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)} \in A$, we have

$$f_i\left([a_1]_{\rho},\ldots,[a_{\theta(f_i)}]_{\rho}\right)=\left[f_i(a_1,\ldots,a_{\theta(f_i)})\right]_{\rho}.$$

The set of congruences on **A**, denoted by **Con**(**A**), admits \subseteq as a partial order, and is a complete lattice. The natural homomorphism or natural map $\rho^{\natural} : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{A}/\rho$, defined by $\rho^{\natural}(x) = [x]_{\rho}$, is a surjective homomorphism.

For any binary relation ρ on **A**, the smallest congruence on **A** which contains ρ is called the congruence generated by ρ , and is denoted by $\rho^{\#}$. If $\rho = \{(x, y)\}$, for some $x, y \in A$ such that $x \neq y$, we say $\rho^{\#}$ is the principal congruence generated by (x, y).

Let $(\mathbf{A}_j)_{j \in J}$ be a family of algebras of type \mathcal{T} . The direct product of the algebras in $(\mathbf{A}_j)_{j \in J}$ is the algebra $\prod_{j \in J} \mathbf{A}_j$ of type \mathcal{T} , whose universe is the Cartesian product $\prod_{j \in J} A_j$, with the functions performed componentwise: for each $k \in J$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{\theta(f_i)} \in \prod_{j \in J} \mathbf{A}_j$, we have

$$\pi_k\left(f_i(a_1,\ldots,a_{\theta(f_i)})\right) = f_i\left(\pi_k(a_1),\ldots,\pi_k(a_{\theta(f_i)})\right).$$

Once again, notice that f_i is a function of $\prod_{j \in J} \mathbf{A}_j$ on the left side of the equality, while on the right side, it is a function of \mathbf{A}_k . The projection maps induce surjective homomorphisms $\pi_k : \prod_{j \in J} \mathbf{A}_j \to \mathbf{A}_k$.

Let *X* be a non-empty set. Consider the smallest set $F_T X$ of words over the alphabet $X \cup \{f_i : i \in I\} \cup \{(\} \cup \{\}) \cup \{,\}$ such that
- $X \cup \{f_i : i \in I, \theta(f_i) = 0\} \subseteq F_{\mathfrak{T}}X;$
- $w_1, \ldots, w_{\theta(f_i)} \in F_{\mathfrak{T}} X \implies f_i(w_1, \ldots, w_{\theta(f_i)}) \in F_{\mathfrak{T}} X, \forall i \in I.$

This set is the universe of an algebra $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{T}}X$ of type \mathcal{T} , called the absolutely free or term algebra of type \mathcal{T} . Its elements are usually called terms over *X*.

The absolutely free algebra of type \mathcal{T} has the universal property: For any algebra \mathbf{A} of type \mathcal{T} and map $\phi : X \to \mathbf{A}$, there is a unique homomorphism $\hat{\phi} : \mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{T}} X \to \mathbf{A}$ extending ϕ , that is, $\hat{\phi} \circ \iota = \phi$, where $\iota : X \to \mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{T}} X$ is the inclusion embedding. Equivalently, the following diagram commutes:



For any term $w \in F_T X$, a subterm of w is defined in the following way: w is itself a subterm of w, and if $f_i(w_1, \dots, w_{\theta(f_i)})$ is a subterm of w, then each w_j is a subterm of w. The content and support of a term w are defined in the same way as the content and support of a word given in Section 2.6, but here we only consider the symbols of X which occur in w, and disregard any symbol from $\{f_i : i \in I\} \cup \{(\} \cup \{ \}) \} \cup \{, \}$.

A non-empty class \mathcal{V} of algebras of type \mathcal{T} is a variety of algebras of type \mathcal{T} if it is closed under the taking of homomorphic images, subalgebras and direct products. Let \mathcal{K} be a non-empty class of algebras of type \mathcal{T} . The intersection of all varieties of algebras of type \mathcal{T} which contain \mathcal{K} is itself a variety, called the variety generated by \mathcal{K} , denoted by $\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})$. This variety is the closure of \mathcal{K} under taking subalgebras, homomorphic images and direct products.

Let \mathcal{V} be a variety of algebras of type \mathcal{T} and let X be a non-empty set. Let $\mathbf{A} \in \mathcal{V}$ and let $\phi : X \to \mathbf{A}$. Recall that there is a unique extension of ϕ to a homomorphism $\hat{\phi} : \mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{T}} X \to \mathbf{A}$. Since $\operatorname{im} \hat{\phi}$ (with the corresponding functions) is a subalgebra of \mathbf{A} , then $\operatorname{im} \hat{\phi} \in \mathcal{V}$. Let

$$\rho = \bigcap \{ \ker \hat{\phi} : \phi \in \mathbf{A}^X, \mathbf{A} \in \mathcal{V} \}.$$

Then ρ is a congruence contained in ker $\hat{\phi}$, for any $\phi \in \mathbf{A}^X$. For each $\mathbf{A} \in \mathcal{V}$ and $\phi \in \mathbf{A}^X$, there exists a unique homomorphism $\bar{\phi} : (\mathbf{F}_T X)/\rho \to \mathbf{A}$ such that $\bar{\phi} \circ \rho^{\natural} = \hat{\phi}$. Hence, $\bar{\phi}$ is the unique homomorphism such that $\phi = \hat{\phi} \circ \iota = \bar{\phi} \circ \rho^{\natural} \circ \iota$, and the following diagram commutes:



The algebra $(\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{T}}X)/\rho$ is a subdirect product of the family $\{(\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{T}}X)/\ker \hat{\phi} : \phi \in \mathbf{A}^X, \mathbf{A} \in \mathcal{V}\}$ of algebras of type \mathcal{T} , hence it is a member of \mathcal{V} (see Section 3.2 for the definition of subdirect product). It is called the **V**-free algebra over *X*, denoted by $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}X$, and it satisfies the universal property as well. The definition of a \mathcal{V} -free algebra coincides with that of an absolutely free algebra when \mathcal{V} is the variety of all algebras of type \mathcal{T} .

Let S be the variety of all semigroups. Then the definitions of absolutely free algebra and V-free algebra coincide with that of a free semigroup.

An identity, over an alphabet of variables *X*, is a formal equality $u \approx v$, where *u* and *v* are terms in $F_T X$, and is non-trivial if $u \neq v$. We say a variable *x* occurs in $u \approx v$ if $x \in \text{supp}(u)$ or $x \in \text{supp}(v)$. The rank of an identity is the number of distinct variables which occur in it. The size of an identity is the sum of the lengths of both sides of the identity. We say that the identity $u \approx v$ holds in an algebra **A** (or that **A** satisfies the identity $u \approx v$) if for every homomorphism $\psi : \mathbf{F}_T X \to \mathbf{A}$ (also referred to as an evaluation), the equality $\psi(u) = \psi(v)$ holds in **A**. In other words, **A** satisfies the identity $u \approx v$ if equality in **A** holds under every substitution of the variables of *u* and *v* by elements of **A**. We say that **A** satisfies the identity $u \approx v$ up to equivalence if **A** satisfies all identities obtained by renaming variables or swapping both sides of the identity $u \approx v$.

An identity $u \approx v$ is balanced if cont(u) = cont(v). We define the length, content and support of a balanced identity as the length, content and support of both sides of the identity, respectively. Any identity satisfied by a monoid that contains a free monogenic submonoid, such as the plactic and related monoids (see Chapter 4), must be balanced.

An identity $u \approx v$ is obtained by

- symmetry from an identity $p \approx q$ if u = q and v = p;
- transitivity from identities $p \approx q$ and $p' \approx q'$ if q = p', u = p and v = q';
- replacement from an identity *p* ≈ *q* if *p* is a subterm of *u* and *v* is obtained by replacing the occurrence of *p* in *u* by *q*;
- substitution from an identity *p* ≈ *q* if *u* and *v* are obtained from *p* and *q*, respectively, by replacing each occurrence of a variable by some term in *F*_T*X*.

Let Σ be a non-empty set of identities, over an alphabet X. An identity $u \approx v$ is said to be a consequence of Σ if there exists a sequence of identities $u_1 \approx v_1, \ldots, u_k \approx v_k$, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, such that the last identity in the sequence is $u \approx v$, each $u_j \approx v_j$ belongs to Σ , or is a trivial identity, or is obtained from the previous identities in the sequence by reflexivity, transitivity, replacement or substitution. This sequence is called a formal deduction.

In the case of monoids, this is equivalent to having $k \in \mathbb{N}$, words $w_1, \ldots, w_k \in X^*$, and substitutions $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{k-1}$ of variables by elements of X^* (that is, endomorphisms of X^*), such that $u = w_1$, $v = w_k$ and, for $1 \le i < k$,

$$w_i = r_i \sigma_i(p_i) s_i,$$

$$w_{i+1} = r_i \sigma_i(q_i) s_i,$$

for some $p_i, q_i, r_i, s_i \in X^*$ such that $p_i \approx q_i$ or $q_i \approx p_i$ is in Σ .

A class \mathcal{K} of algebras of type \mathcal{T} is an equational class if there exists a set of identities Σ such that \mathcal{K} is the class of all algebras of type \mathcal{T} that satisfy all identities in Σ . Dually, a set of identities Σ is an equational theory if there exists a class \mathcal{K} of algebras of type \mathcal{T} such that Σ is the set of identities satisfied by all algebras in \mathcal{K} . When this holds, Σ is called the equational class of \mathcal{K} . Equational theories are closed under taking consequences.

The notions of equational class and variety coincide, as seen in the following theorem, known as Birkhoff's \mathbb{HSP} Theorem:

Theorem 3.1.1 ([Bir35]). \mathcal{K} is an equational class if and only if \mathcal{K} is a variety.

An important corollary of this theorem is that, for any algebra \mathbf{A} , the identities satisfied by \mathbf{A} must also be satisfied by all other algebras in $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{A})$.

A set of identities \mathcal{B} is an equational basis (or simply basis) of a variety \mathcal{V} if the equational theory of \mathcal{V} consists of all consequences of \mathcal{B} . A variety \mathcal{V} is finitely based if it admits a finite basis. The axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V} is the least natural number $r_a(\mathcal{V})$ such that \mathcal{V} admits a basis \mathcal{B} , where the rank of each identity in \mathcal{B} does not exceed $r_a(\mathcal{V})$. If no such natural number exists, we say that \mathcal{V} has infinite axiomatic rank. Notice that if \mathcal{V} is finitely based, then it has finite axiomatic rank.

A variety \mathcal{V} is always generated by its \mathcal{V} -free algebra $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}X$ over an infinite alphabet. However, \mathcal{V} may also be generated by a \mathcal{V} -free algebra $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}X_n$ over a finite alphabet X_n with n symbols, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In such a case, the least natural number $r_b(\mathcal{V})$ such that \mathcal{V} is generated by $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(X_{r_b(\mathcal{V})})$ is called the basis rank of \mathcal{V} . If \mathcal{V} is generated by an algebra with a finite number of generators, the minimal such number coincides with the basis rank of \mathcal{V} .

In the context of semigroups and monoids, an equational theory Σ is left 1-hereditary if, for every identity $u \approx v$ of Σ and any variable $x \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, the identity $u' \approx v'$ is in Σ , where u' (respectively, v') is the longest prefix of u (respectively, v) where x does not occur (see [Mas96; Vol01]). We define right 1-hereditary equational theories in a dual way. The equational theory of the variety generated by the bicyclic monoid, which coincides with that of the variety generated by the plactic monoid of rank 2 (see [JK21]), is both left and right 1-hereditary (see [Pas06; Shn89]).

3.2 Subdirectly irreducible and residually finite algebras

The definition of a subdirectly irreducible algebra is taken from [BS81, Chapter II, Section 8], while that of a residually finite algebra is taken from [Mal73, Chapter I, Section 2, Subsection 2.5] and [MMT18, Chapter 4, Section 4.5].

An algebra **A** is a subdirect product of an indexed family $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i \in I}$ of algebras if **A** is a subalgebra of $\prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_i$ such that $\pi_i(\mathbf{A}) = \mathbf{A}_i$, for all $i \in I$. An embedding $\phi : \mathbf{A} \longrightarrow \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_i$ is subdirect if $\phi(\mathbf{A})$ is a subdirect product of $(\mathbf{A}_i)_{i \in I}$.

An algebra A is subdirectly irreducible if for every subdirect embedding

$$\phi: \mathbf{A} \longrightarrow \prod_{i \in I} \mathbf{A}_i$$

there exists $i \in I$ such that $\pi_i \circ \phi : \mathbf{A} \longrightarrow \mathbf{A}_i$ is an isomorphism.

Another characterization of subdirectly irreducible algebras is more useful in practice:

Theorem 3.2.1 ([BS81, Theorem 8.4]). An algebra **A** is subdirectly irreducible if and only if it is trivial or if there exists a minimum congruence in $Con(A) \setminus \{\Delta_A\}$, the congruence lattice of **A**, excluding the identity relation. In the latter case the minimum congruence is a principal congruence.

Subdirectly irreducible algebras are considered the building blocks of a variety of algebras \mathcal{V} , since every algebra of \mathcal{V} is isomorphic to a subdirect product of subdirectly irreducible algebras of \mathcal{V} [Bir44].

An algebra **A** is residually finite (or finitely approximable) if it is embeddable in a direct product of a family of finite algebras. Alternatively, an algebra **A** is residually finite if, for any $x, y \in \mathbf{A}$, there exists a finite algebra **B** and a homomorphism $\phi : \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ such that $\phi(x) \neq \phi(y)$. A residually finite infinite algebra cannot be subdirectly irreducible (see [MMT18, Chapter 4, Section 4.5, Corollary 5]).

Finitely generated homogeneous semigroups are residually finite: Let *S* be a finitely generated homogeneous semigroup and let $l \in \mathbb{N}$. Notice that the set S_l of all elements of *S* with length strictly greater than *l* is an ideal of *S*. Furthermore, $S \setminus S_l$ is finite, since *S* is finitely generated and there are only finitely many words of length less than or equal to *l*. As such, for any two elements $x, y \in S$, we take the maximum *l* of the lengths of *x* and *y* and consider the natural homomorphism of *S* into S_l , which separates *x* and *y*. The same result can be proven for monoids. This is a folklore observation, thus it is difficult to find the formal statement and proof in the literature. As such, we further explore the subject in Section 7.2.

If a semigroup is both residually finite and finitely presented, then the word problem is solvable for such a semigroup [Eva78].

3.3 Computational complexity

In this section, we give a brief overview of basic concepts of algorithms, computational models and complexity theory. We do not go into detail on most of these subjects, and refer to [Pap94; Sip13] for further reading.

Intuitively speaking, an algorithm is just a collection of detailed instructions for solving a problem. Although no definitive formal definition exists, an algorithm is usually taken to be a set of operations which can be simulated by a Turing machine. This is due to the fact that all attempts to formalize the notion of computable functions have resulted in computational models equivalent in computing power to the Turing machine. This assumption is called the Church–Turing thesis, and we will assume it as true for the purposes of Chapter 6.

A Turing machine is a computational model with an infinite tape, divided into countably many cells, and a tape head which can read and write one symbol in each cell, and move around on the tape. It takes as input a string of symbols. In the initial configuration of the machine, the input string is written on the tape, which is blank everywhere else. During its computations, the machine may store information on the tape, by writing over its cells, and it can read the information stored on the cells. The machine will continue its computations until it reaches an accepting or rejecting state. If it does not enter such a state, the machine will continue its computations, and will never halt.

Formally, a (deterministic) Turing machine is a 7-tuple $T = (Q, \Sigma, \Gamma, \delta, q_0, q_{accept}, q_{reject})$, where Q, Σ, Γ are all finite sets and

- 1. *Q* is the set of states,
- 2. Σ is the input alphabet not containing the blank symbol \sqcup ,
- 3. Γ is the tape alphabet, where $\sqcup \in \Gamma$ and $\Sigma \subseteq \Gamma$,
- 4. $\delta: Q \times \Gamma \to Q \times \Gamma \times \{\leftarrow, \rightarrow\}$ is the transition function,
- 5. $q_0 \in Q$ is the initial state,
- 6. $q_{\text{accept}} \in Q$ is the accepting state;
- 7. $q_{\text{reject}} \in Q$ is the rejecting state, where $q_{\text{accept}} \neq q_{\text{reject}}$.

When a Turing machine is in a state q and the head is over a tape cell reading a symbol a, the machine will make its computation according to the image of (q, a) by δ , that is, if $\delta(q, a) = (r, b, D)$, the machine will write the symbol b over the symbol a, go to state r, and move its tape head to the direction D, where D can be either \leftarrow (left) or \rightarrow (right). Notice that the tape head only moves after writing over the cell. We also assume that the tape head does not move to the left of the leftmost cell of the tape which does not hold a blank symbol.

The configuration of a Turing machine is a triple (q, w, u), where q is the current state of the machine, w is the string of symbols in cells to the left of the tape head, including the cell where the tape head currently is, and u is the string of symbols in cells to the right of the tape head. We say a configuration (q, w, u) yields a configuration (q', w', u') if the Turing machine moves from the first configuration to the second in a single computation. In its start configuration, the tape head is at the leftmost cell of the tape, reading the leftmost symbol of the input, which is not a blank symbol.

We say that a Turing machine accepts an input w if there exists a finite sequence of configurations C_1, \ldots, C_k , where C_1 is the start configuration on input w, C_k is an accepting configuration (that is, the state of the configuration is q_{accept}), and each configuration in the sequence yields the consecutive one. The definition of a Turing machine rejecting an input is similarly defined. The collection of strings accepted by a Turing machine T is called the language recognized by T. A language is Turing-recognizable if some Turing machine recognizes it, and is Turing-decidable (or simply decidable) if some Turing machine recognizes it and halts on all inputs.

There exist several variants of the Turing machine, such as multitape or non-deterministic Turing Machines, and many other models of general purpose computations, such as Random Access Machines, which have unrestricted access to unlimited memory. One of the major reasons to assume the Church–Turing thesis is that all of these models of computation are equivalent in computing power, as long as they satisfy "reasonable" requirements, such as the ability to perform only a finite amount of work in a single step. As such, we do not give the description of the Turing machine corresponding to an algorithm in full detail, and only give a high-level description of an algorithm.

Let *T* be a deterministic Turing machine that halts on all inputs. The time complexity of *T* is the function $t : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}^+$, where t(n) is the maximum number of computations that *T* uses on any input of length *n*. Time complexity is always computed as a function of the length of the string representing the input, and using a worst-case analysis.

Let f, g be functions of \mathbb{N} into \mathbb{R}^+ , the set of all positive real numbers. We say that g(n) is an asymptotic upper bound for f(n), and write f(n) = O(g(n)), if there exist positive integers c and n_0 such that, for every integer $n \ge n_0$,

$$f(n) \le c \cdot g(n).$$

Let $t : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be a function. The time complexity class TIME(t(n)) is the collection of all languages that are decidable by a Turing machine with time complexity O(t(n)).

A variant of the Church–Turing thesis exists in the context of complexity theory, which states that all "reasonable" deterministic computational models are polynomially equivalent to a deterministic single-tape Turing machine, in the sense that any of these computational models can simulate another with only a polynomial increase in time complexity. We will also assume it as true for the purposes of Chapter 6.

The class P is the class of languages that are decidable in polynomial time on a deterministic single-tape Turing machine. That is,

$$\mathsf{P} = \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \mathsf{TIME}(n^k).$$

This class plays a central role in complexity theory, since it is invariant for all computation models that are polynomially equivalent to a deterministic single-tape Turing machine.

For a given algebra **A**, its identity checking problem CHECK-ID(**A**) is the following combinatorial decision problem: the instance is an arbitrary identity $u \approx v$; the answer to such an instance is 'YES', if **A** satisfies the identity, and 'NO' otherwise. Notice that the algebra itself is fixed, as such, it is only the identity $u \approx v$ that serves as the input. Therefore, the time complexity of CHECK-ID(**A**) should be measured only in terms of the size of the identity.

Monoids from insertion algorithms

4

This chapter gives the necessary background on the plactic and plactic-like monoids and their related combinatorial objects. Each section is roughly structured in the following way: we introduce the combinatorial object related to the monoid, we show how to construct this object using an insertion algorithm and we define a congruence on words using the objects obtained from each word, from which the monoid arises. Each element of these monoids can be uniquely identified with its corresponding combinatorial object, hence why we call them insertion monoids. We also give presentations for each monoid, and give alternative characterizations of equality of words in the plactic-like monoids, of which the characterizations for the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids are new. Finally, we give an overview of the known results on the identities satisfied by these monoids.

4.1 The plactic monoid

This section gives a brief overview of the plactic monoid and its related combinatorial object and insertion algorithm, as well as results from [DJK18; JK21; JT19] on the identities satisfied by them. For more information, see [Lot02, Chapter 5].

Let $A = \{1 < 2 < 3 < \cdots\}$ denote the set of positive integers, viewed as an infinite ordered alphabet, and let $A_n = \{1 < \cdots < n\}$ denote the set of the first *n* positive integers, viewed as a finite ordered alphabet.

A Young tableau is a (finite) grid of cells, with top-left-aligned rows, filled with symbols from *A*, such that the entries in each row are weakly increasing from left to right, and the entries in each column are strictly increasing from top to bottom. An example of a Young tableau is



The following algorithm allows us to insert a symbol from *A* into an existing Young tableau, in order to obtain a new tableau:

Input: A Young tableau *T* and a symbol $a \in A$.

Output: A Young tableau $T \leftarrow a$.

1 if a is greater than or equal to any entry in the topmost row of T, then

² add *a* as an entry at the rightmost end of *T* and output the resulting tableau;

- 3 else
- let z be the leftmost entry in the top row of T that is strictly greater than a.
 Replace z by a in the topmost row and recursively insert z into the tableau formed by the rows of T below the topmost. (Note that the recursion may end with an insertion into an 'empty row' below the existing rows of T).
- 5 return the resulting tableau.

Let $u \in A^*$. Using the insertion algorithm above, we can compute a unique Young tableau $P_{plac}^{\rightarrow}(u)$ from the word u: we start with the empty tableau and insert the symbols of u, one-by-one from left-to-right – see Example 4.1.1.

Example 4.1.1. Computing $P_{plac}^{\rightarrow}(2531613443)$:



We define the relation \equiv_{plac} on A^* as follows: For $u, v \in A^*$,

$$u \equiv_{\mathsf{plac}} v \iff \mathrm{P}_{\mathsf{plac}}^{\rightarrow}(u) = \mathrm{P}_{\mathsf{plac}}^{\rightarrow}(v).$$

This relation is a congruence on A^* , called the plactic congruence. The factor monoid A^*/\equiv_{plac} is the infinite-rank plactic monoid, denoted by plac. The congruence \equiv_{plac} naturally restricts to a congruence on A_n^* , and the factor monoid A_n^*/\equiv_{plac} is the plactic monoid of rank *n*, denoted by plac_n.

It follows from the definition of \equiv_{plac} that each element $[u]_{plac}$ of plac can be identified with the Young tableau $P_{plac}^{\rightarrow}(u)$.

Recall that the content of *u* describes the number of occurrences of each symbol of *A* in *u*. It is immediate from the definition of the plactic monoid that if $u \equiv_{plac} v$, then *u* and *v* share the same content. Thus, we can define the content of an element of plac as the content of any word which represents it. Furthermore, since two words with the same content also share the same support, we can also define the support of an element of plac as the support of any word which represents it.

Notice that $plac_n$ is (isomorphic to) a submonoid of plac, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and, for $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, if $n \le m$, then $plac_n$ is (isomorphic to) a submonoid of $plac_m$.

The plactic monoid can also be defined by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{plac} \rangle$, where

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{plac}} = \{(acb, cab) : a \le b < c\}$$

$$(4.1)$$

$$\cup \{(bac, bca) : a < b \le c\}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

The defining relations are known as the plactic relations. A presentation for the plactic monoid of rank n, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, can be obtained by restricting generators and relations of the above presentation to generators in A_n . Notice that these relations are content-preserving, hence the plactic monoids are multihomogeneous. As such, the finite-rank plactic monoids are residually finite. Furthermore, since they are also infinite monoids, they are not subdirectly irreducible. The infinite-rank plactic monoid is also residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible (see Section 7.2).

Recall that a non-trivial identity is an identity where the two sides of the formal equality are not the same word. The plactic monoid of rank 1 is monogenic and thus commutative, and so satisfies the non-trivial identity $xy \approx yx$. On the other hand, the plactic monoid of rank 2 satisfies exactly the same identities as the monoid of 2×2 upper triangular tropical matrices [Izh19, Corollary 7.19] and the bicyclic monoid [DJK18, Theorem 4.1], hence, it satisfies Adjan's identity

$$xyyxxyxyyx \approx xyyxyxxyyx$$
,

the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by the bicyclic monoid. Furthermore, the variety generated by $plac_2$ is not finitely based [Shn89]. The plactic monoid of rank 3 satisfies the identity

$$uvvuvu \approx uvuvvu$$
,

where u(x, y) and v(x, y) are respectively the left and right side of Adjan's identity [KO15, Theorem 2.6], however, it does not satisfy Adjan's identity itself [KO15, p. 111–2]. Notice that this identity has sixty variables *x* or *y* on each side.

On a more general note, the identities satisfied by the plactic monoids of finite rank are dependent on the rank. The plactic monoid of finite rank n does not satisfy any non-trivial identity of length less than or equal to n [Cai+17, Proposition 3.1]. As such, the infinite-rank plactic monoid does not satisfy any non-trivial identity [Cai+17, Theorem 3.2]. Johnson and Kambites give a faithful representation of the plactic monoid of every finite rank as a monoid of upper triangular matrices over the tropical semiring [JK21, Theorem 2.8], thus showing that the plactic monoids of finite rank each satisfy non-trivial identities [JK21, Theorem 3.1]. This is due to the fact that upper triangular tropical matrix monoids satisfy non-trivial identities [Izh14; Okn15; Tay17]. On the other hand, every identity satisfied by the plactic monoid of finite rank n is also satisfied by the monoid of $n \times n$ upper triangular tropical matrices [JK21, Theorem 4.4]. Furthermore, the variety generated by plac₃ coincides with the variety generated by the monoid of 3×3 upper triangular tropical matrices [JK21, Corollary 4.5]. These results, together with algorithms, given in [DJK18] and [JT19], that check if identities are satisfied in upper

triangular tropical matrix monoids in polynomial time, imply that the identity checking problem for the plactic monoids of finite rank is in the complexity class P.

4.2 The hypoplactic monoid

This section gives a brief overview of the hypoplactic monoid and its related combinatorial object and insertion algorithm, as well as results from [CM18b]. For more information, see [Nov00] and [CM17].

A quasi-ribbon tableau is a (finite) grid of cells, aligned so that the leftmost cell in each row is below the rightmost cell of the previous row, filled with symbols from *A*, such that the entries in each row are weakly increasing from left to right, and the entries in each column are strictly increasing from top to bottom. An example of a quasi-ribbon tableau is



Observe that the same symbol cannot appear in two different rows of a quasi-ribbon tableau.

The following algorithm allows us to insert a symbol from *A* into an existing quasiribbon tableau, in order to obtain a new quasi-ribbon tableau:

Algorithm 2: Krob–Thibon algorithm.

Input: A quasi-ribbon tableau *T* and a symbol $a \in A$.

Output: A quasi-ribbon tableau $T \leftarrow a$.

1 if there is no entry in T that is less than or equal to a, then

output the tableau obtained by creating a new cell, labelled with *a*, and gluing *T* by its top-leftmost entry to the bottom of this new cell;

3 else

2

4 let *x* be the bottom-rightmost entry of *T* that is less than or equal to *a*.

Separate T in two parts, such that one part is from the top left down to and including x. Create a new cell, labelled with a, to the right of x and glue the remaining part of T (below and to the right of x) onto the bottom of the new entry a.

5 **return** the resulting tableau.

Let $u \in A^*$. Using the insertion algorithm above, we can compute a unique quasiribbon tableau $P^{\rightarrow}_{hypo}(u)$ from the word u: we start with the empty tableau and insert the symbols of u, one-by-one from left-to-right – see Example 4.2.1. **Example 4.2.1.** Computing $P^{\rightarrow}_{hypo}(12654768)$:



We define the relation \equiv_{hypo} on A^* in a way analogous to the definition of the plactic congruence: For $u, v \in A^*$,

$$u \equiv_{\text{hypo}} v \iff P_{\text{hypo}}^{\rightarrow}(u) = P_{\text{hypo}}^{\rightarrow}(v)$$

This relation is a congruence on A^* , called the hypoplactic congruence. The factor monoid A^*/\equiv_{hypo} is the infinite-rank hypoplactic monoid, denoted by hypo. The congruence \equiv_{hypo} naturally restricts to a congruence on A_n^* , and the factor monoid A_n^*/\equiv_{hypo} is the hypoplactic monoid of rank n, denoted by hypo_n.

It follows from the definition of \equiv_{hypo} that each element $[u]_{hypo}$ of hypo can be identified with the quasi-ribbon tableau $P_{hypo}^{\rightarrow}(u)$. As with the case of the plactic monoid, we can define the content of an element of hypo as the content of any word which represents it, and the support of an element of hypo as the support of any word which represents it.

Notice that hypo_n is (isomorphic to) a submonoid of hypo, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and, for $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, if $n \le m$, then hypo_n is (isomorphic to) a submonoid of hypo_m.

Let $u \in A_n^*$. Suppose supp $(u) = \{a_1 < \cdots < a_k\}$, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We say u has an a_{i+1} - a_i **inversion**, for $1 \le i \le k - 1$, if it admits $a_{i+1}a_i$ as a subsequence. In other words, when reading u from left-to-right, there is at least an occurrence of a_{i+1} before the last occurrence of a_i . Notice that we only consider inversions of consecutive elements of the support of u.

Example 4.2.2. The word 31214 has 3-2 and 2-1 inversions, but no 4-3 inversion. On the other hand, 21341 has a 2-1 inversion, but neither a 4-3 nor a 3-2 inversion.

The following characterization of the hypoplactic monoid is a consequence of [Nov00, Subsection 4.2, Theorem 4.18 and Note 4.10]:

Proposition 4.2.3. For $u, v \in A^*$, we have that $u \equiv_{hypo} v$ if and only if u and v share exactly the same content and inversions.

By the previous result, we can say that an element $[u]_{hypo}$ of hypo has an $a_{i+1}-a_i$ inversion if the word u itself, and hence any other word in $[u]_{hypo}$, has an $a_{i+1}-a_i$ inversion. This characterization will be extensively used throughout the rest of this paper.

The hypoplactic monoid can also be defined by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{hypo} \rangle$, where

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{hypo}} = \left\{ (acb, cab) : a \le b < c \right\}$$
(4.3)

$$\cup \left\{ (bac, bca) : a < b \le c \right\} \tag{4.4}$$

$$\cup \left\{ (cadb, acbd) : a \le b < c \le d \right\}$$

$$(4.5)$$

$$\cup \left\{ (bdac, dbca) : a < b \le c < d \right\}.$$

$$(4.6)$$

The first two relations are the plactic relations, while the last two are known as the hypoplactic relations. A presentation for the hypoplactic monoid of rank n, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, can be obtained by restricting generators and relations of the above presentation to generators in A_n . Notice that the hypoplactic monoids are multihomogeneous, hence the finite-rank hypoplactic monoids are residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible. The infinite-rank hypoplactic monoid is also residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible (see Section 7.2).

The following non-trivial identities are satisfied by hypo:

$$xyxy \approx xyyx \approx yxxy \approx yxyx;$$

 $xxyx \approx xyxx.$

Furthermore, up to equivalence (that is, up to renaming variables or swapping both sides of the identities), these are the shortest non-trivial identities satisfied by hypo [CM18b, Proposition 12]. Notice that these identities are satisfied by hypoplactic monoids of all ranks, in contrast to the plactic monoid case.

4.3 The sylvester and #-sylvester monoids

This section gives a brief overview of the sylvester and #-sylvester monoids and their related combinatorial objects and insertion algorithms, as well as results from [CM18b]. We introduce new characterizations of equality of words in these monoids, analogous to the one given in [Nov00] for the hypoplactic monoid, as well as some new notation. For more information on the sylvester monoid, see [HNT05] and [CM18a]; on binary search trees, see [Knu70] and [AU92]; on graph theory, see [Die17].

A graph is a pair G = (V, E) of sets, where $E \subseteq V \times V$. The elements of V are called vertices and the elements of E are called edges. An edge $\{x, y\}$ is usually written as xy. Two vertices $x, y \in V$ are adjacent if xy is an edge of G. We say G' = (V', E') is a subgraph of G if $V' \subseteq V$ and $E' \subseteq E$. If G' is a subgraph of G which contains all edges $xy \in E$ with $x, y \in V'$, then G' is called an induced subgraph of G.

A (simple) path is a non-empty graph P = (V, E), where $V = \{x_1, x_2, ..., x_k\}$ with all vertices v_i distinct from each other and $E = \{x_1x_2, x_2x_3, ..., x_{k-1}x_k\}$. The length of the path is the number of its edges. A cycle is a graph $C = (V, E \cup \{x_kx_1\})$, where P = (V, E) is a path. Paths and cycles are usually denoted by their sequence of vertices, for example,

 $P = x_1 x_2 \dots x_k$. We say a path or a cycle is in a graph *G* if it is a subgraph of *G*. A graph is connected if it is non-empty and any two vertices are contained in a path in *G*.

A connected graph which does not contain any cycles is called a tree, and its vertices are usually called nodes. Any two nodes of a tree are linked by a unique path in the tree. A rooted tree *T* is a tree with a fixed node *r*, called the root. The length of the unique path from the root to a node *x* is called the depth of the node *x*. Let $P = x_1x_2...x_k$ be the path starting at the root $r = x_1$ of the tree and ending in x_k . Then, x_i is a child of x_{i-1} , for $1 < i \le k$, and a parent of x_{i+1} , for $1 \le i < k$. Furthermore, x_i is a descendant of all nodes x_j , for all $1 \le j < i$, and an ancestor of all nodes x_l , for all $i < l \le k$. The lowest common ancestor of two nodes *x* and *y* is the node which is a common ancestor of *x* and *y* but whose child nodes are not. The nodes of a tree with no child nodes are called leaves. A subtree is a subgraph of a rooted tree induced by a node *x* and all its descendants. Notice that a subtree is a rooted tree itself, with *x* as its root.

A rooted binary tree is a rooted tree where each node has at most two child nodes, ordered from left to right. A subtree of a rooted binary search tree is a left subtree (respectively, right subtree) of a node x if its root is a left child (respectively, right child) of x. The nodes of a left (respectively, right) subtree of a node x are left descendants (respectively, right descendants) of x.

A labelled tree is a tree where each node has a label or value associated with it. Throughout the rest of the thesis, we will assume that the labels are symbols from the infinite ordered alphabet $A = \{1 < 2 < 3 < \cdots\}$. For brevity, we will write 'the node *a*' instead of 'the node labelled with *a*'.

A right strict binary search tree is a labelled rooted binary tree where the label of each node is greater than or equal to the label of every node in its left subtree, and strictly less than the label of every node in its right subtree. A left strict binary search tree is a labelled rooted binary tree where the label of each node is strictly greater than the label of every node in its left subtree, and less than or equal to the label of every node in its right subtree. The following are examples of, respectively, right and left strict binary search trees:

The (left-to-right) postfix or postorder traversal of a labelled rooted binary tree T is the sequence of nodes obtained by recursively performing the postorder traversal of the left subtree of the root of T, then recursively performing the postorder traversal of the right subtree of the root of T, and then adding the root of T to the sequence. The (leftto-right) postfix reading of a labelled rooted binary tree T is the word Post(T) obtained by listing the labels of the nodes in the order visited during the postorder traversal. For example, the postfix reading of the tree given in (4.7) is 1142557654.

The (left-to-right) prefix or preorder traversal of a labelled rooted binary tree T is the sequence of nodes obtained by first adding the root of T to the sequence, then recursively performing the preorder traversal of the left subtree of the root of T, and then recursively performing the preorder traversal of the right subtree of the root of T. The (left-to-right) prefix reading of a labelled rooted binary tree T is the word Pre(T) obtained by listing the labels of the nodes visited during the preorder traversal. For example, the prefix reading of the tree given in (4.8) is 5411245765.

The infix or inorder traversal of a labelled rooted binary tree T is the sequence of nodes obtained by recursively performing the inorder traversal of the left subtree of the root of T, then adding the root of T to the sequence, and then recursively performing the inorder traversal of the right subtree of the root of T. The following result is immediate from the definitions of right and left strict binary search trees:

Proposition 4.3.1 ([CM19, Proposition 6.5]). For any right or left strict binary search tree T, if a node a is encountered before a node b in an inorder traversal, then $a \le b$.

In other words, the inorder traversal visits nodes in weakly increasing order, in right or left strict binary search trees.

Let T be a labelled rooted binary tree. Consider two nodes a and b of T, as well as their lowest common ancestor c. If the node a is in the left subtree of the node c or coincides with it, and the node b is in the right subtree of the node c or coincides with it, and the node b do not both coincide with the node c, then we say that the node a is to the left of the node b, and the node b is to the right of the node a. It is immediate to see that a node a is to the left of a node b if and only if the inorder traversal visits the node a before the node b, hence a is less than or equal to b. Furthermore, if we consider a subset of nodes of T, the definition of leftmost and rightmost nodes follows naturally.

Let *T* be a right or left strict binary search tree, and let $a \in A$ be a symbol which labels a node of *T*. We say that a node *a* is topmost if all other nodes *a* are its descendants.

Lemma 4.3.2 ([CM19, Lemma 6.6]). *If a node a occurs on a path descending from the root to a leaf, in a right or left strict binary search tree, then all other nodes a occur in that path as well. Thus, there is a unique topmost node a.*

The following is a generalization of the results obtained in [CM19, Subsection 6.4]:

Lemma 4.3.3. Let T be a right (respectively, left) strict binary search tree, and let $a \in A$ be such that more than one node in T is labelled by a. Choosing a node a, one of the following holds:

• the node a is topmost;

- *the node a is not a topmost node, and is the left (respectively, right) child of another node a;*
- the node a is not a topmost node, and the right (respectively, left) child of a topmost node b, and a is the least symbol greater than (respectively, greatest symbol less than) the label of every topmost node in the subtree rooted at the node b.

The following algorithm allows us to insert a symbol from *A* into an existing right strict binary search tree, as a leaf node in the unique place that maintains the property of being a right strict binary search tree:

| Algorithm 3: Right strict leaf insertion. |
|--|
| |
| Input: A right strict binary search tree T and a symbol $a \in A$. |
| Output: A right strict binary search tree $T \leftarrow a$. |
| 1 if T is empty, then |
| 2 create a node and label it <i>a</i> ; |
| 3 else |
| examine the label <i>x</i> of the root node; if <i>a</i> > <i>x</i>, recursively insert <i>a</i> into the right subtree of the root node; otherwise recursively insert <i>a</i> into the left subtree of the root node; |
| 5 return the resulting tree. |

Let $u \in A^*$. Using the insertion algorithm above, we can compute a unique right strict binary search tree $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ from the word u: we start with the empty tree and insert the symbols of u, one-by-one from right-to-left – see Example 4.3.4.

Example 4.3.4. Computing $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(1142557654)$:



Notice that, for any right strict binary search tree *T*, we have that $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}((Post(T))) = T$, that is, the right strict insertion algorithm, with the postfix reading of *T* as input, gives

back *T*. As such, any right strict binary search tree can be obtained as an output of the right strict insertion algorithm.

We define the relation \equiv_{sylv} on A^* in a way analogous to the definition of the plactic and hypoplactic congruences: for $u, v \in A^*$,

$$u \equiv_{sylv} v \iff P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u) = P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v).$$

This relation is a congruence on A^* , called the sylvester congruence. The factor monoid A^*/\equiv_{sylv} is the infinite-rank sylvester monoid, denoted by sylv. The congruence \equiv_{sylv} naturally restricts to a congruence on A_n^* , and the factor monoid A_n^*/\equiv_{sylv} is the sylvester monoid of rank *n*, denoted by sylv_n.

It follows from the definition of \equiv_{sylv} that each element $[u]_{sylv}$ of sylv can be identified with the right strict binary search tree $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. As such, for each right strict binary search tree *T*, the set of words $u \in A^*$ such that $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u) = T$ is called the sylvester class of *T*, and the postfix reading of *T* is called the canonical word of the sylvester class of *T*. As with the previous monoids, we can define the content of an element of sylv as the content of any word which represents it, and the support of an element of sylv as the support of any word which represents it. We define the content and support of a right strict binary search tree as the content and support of its corresponding sylvester class.

Notice that $sylv_n$ is (isomorphic to) a submonoid of sylv, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and, for $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, if $n \le m$, then $sylv_n$ is (isomorphic to) a submonoid of $sylv_m$.

The sylvester monoid can also be defined by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{sylv} \rangle$, where

$$\mathcal{R}_{sylv} = \{(caub, acub) : a \le b < c, u \in A^*\}.$$

$$(4.9)$$

These defining relations are known as the sylvester relations. A presentation for the sylvester monoid of rank n, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, can be obtained by restricting generators and relations of the above presentation to generators in A_n . Notice that the sylvester monoids are multihomogeneous, hence the finite-rank sylvester monoids are residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible. The infinite-rank sylvester monoid is also residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible (see Section 7.2).

The sylvester monoid satisfies the non-trivial identity $xyxy \approx yxxy$. Furthermore, up to equivalence, this is the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by sylv [CM18b, Proposition 20].

We now give a new alternative characterization of the sylvester monoid, inspired by the characterization of the hypoplactic monoid using inversions (see [Nov00]). Let $u \in A^*$ and let $a, b \in \text{supp}(u)$ be such that a < b. We say u has a b-a right precedence if, when reading u from right to left, b occurs before the first occurrence of a and, for any $c \in \text{supp}(u)$ such that a < c < b, c does not occur before the first occurrence of a. The number of occurrences of b before the first occurrence of a is the index of the right precedence. Notice that, by the definition of a right precedence, for any given $a \in \text{supp}(u)$, there is at most one $b \in \text{supp}(u)$ such that u has a b-a right precedence (of index k, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$). On the other hand, u can have several right precedences of the form b-x, for a fixed b.

Example 4.3.5. The word 3123 has a 2-1 and a 3-2 right precedence, both of index 1, however, it does not have a 3-1 right precedence, since 2 occurs before the first occurrence of 1; the word 2313 has a 3-1 right precedence of index 1 and a 3-2 right precedence of index 2; and the word 3132 has a 2-1 right precedence of index 1, and does not have a 3-1 right precedence.

In order to prove that the sylvester monoid can be characterized using only the content and right precedences of words, we require some lemmata:

Lemma 4.3.6. Let $u \in A^*$, and let $a, b \in \text{supp}(u)$ be such that a < b and b occurs at least k times in u, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, u has a b-a right precedence of index k if and only if the topmost node a in $P_{\text{sylv}}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ has exactly k ancestor nodes labelled with b, and no ancestor nodes labelled with c, for any $c \in \text{supp}(P_{\text{sylv}}^{\leftarrow}(u))$ such that a < c < b.

Proof. Suppose that *u* has a *b*-*a* right precedence of index *k*. It is clear that, as a consequence of the insertion algorithm 3, the topmost node *a* in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$) corresponds to the rightmost occurrence of *a* in *u*. Thus, there are exactly *k* symbols *b* inserted before *a*, when computing $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. Notice that, by Lemma 4.3.2, the corresponding nodes must be in a single path from the root to any leaf of $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. Furthermore, since no symbol *c* occurs before the rightmost symbol *a*, when reading *u* from right-to-left, for any *a* < *c* < *b*, we have that the rightmost symbol *a* must be inserted as a left child of a node *b*, in particular, the node corresponding to the *k*-th inserted symbol *b*. This is due to the fact that, during the "searching" step of the insertion algorithm, the symbol *a* will satisfy exactly the same criteria as the last inserted symbol *b*, except when checking the *k*-th node *b*. Thus, the topmost node *a* in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ must have exactly *k* ancestor nodes labelled with *b*, and no ancestor nodes labelled with *c*.

Suppose now that the topmost node a in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ has exactly k ancestor nodes labelled with b, and no ancestor nodes labelled with c, for any $c \in supp(P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u))$ such that a < c < b. It is clear, by the previous paragraph, that u cannot have a b-a right precedence of index different than k. Assume, in order to obtain a contradiction, that u does not have a b-a right precedence. Then, either no b occurs before the first occurrence of a, or there exists some $c \in supp(P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u))$ such that a < c < b and which occurs before the first occurrence of a.

In the first case, the symbol *a* is inserted before any symbol *b*, when computing $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. Hence, the topmost node *a* in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ cannot have any ancestor nodes labelled with *b*. In the second case, the symbol *c* is inserted before any symbol *a*, when computing $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. Assume, without loss of generality, that *c* is minimal. Therefore, by the same reasoning given before, the topmost node *a* in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ must be a left descendant of the topmost node *c*. In both cases, we reach a contradiction, hence, *u* must have a *b*-*a* right precedence of index *k*. \Box

It is clear, from the previous lemma, that all words in the same sylvester class must share exactly the same right precedences. However, it is not immediate that two words which share the same content and right precedences will produce exactly the same output, when considered as inputs for the insertion algorithm 3.

Lemma 4.3.7. Let T be a right strict binary search tree, and let $a \in \text{supp}(T)$. The topmost node a is a left descendant of some node if and only if there exists $b \in \text{supp}(T)$ such that a < b and all words in the sylvester class of T have a b-a right precedence of index k, where k is the number of ancestor nodes of the topmost node a labelled with b.

Proof. If the words in the sylvester class of *T* have a *b*-*a* right precedence, then the topmost node *a* must be a descendant of a node *b*, by Lemma 4.3.6. Since a < b, it must be a left descendant. On the other hand, if the topmost node *a* is a left descendant of some node, then the label of that node must be strictly greater than *a*. Let *b* be the lowest possible label of the nodes of which the topmost node *a* is a left descendant. The result follows from Lemma 4.3.6.

The following is a generalization of [CM18b, Lemma 19], given without proof, since the original proof requires only a slight alteration in its last paragraph in order to hold for this generalization:

Lemma 4.3.8. Let $u, v, w \in A^*$ be such that cont(u) = cont(v) and $supp(uv) \subseteq supp(w)$. Then, $uw \equiv_{sylv} vw$.

Now, we are ready to prove our main result:

Proposition 4.3.9. For $u, v \in A^*$, we have that $u \equiv_{sylv} v$ if and only if u and v share exactly the same content and right precedences.

Proof. We already know that if two words u and v are in the same sylvester class, then they share the same content and right precedences, by Lemma 4.3.6. Suppose now that u and v share the same content and right precedences.

If the roots of $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$ are labelled differently, the words in the sylvester class of the tree whose root label is greater have a right precedence involving the root label of the other tree, while the words in the sylvester class of the tree whose root label is lesser do not. This contradicts our hypothesis, hence, we will assume that the two trees $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$ have the same root. Let $T_{u,v}$ be the maximum induced tree of $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$, that is, $T_{u,v}$ is an induced subgraph of both $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$ that is a tree and has as many vertices as possible. Notice that $T_{u,v}$ is a right strict binary search tree and, by our previous assumption, has at least one node, which corresponds to the shared root of $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$. This will also be the root node of $T_{u,v}$.

Let $t \in A^*$ be such that $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(t) = T_{u,v}$. Then, there exist u', v' such that $u't \equiv_{sylv} u$ and $v't \equiv_{sylv} v$. By the observation made after Lemma 4.3.6 and our hypothesis, we have that u't, u, v't and v all have the same content and right precedences. Furthermore, u' and v' have the same content.

If $\operatorname{supp}(u') = \operatorname{supp}(v') \subseteq \operatorname{supp}(t)$, then, by Lemma 4.3.8, we have that $u \equiv_{\operatorname{sylv}} v$. Assume, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there is some symbol $a \in \operatorname{supp}(u)$ which does not occur in t. Then, the topmost node a in either $P_{\operatorname{sylv}}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ or $P_{\operatorname{sylv}}^{\leftarrow}(v)$ is not a node of $T_{u,v}$. We can assume, without loss of generality, that the topmost node a is not a descendant of any node labelled by another symbol in $\operatorname{supp}(u)$ which does not occur in t.

Suppose that *u* and *v* do not have a *b*-*a* right precedence, for any $b \in \text{supp}(u)$. Then, by Lemma 4.3.7, the topmost node *a* is not a left descendant of any node in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ or in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$. As such, it must be a right descendant of the rightmost node of $T_{u,v}$. Since we assumed that the topmost node *a* is not a descendant of any node labelled by another symbol in supp(*u*) which does not occur in *t*, then the topmost node *a* is the right child of the rightmost node of $T_{u,v}$ in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$.

Assume, in order to obtain a contradiction, that the topmost node *a* is not the right child of the rightmost node of $T_{u,v}$ in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$. Then, there exists a node *c* in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$ which is the right child of the rightmost node of $T_{u,v}$ and of which the topmost node *a* is a right descendant. This node must be topmost and, since it is not a left descendant of any node in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$, then *v* does not have a *b*-*c* right precedence, for any $b \in supp(u)$, by Lemma 4.3.7. But *u* and *v* share the same right precedences, as such, by Lemma 4.3.7 once again, the topmost node *c* is not a left descendant of any node in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. Then, it must be a right descendant of the topmost node *a* in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. Since this is a contradiction, we can assume that the topmost node *a* is also a right child of the rightmost node of $T_{u,v}$

Suppose now that u and v have a b-a right precedence of index k. By Lemma 4.3.6, the topmost node a has exactly k ancestor nodes labelled with b, and no ancestor nodes labelled with c, for any $c \in \text{supp}(u)$ such that a < c < b, in both $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$. Consider the unique path P_u from the topmost node b to the topmost node a in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$. The nodes in P_u , excluding the node a, must be either labelled with b or with a symbol strictly less than a, since all nodes in P_u except for the topmost node b are in the left subtree of a node b. Furthermore, for each label strictly less than a, there is a single node with that label in P_u , since the topmost node a must be in the right subtree of such nodes. As such, by Lemma 4.3.3, those nodes are topmost. Even more so, they must occur in P_u in increasing order of the label, but less than b. The same can be said about the unique path P_v from the topmost node b to the topmost node a in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$. Notice that, since u and v have the same right precedences, they share, in particular, b-d right precedences, where d is the label of a topmost node in P_u or P_v with label strictly less than a.

On the other hand, by our assumption that the topmost node a is not a descendant of any node labelled by another symbol in supp(u) which does not occur in t, we have that

the labels of all nodes in P_u , except for a, must occur in t. As such, the topmost nodes with label strictly less than a in P_u , as well as the topmost node b, must be nodes of $T_{u,v}$. This implies that all nodes in P_u , except for possibly a sequence of nodes b at the end of the path and node a itself, are in $T_{u,v}$. Suppose there is a node d in P_v , with label strictly less than a, that is not in $T_{u,v}$. This node d must be an ancestor of the topmost node a in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$, but in $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$, it must be a left descendant of the topmost node a, since its label must be strictly greater than all other labels in P_u , except for a and b, and as such, when computing $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$, the symbol d is inserted in the left subtree of the topmost node a. This implies that v has a b-d right precedence, while u has an a-d right precedence. This contradicts our hypothesis, hence all nodes in P_v with label strictly less than a are in $T_{u,v}$. But since u and v share the same right precedences, this implies, by the observations made in the previous paragraph, that P_u and P_v are equal paths. As such, the topmost node a is a child of the same node of $T_{u,v}$ in both $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(u)$ and $P_{sylv}^{\leftarrow}(v)$. But this contradicts the maximality of $T_{u,v}$.

Therefore, all symbols in supp(*u*) occur in *t*, hence $u \equiv_{sylv} v$.

In light of the previous result, we say that an element $[u]_{sylv}$ of sylv has a *b*-*a* right precedence (of index *k*) if the word *u* itself, and hence any other word in $[u]_{sylv}$, has a *b*-*a* right precedence (of index *k*).

The sylvester and hypoplactic monoids are closely related (see [CM18a; Pri13]). In fact, the hypoplactic monoid is a homomorphic image of the sylvester monoid. Notice that, for any right strict binary search tree with support $\{a_1 < \cdots < a_k\}$, all words in its sylvester class have an a_{i+1} - a_i inversion if and only if a node a_{i+1} appears in a right subtree of a node a_i . Hence, the map defined by $[u]_{sylv} \mapsto [u]_{hypo}$, for $u \in A^*$, is a surjective homomorphism from sylv onto hypo. Therefore, hypo is in the variety generated by sylv, and thus must satisfy all identities satisfied by sylv, by Birkhoff's Theorem. By restricting the map to sylv_n, we obtain a surjective homomorphism from sylv_n onto hypo_n.

There is an analogue of the sylvester monoid for left strict binary search trees, arising from their natural insertion algorithm, which is dual to Algorithm 3:

| Algorithm 4: Left strict leaf insertion. | | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Input: A left strict binary search tree <i>T</i> and a symbol $a \in A$. | | | | | | |
| Output: A left strict binary search tree $T \leftarrow a$. | | | | | | |
| 1 if T is empty, then | | | | | | |
| 2 create a node and label it <i>a</i> ; | | | | | | |
| 3 else | | | | | | |
| examine the label <i>x</i> of the root node; if <i>a</i> < <i>x</i>, recursively insert <i>a</i> into the left subtree of the root node; otherwise recursively insert <i>a</i> into the right subtree of the root node; | | | | | | |
| 5 return the resulting tree. | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Let $u \in A^*$. Using the insertion algorithm above, we can compute a unique left strict

binary search tree $P^{\rightarrow}_{sylv^{\#}}(u)$ from the word *u*: we start with the empty tree and insert the symbols of *u*, one-by-one from left-to-right – see Example 4.3.10.

Example 4.3.10. Computing $P^{\rightarrow}_{svlv^{\#}}(5411245765)$:



Notice that, for any left strict binary search tree *T*, we have that $P_{sylv^{\#}}^{\rightarrow}(Pre(T)) = T$, that is, the left strict insertion algorithm, with the prefix reading of *T* as input, gives back *T*. As such, any left strict binary search tree can be seen as an output of the left strict insertion algorithm.

We define the #-sylvester congruence $\equiv_{sylv^{\#}}$, the infinite-rank #-sylvester monoid sylv[#], the #-sylvester monoid of rank n sylv[#], and the content and support of a #-sylvester class in a similar fashion as before.

The #-sylvester monoid can also be defined by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{sylv^{\#}} \rangle$, where

$$\mathcal{R}_{sv|v^{\#}} = \{(buac, buca) : a < b \le c, u \in A^*\}.$$
(4.10)

These defining relations are known as the #-sylvester relations. Notice that the #-sylvester monoids are multihomogeneous, hence the finite-rank #-sylvester monoids are residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible. The infinite-rank #-sylvester monoid is also residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible (see Section 7.2).

The #-sylvester monoid satisfies the non-trivial identity $yxyx \approx yxxy$. Furthermore, up to equivalence, this is the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by sylv[#] [CM18b, Proposition 24].

The sylvester and #-sylvester monoids of finite rank *n* are anti-isomorphic: an anti-isomorphism from sylv_n to sylv[#]_n arises by taking a right strict binary search tree, reflecting it about a vertical axis, and renumbering the label *i* of each node to n - i + 1, thus obtaining a left strict binary search tree. Similarly, we can define an anti-isomorphism from

 $sylv_n^{\#}$ to $sylv_n$. These anti-isomorphisms allow us to easily deduce results for finite-rank #-sylvester monoids from results for the sylvester monoids. However, notice that these anti-isomorphisms do not arise in the infinite rank case, as there is no way to renumber the labels of the nodes. In fact, we have the following:

Proposition 4.3.11. *There is no anti-isomorphism from* sylv *to* sylv[#].

Proof. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exists such an anti-isomorphism σ : sylv \rightarrow sylv[#]. Notice that, for any element of the form $[a]_{sylv}$, where $a \in A$, we have that $\left|\sigma\left([a]_{sylv}\right)\right| = 1$, since $\left|\sigma\left([a]_{sylv}\right)\right| > 1$ implies that

$$\left| [a]_{\mathsf{sylv}} \right| = \left| \sigma^{-1} \left(\sigma \left([a]_{\mathsf{sylv}} \right) \right) \right| > 1,$$

along with the fact that the identity of sylv must be mapped to the identity of sylv[#]. Thus, σ maps the sylv-classes of generators into sylv[#]-classes of generators.

Thus, we have that $\sigma([1]_{sylv}) = [x]_{sylv^{\#}}$, for some $x \in A$. Since we are considering the infinite-rank case, there must exist $b, y \in A$ such that y > x and $\sigma([b]_{sylv}) = [y]_{sylv^{\#}}$. Notice that, since σ maps 1 to x, then b > 1. As such, we have that $b11 \equiv_{sylv} 1b1$, but on the other hand,

$$\sigma([b11]_{\mathsf{sylv}}) = [xxy]_{\mathsf{sylv}^{\#}} \neq [xyx]_{\mathsf{sylv}^{\#}} = \sigma([1b1]_{\mathsf{sylv}}),$$

 \square

which contradicts the hypothesis that σ is an anti-isomorphism.

We now give an alternative characterization of the #-sylvester monoid, parallel to the one given for the sylvester monoid. Let $u \in A^*$ and let $a, b \in \text{supp}(u)$ be such that a < b. We say u has an a-b left precedence of index k if, when reading u from left to right, a occurs before the first occurrence of b and, for any $c \in \text{supp}(u)$ such that a < c < b, the symbol c does not occur before the first occurrence of b. The number of occurrences of a before the first occurrence of b is the index of the left precedence.

Notice that, by the definition of a left precedence, for any given $b \in \text{supp}(u)$, there is at most one $a \in \text{supp}(u)$ such that u has an a-b left precedence (of index k, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$). On the other hand, u can have several left precedences of the form a-x, for a fixed a.

Example 4.3.12. The word 1231 has a 1-2 and a 2-3 left precedence, both of index 1, while 1312 has a 1-2 left precedence of index 2 and a 1-3 left precedence of index 1, and 3121 has a 1-2 left precedence of index 1.

The following proposition mirrors Proposition 4.3.9:

Proposition 4.3.13. For $u, v \in A^*$, we have that $u \equiv_{sylv^{\#}} v$ if and only if u and v share exactly the same content and left precedences.

In light of the previous result, we say that an element $[u]_{sylv}^{\#}$ of $sylv^{\#}$ has an *a-b* left precedence (of index *k*) if the word *u* itself, and hence any other word in $[u]_{sylv}^{\#}$, has an *a-b* left precedence (of index *k*).

The hypoplactic monoid is also a homomorphic image of the #-sylvester monoid. Notice that, for any left strict binary search tree with support $\{a_1 < \cdots < a_k\}$, all words in its #-sylvester class have an a_{i+1} - a_i inversion if and only if a node a_i appears in a left subtree of a node a_{i+1} . Hence, the map defined by $[u]_{sylv^{\#}} \mapsto [u]_{hypo}$, for $u \in A^*$, is a surjective homomorphism from sylv[#] onto hypo. Hence, hypo is in the variety generated by sylv[#], and thus must satisfy all identities satisfied by sylv[#], by Birkhoff's Theorem. By restricting the map to sylv[#], we obtain a surjective homomorphism from sylv[#] onto hypo_n.

4.4 The Baxter monoid

This section gives a brief overview of the Baxter monoid and its related combinatorial object and insertion algorithm, as well as results from [CM18b]. Due to its connection with the sylvester and #-sylvester monoids, we also give an alternative characterization of this monoid, derived from the characterization of sylv and sylv[#] given in the previous section. For more information, see [Gir12] and [CM18a].

The canopy of a rooted binary tree T is the word over $\{0,1\}$ obtained by doing an inorder traversal of T, outputting 1 when an empty left subtree is encountered and 0 when an empty right subtree is encountered, then omitting the first and last symbols of the resulting word (which correspond, respectively, to the empty left subtree of the leftmost node and the empty right subtree of the rightmost node).

A pair of twin binary search trees consists of a left strict binary search tree T_L and a right strict binary search tree T_R , such that T_L and T_R have the same content, and the canopies of T_L and T_R are complementary, in the sense that the *i*-th symbol of the canopy of T_L is 0 (respectively 1) if and only if the *i*-th symbol of the canopy of T_R is 1 (respectively 0). The following is an example of a pair of twin binary search trees:



Let $u \in A^*$. Due to [Gir12, Proposition 4.5], for each $u \in A^*$, the pair of binary search trees

$$\left(\mathrm{P}_{\mathsf{sylv}^{\#}}^{\rightarrow}(u), \mathrm{P}_{\mathsf{sylv}}^{\leftarrow}(u)\right)$$

is a pair of *twin* binary search trees. As such, by defining $P_{baxt}(u)$ as this pair, we can use Algorithms 3 and 4 to compute a unique pair of twin binary search trees $P_{baxt}(u)$ from the word u.

We define the Baxter congruence \equiv_{baxt} , the infinite-rank Baxter monoid baxt, the Baxter monoid of rank *n* baxt_n, and the content and support of a Baxter class in a similar fashion as before.

The Baxter monoid can also be defined by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{baxt} \rangle$, where

$$\mathcal{R}_{\text{baxt}} = \{ (cudavb, cuadvb) : a \le b < c \le d, u, v \in A^* \}$$

$$(4.11)$$

$$\cup \{(budavc, buadvc) : a < b \le c < d, u, v \in A^*\}.$$
(4.12)

These defining relations are known as the Baxter relations. Notice that the Baxter monoids are multihomogeneous, hence the finite-rank Baxter monoids are residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible. The infinite-rank Baxter monoid is also residually finite, but not subdirectly irreducible (see Section 7.2).

The Baxter monoid satisfies the non-trivial identities

$$yxxyxy \approx yxyxxy$$
 and $xyxyxy \approx xyyxxy$.

Furthermore, up to equivalence, these are the shortest non-trivial identities satisfied by baxt [CM18b, Proposition 26].

The Baxter, sylvester and #-sylvester monoids are closely related, due to [Gir12, Proposition 3.7]: For $u, v \in A^*$, we have that $u \equiv_{baxt} v$ if and only if $u \equiv_{sylv} v$ and $u \equiv_{sylv^{\#}} v$. As a consequence of this, and Propositions 4.3.9 and 4.3.13, we have the following:

Corollary 4.4.1. For $u, v \in A^*$, $u \equiv_{baxt} v$ if and only if u and v share exactly the same content and left and right precedences.

In light of the previous result, we say that an element $[u]_{baxt}$ of baxt has a *b*-*a* right (respectively, left) precedence of index *k* if the word *u* itself, and hence any other word in $[u]_{baxt}$, has a *b*-*a* right (respectively, left) precedence of index *k*.

It is also easy to see that the maps defined by

$$[u]_{\text{baxt}} \mapsto [u]_{\text{sylv}}$$
 and $[u]_{\text{baxt}} \mapsto [u]_{\text{sylv}^{\#}}$,

for $u \in A^*$, are surjective homomorphisms from baxt onto, respectively, sylv and sylv[#]. Therefore, both sylv and sylv[#], as well as hypo, are monoids in the variety generated by baxt, and thus must satisfy all identities satisfied by baxt, by Birkhoff's Theorem. By restricting the maps to baxt_n, we obtain surjective homomorphism from baxt_n onto sylv_n and sylv[#].

On the other hand, the map defined by $[u]_{baxt} \mapsto ([u]_{sylv^{\#}}, [u]_{sylv})$, for $u \in A^*$, is an embedding of baxt into $sylv^{\#} \times sylv$, due to [Gir12, Proposition 3.7]. Therefore, baxt is a monoid in the variety generated by $\{sylv^{\#}, sylv\}$, and thus must satisfy all identities which are satisfied by both sylv and $sylv^{\#}$, by Birkhoff's Theorem. By restricting the map to $baxt_n$, we obtain an embedding of $baxt_n$ into $sylv_n^{\#} \times sylv_n$.

5

Embedding results

In this chapter, we prove that the hypoplactic, sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids, of rank greater than or equal to 2, satisfy identities regardless of rank. We do this by constructing embeddings of these monoids of any rank greater than 2 into *direct products* of copies of the corresponding monoid of rank 2, as it is not possible to embed one into another. Thus, monoids of the same family generate the same variety and, by Birkhoff's Theorem, satisfy exactly the same identities. We also show that the basis rank of the varieties generated by these monoids is 2.

The results in Subsections 5.1.1 and 5.2.1 have appeared in [CMR21a], while the results in Subsections 5.1.2 and 5.2.2 are to appear in the submitted paper [CMR21b].

5.1 Non-existence of embedding into a monoid of lesser rank

We first show that it is not possible to embed a plactic-like monoid of finite rank greater than 2 into the corresponding monoid of lesser rank. This stands in contrast with the case of the free monoid, where all countable-rank free monoids can be embedded into the free monoid of rank 2.

5.1.1 Hypoplactic monoid case

It is not possible to embed a hypoplactic monoid of finite rank greater than 2 into a hypoplactic monoid of lesser rank:

Proposition 5.1.1. For all $n > m \ge 1$, there is no embedding of hypo_n into hypo_m.

Proof. First of all, notice that hypo₁ is isomorphic to the free monogenic monoid, which is commutative, and hypo_n is non-commutative, for any $n \ge 2$. Thus, there is no embedding of hypo_n into hypo₁.

If there exists an embedding of $hypo_n$ into $hypo_m$, for some $n > m \ge 2$, then, since $hypo_m$ is a submonoid of $hypo_{n-1}$, there must also exist an embedding of $hypo_n$ into $hypo_{n-1}$. As such, we just need to prove that this second embedding cannot exist.

Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exists $n \ge 3$ such that we have an embedding ϕ : hypo_n \rightarrow hypo_{n-1}. Without loss of generality, suppose *n* is the smallest positive integer in such conditions.

Observe that $\operatorname{supp}(\phi([1\cdots(n-1)]_{hypo_n})) = A_{n-1}$, that is, the image of the product of all generators of hypo_n, except for *n*, has all the possible symbols of A_{n-1} . Indeed, if we had

$$\operatorname{supp}(\phi([1\cdots(n-1)]_{\operatorname{hypo}_n})) \subsetneqq A_{n-1},$$

we would be able to construct an embedding from the submonoid of hypo_n isomorphic to hypo_{n-1}, generated by all generators of hypo_n except for n, into a submonoid of hypo_{n-1} isomorphic to hypo_{n-2}. This contradicts the minimality of n.

Hence, $\phi([1\cdots(n-1)]^2_{hypo_n})$ has all the possible inversions of symbols of A_{n-1} . If we multiply this element by any other element of $hypo_{n-1}$, either on the left or the right, we obtain the same result, by Proposition 4.2.3. Thus, by left and right multiplying by $\phi([n]_{hypo_n})$, we have that

$$\phi\left([n]_{\mathsf{hypo}_n} \cdot [1 \cdots (n-1)]^2_{\mathsf{hypo}_n}\right) = \phi\left([1 \cdots (n-1)]^2_{\mathsf{hypo}_n} \cdot [n]_{\mathsf{hypo}_n}\right).$$

On the other hand, we have that

$$[n]_{\mathsf{hypo}_n} \cdot [1 \cdots (n-1)]^2_{\mathsf{hypo}_n} \neq [1 \cdots (n-1)]^2_{\mathsf{hypo}_n} \cdot [n]_{\mathsf{hypo}_n},$$

because the left-hand side has a n-n-1 inversion and the right-hand side does not. This contradicts our hypothesis that ϕ is injective. Hence, for all $n \ge 2$, there is no embedding of hypo_n into hypo_{n-1}. As such, there is no embedding of hypo_n into hypo_m, for $n > m \ge 2$.

Corollary 5.1.2. *There is no embedding of* hypo *into* hypo_n*, for any* $n \in \mathbb{N}$ *.*

Proof. If such an embedding existed, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then, by restricting the embedding to the first n+1 generators of hypo, we would obtain an embedding of hypo_{n+1} into hypo_n, which contradicts the previous proposition.</sub>

5.1.2 Binary search tree monoids case

It is also not possible to embed a sylvester monoid of finite rank greater than 2 into a sylvester monoid of lesser rank:

Proposition 5.1.3. For all $n > m \ge 1$, there is no embedding of sylv_n into sylv_m.

The overall structure of the proof parallels that of Proposition 5.1.1, but we use the new characterization of right precedences in sylv and reach a contradiction using different words.

Proof. First of all, notice that sylv₁ is isomorphic to the free monogenic monoid, which is commutative, and sylv_n is non-commutative, for any $n \ge 2$. Thus, there is no embedding of sylv_n into sylv₁.

If there exists an embedding of $sylv_n$ into $sylv_m$, for some $n > m \ge 2$, then, since $sylv_m$ is a submonoid of $sylv_{n-1}$, there must also exist an embedding of $sylv_n$ into $sylv_{n-1}$. As such, we just need to prove that this second embedding cannot exist.

Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exists $n \ge 3$ such that we have an embedding ϕ : sylv_n \rightarrow sylv_{n-1}. Without loss of generality, suppose *n* is the smallest positive integer in such conditions.

Observe that $\operatorname{supp}(\phi([2 \cdots n]_{\operatorname{sylv}_n})) = A_{n-1}$, that is, the image of the product of all generators of sylv_n , except for 1, has all the symbols of A_{n-1} . Indeed, if we had

$$\operatorname{supp}(\phi([2\cdots n]_{\operatorname{sylv}_n})) \subsetneqq A_{n-1},$$

we would be able to construct an embedding from the submonoid of $sylv_n$ isomorphic to $sylv_{n-1}$, generated by all generators of $sylv_n$ except for 1, into a submonoid of $sylv_{n-1}$ isomorphic to $sylv_{n-2}$. This contradicts the minimality of *n*.

Hence, since all symbols of A_{n-1} already occur in $\phi([2 \cdots n]_{sylv_n})$, if we multiply this element by any other element of $sylv_{n-1}$ to the left, we obtain an element with the same right precedences as $\phi([2 \cdots n]_{sylv_n})$. Thus, by Proposition 4.3.9, since $\phi([12]_{sylv})$ and $\phi([21]_{sylv_n})$ have the same content, we have that

$$\phi\left([12]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n} \cdot [2 \cdots n]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n}\right) = \phi\left([21]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n} \cdot [2 \cdots n]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n}\right).$$

On the other hand, we have that

$$[12]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n} \cdot [2 \cdots n]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n} \neq [21]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n} \cdot [2 \cdots n]_{\mathsf{sylv}_n},$$

since the left-hand side has a 2-1 right precedence of index 2, and the right-hand side has a 2-1 right precedence of index 1.

This contradicts our hypothesis that ϕ is injective. Hence, for all $n \ge 2$, there is no embedding of sylv_n into sylv_{n-1}. As such, there is no embedding of sylv_n into sylv_m, for $n > m \ge 2$.

Corollary 5.1.4. *There is no embedding of* sylv *into* sylv_n*, for any* $n \in \mathbb{N}$ *.*

Proof. If such an embedding existed, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then, by restricting the embedding to the first n + 1 generators of sylv, we would obtain an embedding of sylv_{*n*+1} into sylv_{*n*}, which contradicts the previous proposition.

If there existed an embedding of a #-sylvester monoid of finite rank greater than 2 into a #-sylvester monoid of lesser rank, then we would be able to compose it with the anti-isomorphisms given in Section 4.3, thus obtaining an embedding for the sylvester case. Therefore, no such embedding exists, as well as no embedding of the infinite-rank #-sylvester monoid into a #-sylvester monoid of finite rank. We can also prove the corresponding result for the Baxter monoid:

Proposition 5.1.5. For all $n > m \ge 1$, there is no embedding of baxt_n into baxt_m.

Proof. The proof follows the same reasoning as given in the proof of Proposition 5.1.3: Instead of considering the elements

 $[12]_{sylv_n} \cdot [2 \cdots n]_{sylv_n}$ and $[21]_{sylv_n} \cdot [2 \cdots n]_{sylv_n}$,

we consider, respectively, the elements

 $[2\cdots n]_{\text{baxt}_n} \cdot [12]_{\text{baxt}_n} \cdot [2\cdots n]_{\text{baxt}_n}$ and $[2\cdots n]_{\text{baxt}_n} \cdot [21]_{\text{baxt}_n} \cdot [2\cdots n]_{\text{baxt}_n}$

which are different in $baxt_n$ but whose images under an embedding would have the same content and left and right precedences.

Corollary 5.1.6. There is no embedding of baxt into $baxt_n$, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

5.2 Embedding into a direct product of copies of monoids of rank 2

5.2.1 Embeddings of the hypoplactic monoids

In this subsection, we prove that the hypoplactic monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 satisfy exactly the same identities and that the basis rank of the variety generated by hypo is 2.

For any $i, j \in A$, with i < j, define a map from A to hypo₂ in the following way: For any $a \in A$,

$$a \longmapsto \begin{cases} [1]_{hypo_2} & \text{if } a = i; \\ [2]_{hypo_2} & \text{if } a = j; \\ [21]_{hypo_2} & \text{if } i < a < j; \\ [\varepsilon]_{hypo_2} & \text{otherwise;} \end{cases}$$

and extend it to a homomorphism $f_{hypo}^{ij}: A^* \longrightarrow hypo_2$, in the usual way.

Notice that, for any $w \in A^*$, its image under f_{hypo}^{ij} is the hypoplactic class of the word obtained from w by replacing any occurrence of i by 1; any occurrence of j by 2; any occurrence of an a, with i < a < j, by 21; and erasing the occurrences of any other element.

Lemma 5.2.1. f_{hypo}^{ij} factors to give a homomorphism $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}$: hypo \longrightarrow hypo₂.

Proof. Since hypo is given by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{hypo} \rangle$, we just need to verify that both sides of the plactic and hypoplactic relations have the same image under f_{hypo}^{ij} . Let $a, b, c, d \in A$. Assume, without loss of generality, that f_{hypo}^{ij} does not map any symbol to $[\varepsilon]_{hypo_2}$.

If $a \le b < c \le d$, then either f_{hypo}^{ij} maps at least one symbol to $[21]_{hypo_2}$, or f_{hypo}^{ij} maps *a* and *b* to $[1]_{hypo_2}$, and *c* and *d* to $[2]_{hypo_2}$. Thus, by Proposition 4.2.3,

$$f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}(acb) = f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}(cab) \text{ and } f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}(acbd) = f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}(cadb),$$

since both classes in each side of the equalities have the same content and 2-1 inversions.

If $a < b \le c$, then either f_{hypo}^{ij} maps at least one symbol to $[21]_{hypo_2}$, or f_{hypo}^{ij} maps *a* to $[1]_{hypo_2}$, and *b* and *c* to $[2]_{hypo_2}$. Thus,

$$f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}(bac) = f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}(bca).$$

since both classes in each side of the equality have the same content and 2-1 inversions.

If $a < b \le c < d$, then f_{hypo}^{ij} maps b and c to $[21]_{hypo_2}$. Thus, by the same reasoning,

$$f_{hypo}^{ij}(bdac) = f_{hypo}^{ij}(dbca).$$

Hence, $\Re_{\text{hypo}} \subseteq \ker f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}$. Therefore, the congruence generated by \Re_{hypo} , which is the hypoplactic congruence \equiv_{hypo} , is contained in $\ker f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}$. As such, by Theorem 2.4.1, there exists a homomorphism $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}$: hypo \longrightarrow hypo₂ such that $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{ij} \circ \equiv_{\text{hypo}}^{\natural} = f_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}$.

Let $w \in A_n^*$, for some $n \ge 3$. Assume $\operatorname{supp}(w) = \{a_1 < \cdots < a_k\}$, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that, ranging $1 \le i < k$, we can get the number of occurrences of a_i and a_{i+1} in w from the images of $[w]_{\text{hypo}}$ under the maps $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{a_i a_{i+1}}$. Furthermore, we can check if w has an $a_{i+1}-a_i$ inversion: Since no element $a \in A$ such that $a_i < a < a_{i+1}$ occurs in w, each occurrence of 1 in (a word in) $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{a_i a_{i+1}}([w]_{\text{hypo}})$ corresponds to an occurrence of a_i in w and, similarly, each occurrence of 2 in $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{a_i a_{i+1}}([w]_{\text{hypo}})$ corresponds to an occurrence of a_{i+1} in w. Thus, $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{a_i a_{i+1}}([w]_{\text{hypo}})$ has a 2-1 inversion if and only if w has an $a_{i+1}-a_i$ inversion. Hence, we get the following lemma:

Lemma 5.2.2. Let $u, v \in A_n^*$. Then, $u \equiv_{\text{hypo}} v$ if and only if $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}([u]_{\text{hypo}}) = \varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}([v]_{\text{hypo}})$, for all $1 \le i < j \le n$.

Proof. The direct implication is trivial, due to the fact that φ_{hypo}^{ij} is well-defined as a map, for all $1 \le i < j \le n$. The proof of the converse follows from the previous observations, as well as Proposition 4.2.3.

Example 5.2.3. Checking the inversions for the words given in Example 4.2.2:

| $[31214]_{hypo_4}$ | $ \stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \qquad \qquad$ | [121] _{hypo2} | [21341] _{hypo4} | $ \stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \qquad \qquad$ | [211] _{hypo2} |
|--------------------|--|----------------------------|--------------------------|--|----------------------------|
| $[31214]_{hypo_4}$ | $ \stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \\ \varphi^{13}_{\rm hypo}$ | [21211] _{hypo2} | [21341] _{hypo4} | $ \stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \qquad \qquad$ | [21121] _{hypo2} |
| $[31214]_{hypo_4}$ | $ \stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \\ \varphi^{14}_{\rm hypo}$ | [2112112] _{hypo2} | [21341] _{hypo4} | $ \stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \qquad \qquad$ | [2112121] _{hypo2} |
| $[31214]_{hypo_4}$ | $\stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longmapsto} \qquad \qquad$ | [21] _{hypo2} | [21341] _{hypo4} | $\stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longrightarrow} \qquad \qquad$ | [12] _{hypo2} |
| $[31214]_{hypo_4}$ | $\stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longrightarrow} \qquad \qquad$ | [2112] _{hypo2} | [21341] _{hypo4} | $\stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longrightarrow} \qquad \qquad$ | [1212] _{hypo2} |
| $[31214]_{hypo_4}$ | $\stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longrightarrow} \qquad \qquad$ | [12] _{hypo2} | [21341] _{hypo4} | $\stackrel{\longmapsto}{\longrightarrow} \qquad \qquad$ | [12] _{hypo2} |

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, with $n \ge 3$, consider the index set $I_n = \{(i, j) : 1 \le i < j \le n\}$, and let $I := \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} I_n$. Now, consider the map

$$\phi_{\mathsf{hypo}_n}:\mathsf{hypo}_n\longrightarrow\prod_{I_n}\mathsf{hypo}_2,$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{hypo}^{ij}([w]_{hypo})$, for $w \in A_n^*$ and $(i, j) \in I_n$.

Proposition 5.2.4. *The map* ϕ_{hypo_n} *is an embedding.*

Proof. It is clear that ϕ_{hypo_n} is a homomorphism. It follows from the definition of ϕ_{hypo_n} and Lemma 5.2.2 that, for any $u, v \in A_n^*$, we have

$$u \equiv_{\mathsf{hypo}_n} v \iff \phi_{\mathsf{hypo}_n}([u]_{\mathsf{hypo}}) = \phi_{\mathsf{hypo}_n}([v]_{\mathsf{hypo}}),$$

hence ϕ_{hypo_n} is an embedding.

Thus, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can embed hypo_n into a direct product of $\binom{n}{2}$ copies of hypo₂. Similarly, we can embed hypo into a direct product of infinitely many copies of hypo₂. Consider the map

$$\phi_{\text{hypo}}: \text{hypo} \longrightarrow \prod_{I} \text{hypo}_{2},$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{\text{hypo}}^{ij}([w]_{\text{hypo}})$, for $w \in A^*$ and $(i, j) \in I$.

Proposition 5.2.5. *The map* ϕ_{hypo} *is an embedding.*

Proof. It is clear that ϕ_{hypo} is a homomorphism. Notice that, for any word $w \in A^*$, there must exist $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $w \in A_n^*$. Furthermore, for $(i, j) \in I_n$, we have that the (i, j)-th component of $\phi_{\text{hypo}}([w]_{\text{hypo}})$ is equal to the (i, j)-th component of $\phi_{\text{hypo}_n}([w]_{\text{hypo}})$. Thus, for $u, v \in A^*$, if $\phi_{\text{hypo}}([u]_{\text{hypo}}) = \phi_{\text{hypo}}([v]_{\text{hypo}})$, then $\phi_{\text{hypo}_n}([u]_{\text{hypo}}) = \phi_{\text{hypo}_n}([v]_{\text{hypo}})$, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $u, v \in A_n^*$.

It follows from Lemma 5.2.2 that, for any $u, v \in A^*$, we have

$$u \equiv_{\mathsf{hypo}} v \iff \phi_{\mathsf{hypo}}([u]_{\mathsf{hypo}}) = \phi_{\mathsf{hypo}}([v]_{\mathsf{hypo}}),$$

hence ϕ_{hypo} is an embedding.

As such, all hypoplactic monoids of rank strictly greater than 2 are in the variety generated by hypo₂. Since hypo₂ is a submonoid of hypo and hypo_n, for any $n \ge 3$, they all generate the same variety, which we will denote by \mathcal{V}_{hypo} . Thus, by Birkhoff's Theorem, we have the following result:

Theorem 5.2.6. For any $n \ge 2$, hypo and hypo_n satisfy exactly the same identities.

Another consequence of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} being generated by $hypo_2$ is the following:

Proposition 5.2.7. The basis rank of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is 2.

Proof. Since \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is generated by hypo₂, and hypo₂ is defined by a presentation where the alphabet has two generators, then $r_b(\mathcal{V}_{hypo})$ is less than or equal to 2.

On the other hand, notice that any monoid generated by a single element is commutative. Since hypo is not commutative, \mathcal{V}_{hypo} cannot be generated by any single monoid which is itself generated by a single element. As such, $r_b(\mathcal{V}_{hypo})$ is strictly greater than 1.

Hence, the basis rank of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is 2.

Embeddings of the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids 5.2.2

In this subsection, we prove that the sylvester monoids of ranks greater than or equal to 2 satisfy exactly the same identities and that the basis rank of the variety generated by sylv is 2. By parallel reasoning, we prove the same results for the #-sylvester monoids of ranks greater than or equal to 2. Furthermore, as a consequence of [Gir12, Proposition 3.7], we also obtain the same results for the Baxter monoids of ranks greater than or equal to 2.

For any $i, j \in A$, with i < j, define a map from A to sylv₂ in the following way: For any $a \in A$,

$$a \longmapsto \begin{cases} [1]_{sylv_2} & \text{if } a = i; \\ [2]_{sylv_2} & \text{if } a = j; \\ [21]_{sylv_2} & \text{if } i < a < j; \\ [\varepsilon]_{sylv_2} & \text{otherwise;} \end{cases}$$

and extend it to a homomorphism $f_{sylv}^{ij}: A^* \longrightarrow sylv_2$, in the usual way. This homomorphism is analogous to the one given in Subsection 5.2.1. The proofs of the following lemmata and propositions make use of the new characterization using right precedences for the sylvester monoid (see Proposition 4.3.9).

Notice that, for any $w \in A^*$, its image under f_{sylv}^{ij} is the sylvester class of the word obtained from w by replacing any occurrence of i by 1; any occurrence of j by 2; any occurrence of an *a*, with i < a < j, by 21; and erasing the occurrences of any other element.

Lemma 5.2.8. f_{svlv}^{ij} factors to give a homomorphism φ_{svlv}^{ij} : svlv \longrightarrow svlv₂.

Proof. Since sylv is given by the presentation $\langle A | \mathcal{R}_{sylv} \rangle$, we just need to verify that both sides of the sylvester relations have the same image under f_{sylv}^{ij} .

Let $a, b, c \in A$ and $u \in A^*$ be such that $a \le b < c$. If f_{sylv}^{ij} maps either a or c to $[\varepsilon]_{sylv_2}$, then the images of *caub* and *acub* under f_{sylv}^{ij} coincide. Assume, without loss of generality, that f_{sylv}^{ij} does not map any symbol to $[\varepsilon]_{sylv_2}$. Then, f_{sylv}^{ij} maps a to $[1]_{sylv_2}$, b to either $[21]_{sylv_2}$ or $[1]_{sylv_2}$, and c to $[2]_{sylv_2}$. Notice that b is mapped to an element with no right precedences. As such, we have that

$$f_{sylv}^{ij}(caub) = f_{sylv}^{ij}(acub),$$

since both sides of the equality have no right precedences. Hence, $\Re_{sylv} \subseteq \ker f_{sylv}^{ij}$ and, by Theorem 2.4.1 once again, there exists a homomorphism φ_{sylv}^{ij} : $sylv \rightarrow sylv_2$ such that $\varphi_{sylv}^{ij} \circ \equiv_{sylv}^{\natural} = f_{sylv}^{ij}$.

Let $w \in A_n^*$, for some $n \ge 3$. Assume $\operatorname{supp}(w) = \{a_1 < \cdots < a_k\}$, for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that, ranging $1 \le i < k$, we can get the number of occurrences of a_i and a_{i+1} in w from the images of $[w]_{sylv}$ under the maps $\varphi_{sylv}^{a_i a_{i+1}}$, since, when reading any word in $\varphi_{sylv}^{a_i a_{i+1}}([w]_{sylv})$, every occurrence of 1 corresponds exactly to an occurrence of a_i in w, and every occurrence of 2 corresponds exactly to an occurrence of a_{i+1} .

Recall that there is at most one index j, with $1 \le i < j \le k$, such that w has an a_j - a_i right precedence. Ranging $1 \le i < j \le k$, we can check if w has an a_j - a_i right precedence: If w does not have any b- a_i right precedence, for $b < a_j$, then no b occurs before a_i , when reading w from right-to-left. As such, when reading any word in $\varphi_{sylv}^{a_i a_j}([w]_{sylv})$ from right-to-left, the first occurrence of 1 corresponds to the first occurrence of a_i , when reading w from right-to-left, and all occurrences of 2 before the first occurrence of 1 correspond to all occurrences of a_j before the first occurrence of a_i . Thus, $\varphi_{sylv}^{a_i a_j}([w]_{sylv})$ has a 2-1 right precedence if and only if w has an a_j - a_i right precedence, and the indexes must coincide. Hence, we get the following lemma:

Lemma 5.2.9. Let $u, v \in A_n^*$. Then, $u \equiv_{sylv} v$ if and only if $\varphi_{sylv}^{ij}([u]_{sylv}) = \varphi_{sylv}^{ij}([v]_{sylv})$, for all $1 \le i < j \le n$.

Proof. The direct implication is trivial, due to the fact that φ_{sylv}^{ij} is well-defined as a map, for all $1 \le i < j \le n$. The proof of the converse follows from the previous observations, as well as Proposition 4.3.9.

Example 5.2.10. Checking the right precedences for the words given in Example 4.3.5

$$\begin{bmatrix} 3123 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 12 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} & \begin{bmatrix} 2313 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 3123 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21212 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} & \begin{bmatrix} 2313 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21212 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ \begin{bmatrix} 3123 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 212 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} & \begin{bmatrix} 2313 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 122 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 12 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 12 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 21221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 22121 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 22122 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 2212 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 221 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_2} \\ & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_{sylv}}{\mapsto} & \begin{bmatrix} 3132 \end{bmatrix}_{sylv_3} & \underset{\varphi_$$

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, with $n \ge 3$, let I_n and I be the index sets defined in Subsection 5.2.1. Now, consider the map

$$\phi_{\operatorname{sylv}_n} : \operatorname{sylv}_n \longrightarrow \prod_{I_n} \operatorname{sylv}_2,$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{sylv}^{ij}([w]_{sylv})$, for $w \in A_n^*$ and $(i, j) \in I_n$.

Proposition 5.2.11. The map ϕ_{sylv_n} is an embedding.

Proof. It is clear that ϕ_{sylv_n} is a homomorphism. It follows from the definition of ϕ_{sylv_n} and Lemma 5.2.9 that we have

$$u \equiv_{\mathsf{sylv}_n} v \iff \phi_{\mathsf{sylv}_n}([u]_{\mathsf{sylv}}) = \phi_{\mathsf{sylv}_n}([v]_{\mathsf{sylv}}),$$

for any $u, v \in A_n^*$. Hence ϕ_{sylv_n} is an embedding.

Thus, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can embed sylv_n into a direct product of $\binom{n}{2}$ copies of sylv₂. Similarly, we can embed sylv into a direct product of infinitely many copies of sylv₂. Consider the map

$$\phi_{\text{sylv}}: \text{sylv} \longrightarrow \prod_{I} \text{sylv}_2,$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{sylv}^{ij}([w]_{sylv})$, for $w \in A^*$ and $(i, j) \in I$.

Proposition 5.2.12. *The map* ϕ_{sylv} *is an embedding.*

Proof. It is clear that ϕ_{sylv} is a homomorphism. Notice that, for any word $w \in A^*$, there must exist $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $w \in A_n^*$. Furthermore, for $(i, j) \in I_n$, we have that the (i, j)-th component of $\phi_{sylv}([w]_{sylv})$ is equal to the (i, j)-th component of $\phi_{sylv_n}([w]_{sylv})$. Thus, for $u, v \in A^*$, if $\phi_{sylv}([u]_{sylv}) = \phi_{sylv}([v]_{sylv})$, then $\phi_{sylv_n}([u]_{sylv}) = \phi_{sylv_n}([v]_{sylv})$, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $u, v \in A_n^*$.

It follows from Lemma 5.2.9 that, for any $u, v \in A^*$, we have

$$u \equiv_{\mathsf{sylv}} v \iff \phi_{\mathsf{sylv}}([u]_{\mathsf{sylv}}) = \phi_{\mathsf{sylv}}([v]_{\mathsf{sylv}}),$$

hence ϕ_{sylv} is an embedding.

As such, all sylvester monoids of rank higher than 2 are in the variety generated by sylv₂. Since sylv₂ is a submonoid of sylv and sylv_n, for any $n \ge 3$, they all generate the same variety, which we will denote by \mathcal{V}_{sylv} . Thus, by Birkhoff's Theorem, we have the following result:

Theorem 5.2.13. For any $n \ge 2$, sylv and sylv_n satisfy exactly the same identities.

Another consequence of \mathcal{V}_{sylv} being generated by $sylv_2$ is the following:

Corollary 5.2.14. *The basis rank of* \mathcal{V}_{svlv} *is* 2.

Proof. The reasoning is identical to that given for the proof of Proposition 5.2.7. \Box

By parallel reasoning, we can also prove that the #-sylvester monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 embed into a direct product of copies of sylv[#]₂. For any $i, j \in A$, with i < j, define the homomorphism $f_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij} : A^* \longrightarrow sylv^{\#}_2$ in an identical fashion to f_{hypo}^{ij} , mapping a word to a #-sylvester class instead of a hypoplactic class.

As with the case of f_{hypo}^{ij} (see Lemma 5.2.1), we have that $f_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}$ factors to give a homomorphism $\varphi_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}$: $sylv^{\#} \longrightarrow sylv_2^{\#}$. Furthermore, for a word $w \in A_n^*$, with $n \ge 3$, we can deduce the number of occurrences of each symbol in w, and its left precedences, by looking at the images of $[w]_{sylv^{\#}}$ under $\varphi_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}$, ranging $1 \le i < j \le n$. Thus, for $u, v \in A_n^*$, we have that $u \equiv_{sylv_n^{\#}} v$ if and only if $\varphi_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}([u]_{sylv^{\#}}) = \varphi_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}([v]_{sylv^{\#}})$, for all $1 \le i < j \le n$.

Example 5.2.15. Checking the left precedences for the words given in Example 4.3.12

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can embed sylv[#]_n into a direct product of $\binom{n}{2}$ copies of sylv[#]₂, using the embedding

$$\phi_{\mathsf{sylv}_n^{\#}} : \mathsf{sylv}_n^{\#} \longrightarrow \prod_{I_n} \mathsf{sylv}_2^{\#},$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}([w]_{sylv^{\#}})$, for $w \in A_n^*$ and $(i, j) \in I_n$. Similarly, we can embed sylv[#] into a direct product of infinitely many copies of sylv[#]₂, using the embedding

$$\phi_{\operatorname{sylv}^{\#}} : \operatorname{sylv}^{\#} \longrightarrow \prod_{I} \operatorname{sylv}_{2}^{\#},$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{sylv^{\#}}^{ij}([w]_{sylv^{\#}})$, for $w \in A^*$ and $(i, j) \in I$.

As such, all #-sylvester monoids of rank higher than 2 are in the variety generated by $sylv_2^{\#}$. Since $sylv_2^{\#}$ is a submonoid of $sylv^{\#}$ and $sylv_n^{\#}$, for any $n \ge 3$, they all generate the same variety, which we will denote by $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$. Thus, by Birkhoff's Theorem, we have the following result:

Theorem 5.2.16. For any $n \ge 2$, sylv[#] and sylv[#]_n satisfy exactly the same identities.

We also obtain the following result:

Corollary 5.2.17. The basis rank of $\mathcal{V}_{svlv^{\#}}$ is 2.

Notice that the embeddings of the #-sylvester monoids of finite rank greater than or equal to 2 into a direct product of copies of $sylv_2^{\#}$ can also be obtained using the anti-isomorphisms between sylvester and #-sylvester monoids of finite rank, and the

previously obtained embeddings. However, we cannot use this argument for the infinite rank case, due to Proposition 4.3.11. On the other hand, since anti-isomorphisms exist in the finite case, we can conclude that, due to Theorems 5.2.13 and 5.2.16, any monoid anti-isomorphic to sylv (respectively, sylv[#]) is in the variety generated by sylv[#] (respectively, sylv).

Once again, we can also prove that the Baxter monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 embed into a direct product of copies of baxt₂. For any $i, j \in A$, with i < j, define the homomorphism $f_{\text{baxt}}^{ij}: A^* \longrightarrow \text{baxt}_2$ in an identical fashion to f_{hypo}^{ij} , mapping a word to a Baxter class instead of a hypoplactic class.

As before with the case of f_{hypo}^{ij} , we have that f_{baxt}^{ij} factors to give a homomorphism φ_{baxt}^{ij} : baxt \longrightarrow baxt₂. Furthermore, for a word $w \in A_n^*$, with $n \ge 3$, we can deduce the number of occurrences of each symbol in w, and its left and right precedences, by looking at the images of $[w]_{baxt}$ under φ_{baxt}^{ij} , ranging $1 \le i < j \le n$. Thus, for $u, v \in A_n^*$, we have that $u \equiv_{baxt_n} v$ if and only if $\varphi_{baxt}^{ij}([u]_{baxt}) = \varphi_{baxt}^{ij}([v]_{baxt})$, for all $1 \le i < j \le n$.

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we can embed baxt_n into a direct product of $\binom{n}{2}$ copies of baxt₂, using the embedding

$$\phi_{\mathsf{baxt}_n}$$
: $\mathsf{baxt}_n \longrightarrow \prod_{I_n} \mathsf{baxt}_2$,

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{\text{baxt}}^{ij}([w]_{\text{baxt}})$, for $w \in A_n^*$ and $(i, j) \in I_n$. Similarly, we can embed baxt into a direct product of infinitely many copies of baxt₂, using the embedding

$$\phi_{\text{baxt}}: \text{baxt} \longrightarrow \prod_{I} \text{baxt}_2,$$

whose (i, j)-th component is given by $\varphi_{\text{baxt}}^{ij}([w]_{\text{baxt}})$, for $w \in A^*$ and $(i, j) \in I$.

As such, all Baxter monoids of rank higher than 2 are in the variety generated by baxt₂. Since baxt₂ is a submonoid of baxt and baxt_n, for any $n \ge 3$, they all generate the same variety, which we will denote by $\mathcal{V}_{\text{baxt}}$. Thus, by Birkhoff's Theorem, we have the following result:

Theorem 5.2.18. For any $n \ge 2$, baxt and baxt_n satisfy exactly the same identities.

Another consequence is the following:

Corollary 5.2.19 (Cor. 5.2.20, p.47). The basis rank of $\mathcal{V}_{\text{baxt}}$ is 2.

We also have that all Baxter monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 embed into a direct product of copies of $sylv_2^{\#}$ and $sylv_2$. Since all Baxter monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 embed into the direct product of the #-sylvester and sylvester monoids of

the same rank (see Section 4.4), the following diagrams commute:



As such, baxt is a monoid in the variety generated by $\{sylv_2^{\#}, sylv_2\}$. This implies, by Birkhoff's Theorem, that baxt must satisfy all identities which are satisfied by both $sylv_2^{\#}$ and $sylv_2$. Furthermore, by the observations made in Section 4.4, we have the following corollary:

Corollary 5.2.20. The identities satisfied by the Baxter monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 are exactly those identities which are simultaneously satisfied by the #-sylvester and sylvester monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2.
6

Identities satisfied by the plactic-like monoids

In this chapter, we obtain a complete characterization of the identities satisfied, respectively, by the hypoplactic, sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids. These identities and those satisfied by their respective monoids of rank 2 are exactly the same. As such, we shall use the monoids of rank 2 to obtain a characterization of those identities.

Most of the results in Section 6.1 have appeared in [CMR21a], except for Corollary 6.1.5, while the results in Section 6.2 are to appear in the submitted paper [CMR21b].

6.1 Characterization of the identities satisfied by the hypoplactic monoid

Observe that, for each element of $hypo_2$, there is at most one other distinct element of $hypo_2$ which has the same content as it. Indeed, an element of $hypo_2$ with support {1,2} either has a 2-1 inversion or not.

Theorem 6.1.1. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by hypo are exactly the balanced identities such that u admits xy as a subsequence if and only if v does too, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$.

Proof. We first prove by contradiction that an identity satisfied by hypo₂ must satisfy the stated conditions. Suppose $u \approx v$ is an identity satisfied by hypo₂. Since hypo contains the free monogenic submonoid, we know that any identity satisfied by hypo must be a balanced identity. Thus, we assume $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity.

Assume, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exist variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, such that u admits xy as a subsequence, but v does not. Observe that, since both x and yoccur in v, then v must admit yx as a subsequence.

Then, taking the evaluation ψ of X in hypo₂ such that $\psi(x) = [2]_{hypo_2}$, $\psi(y) = [1]_{hypo_2}$ and $\psi(z) = [\varepsilon]_{hypo_2}$, for all other variables $z \in X$, we have

$$\psi(u) = [2^{|u|_x} 1^{|u|_y}]_{hypo_2}$$
 and $\psi(v) = [1^{|v|_y} 2^{|v|_x}]_{hypo_2}$

where $|u|_x = |v|_x \ge 1$ and $|u|_y = |v|_y \ge 1$. Notice that $\psi(u)$ has a 2-1 inversion, but $\psi(v)$ does not. Therefore, by Proposition 4.2.3, we have that $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$, which contradicts our hypothesis that $u \approx v$ is an identity satisfied by hypo₂.

We now prove by contradiction that an identity which satisfies the previously mentioned conditions must also be satisfied by hypo₂. Suppose that $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity, such that u admits xy as a subsequence if and only if v does too, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there is some evaluation ψ of X in hypo₂ such that $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$.

Notice that, since $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity, then $\psi(u)$ and $\psi(v)$ have the same content. Since $u \approx v$ is non-trivial and $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$, then supp $(\psi(u)) = \sup (\psi(v)) = \{1, 2\}$ and, by Proposition 4.2.3, $\psi(u)$ has a 2-1 inversion but $\psi(v)$ does not, or the converse.

We assume, without loss of generality, that $\psi(u)$ has a 2-1 inversion and $\psi(v)$ does not. Note that $\psi(v)$, as a congruence class of words, has only one word, of the form $1^a 2^b$, for some $a, b \ge 1$. Then, v must be of the form $v = v_1 v_2$ or $v = v_1 z v_2$, with $z \in X$, where for each variable x which occurs in v_1 , $\psi(x)$ has support {1}; for each variable y which occurs in v_2 , $\psi(y)$ has support {2}; and $\psi(z)$ has support {1,2}.

Notice that z is a variable that occurs in neither v_1 nor v_2 , and that no variable occurs simultaneously in v_1 and v_2 . Also notice that, for any variables x occurring in v_1 and y occurring in v_2 , v admits xz, xy and zy as subsequences (if there exists a variable z in the previously mentioned conditions), but not zx, yx nor yz. Thus, by our hypothesis, u must be of the form $u = u_1u_2$ or $u = u_1zu_2$, where cont $(u_1) = \text{cont}(v_1)$ and cont $(u_2) = \text{cont}(v_2)$. Hence, $\psi(u_1) = \psi(v_1)$ and $\psi(u_2) = \psi(v_2)$, by the observations in the previous paragraph.

Therefore, we either have

$$\psi(u) = \psi(u_1)\psi(u_2) = \psi(v_1)\psi(v_2) = \psi(v)$$

or
$$\psi(u) = \psi(u_1)\psi(z)\psi(u_2) = \psi(v_1)\psi(z)\psi(v_2) = \psi(v)$$

Thus, we have reached a contradiction, hence, there is no evaluation ψ of X in hypo₂ such that $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$. Thus, $u \approx v$ is an identity satisfied by hypo₂.

Since all identities satisfied by hypo must also be satisfied by $hypo_2$, we obtain the stated result.

Recall that two identities are equivalent if one can be obtained from the other by renaming variables or swapping both sides of the identities. With this characterization, we recover as a corollary the following result:

Corollary 6.1.2 ([CM18b, Proposition 12]). *The following non-trivial identities are satisfied by* hypo:

$$xyxy \approx xyyx \approx yxxy pprox yxyx;$$

 $xxyx pprox xyxx.$

Furthermore, up to equivalence, these are the shortest non-trivial identities satisfied by hypo.

We also easily obtain some important non-trivial identities satisfied by hypo:

Example 6.1.3. The following non-trivial identities are satisfied by hypo:

$$xyzxty \approx yxzxty;$$
 (L)

$$xzxytx \approx xzyxtx;$$
 (M)

$$xzytxy \approx xzytyx. \tag{R}$$

These identities form a basis for the variety generated by the hypoplactic monoid, as stated in Theorem 7.1.1.

It is well known that the set of all balanced identities is the equational theory of the variety \mathbb{C} of all commutative monoids, which is generated by the free monogenic monoid. On the other hand, the set J_2 of all identities $u \approx v$ where u and v share exactly the same subsequences of length at most 2 is the equational theory of the *pseudovariety* \mathcal{J}_2 , which, due to Eilenberg's correspondence (see [Eil76; Pin86]), corresponds to the class of all piecewise testable languages of height 2 (see [Sim72]). This pseudovariety is generated by \mathcal{C}_3 , the 5-element monoid of all order preserving and extensive transformations of the chain 1 < 2 < 3 (see [Vol04]). Thus, the equational theory of $\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{C}_3)$, the *variety* generated by \mathcal{C}_3 , is J_2 . It is easy to see that the equational theory of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is the intersection of the set of all balanced identities and the set J_2 . As such, we have the following corollary of Theorem 6.1.1, suggested by the anonymous referee of [CMR21a]:

Corollary 6.1.4. \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is the varietal join $\mathfrak{C} \lor \mathcal{V}(\mathfrak{C}_3)$, and is generated by the free monogenic monoid and the monoid \mathfrak{C}_3 .

Since there exist polynomial-time algorithms that check if two words over an alphabet X, with length up to some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, have the same content and share exactly the same subsequences of length at most 2 (see, for example, [Bar+20, Theorem 8]), we have the following corollary:

Corollary 6.1.5. The decision problem CHECK-ID(hypo) belongs to the complexity class P.

Let $u \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ be the word obtained from u by eliminating every occurrence of a symbol other than x or y. An alternative characterization of the identities satisfied by hypo is the following:

Corollary 6.1.6. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by hypo are exactly the balanced identities such that, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, the identity $u \upharpoonright_{x,y} \approx v \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ is satisfied by hypo.

Proof. Let ψ be an evaluation of $\{x, y\}$ in hypo₂. Extend it to an evaluation of all variables in $u \approx v$ by mapping all other variables to the empty word. Then

$$\psi(u\!\upharpoonright_{x,v}) = \psi(u) = \psi(v) = \psi(v\!\upharpoonright_{x,v}),$$

since $u \approx v$ is satisfied by hypo. Hence $u \upharpoonright_{x,v} \approx v \upharpoonright_{x,v}$ is also satisfied by hypo.

Suppose then that the identity $u \approx v$ is balanced and satisfies the following property: For any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, the identity $u \upharpoonright_{x,v} \approx v \upharpoonright_{x,v}$ is satisfied by hypo.

By Theorem 6.1.1, to prove that $u \approx v$ is satisfied by hypo, we only need to show that u admits xy (or yx) as a subsequence if and only if v does too, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$.

Let $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$. By our hypothesis, we have that $u \upharpoonright_{x,y} \approx v \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ is an identity satisfied by hypo. By Theorem 6.1.1, we know that $u \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ admits xy (or yx) as a subsequence if and only if $v \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ does too.

Notice that $u \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ is the unique subsequence of u with the same number of occurrences of x and y as u. Therefore, we can conclude that $u \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ admits xy (or yx) as a subsequence if and only if u does too. The same can be said about $v \upharpoonright_{x,y}$ and v.

Therefore, *u* admits *xy* (or *yx*) as a subsequence if and only if *v* does too. Hence, by Theorem 6.1.1, we conclude that $u \approx v$ is an identity satisfied by hypo.

It is very easy to verify if a balanced identity, over a two-symbol alphabet, is satisfied by hypo, by the following complete characterization:

Corollary 6.1.7. The non-trivial identities, over the two-symbol alphabet $\{x, y\}$, satisfied by hypo are balanced identities such that neither side of the identity is of the form $x^a y^b$ or $y^b x^a$, for some $a, b \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Suppose first that $u \approx v$ is a non-trivial identity, over the two-symbol alphabet $\{x, y\}$, satisfied by hypo. By Theorem 6.1.1, this identity is balanced. Suppose, without loss of generality, that $u = x^a y^b$, for some $a, b \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, since u does not admit yx as a subsequence, v cannot as well. Since $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity, we conclude that $v = x^a y^b = u$, which contradicts our hypothesis that $u \approx v$ is non-trivial.

Since this argument can be applied to all other possible cases, we conclude that neither side of the identity is of the form $x^a y^b$ or $y^b x^a$.

Conversely, let $u \approx v$ be a non-trivial, balanced identity, over the two-symbol alphabet $\{x, y\}$, such that neither side of the identity is of the form $x^a y^b$ or $y^b x^a$, for some $a, b \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, since $u \approx v$ is a non-trivial identity, both x and y must occur at least once in both u and v.

Observe that the only words over $\{x, y\}$, where both x and y occur, that do not admit yx as a subsequence, are words of the form x^ay^b . Similarly, the only words over $\{x, y\}$, where both x and y occur, that do not admit xy as a subsequence, are words of the form y^bx^a . Thus, both u and v admit xy and yx as subsequences. Hence, by Theorem 6.1.1, $u \approx v$ is satisfied by hypo.

The following corollary will be important in Subsection 7.1.1:

Corollary 6.1.8. The shortest non-trivial identity, with n variables, satisfied by hypo, is of length n + 2.

Proof. It is immediate, by the previous theorem, that for variables $x, a_1 \dots a_{n-1}$,

$$xa_1 \dots a_{n-1}xx \approx xxa_1 \dots a_{n-1}x$$

is an identity satisfied by hypo.

On the other hand, assume, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exists a nontrivial identity $u \approx v$, with *n* variables, satisfied by hypo, of length strictly less than n + 2, such that supp $(u \approx v) = \{a_1, ..., a_n\}$. By Theorem 6.1.1, if *u* admits a subsequence *xy*, for variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, then *v* must also admit such a subsequence. Thus, we easily conclude that the identity cannot be of length *n*, otherwise it would be trivial. As such, there must be some variable *z* which occurs at least twice in *u* and *v*. Assume, without loss of generality, that $z = a_n$.

Then $u \approx v$ must be of length n + 1. Hence, a_n occurs exactly twice and all other variables a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1} occur only once, in u and v. Assume, without loss of generality, that u admits the subsequence $a_1 \cdots a_{n-1}$. Then, u is of the form

$$w_1 a_n w_2 a_n w_3$$
,

where w_1, w_2, w_3 are (possibly empty) words over $\operatorname{supp}(u \approx v)$ such that $w_1 w_2 w_3 = a_1 \cdots a_{n-1}$. Notice that, for $i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\}$, if a_i occurs in w_1 , then u admits $a_i a_n$ as a subsequence, but not $a_n a_i$; if a_i occurs in w_2 , then u admits both $a_i a_n$ and $a_n a_i$ as subsequences; a_i occurs in w_3 , then u admits $a_n a_i$ as a subsequence, but not $a_i a_n$. Once again, by Theorem 6.1.1, v must admit exactly these subsequences. Hence, we can conclude that u = v.

This contradicts the hypothesis that $u \approx v$ is a non-trivial identity satisfied by hypo. As such, there is no non-trivial identity, with *n* variables, satisfied by hypo, of length n+1.

6.2 Characterization of the identities satisfied by the sylvester,#-sylvester and Baxter monoids

For a word *u* over an alphabet of variables *X*, and for variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u)$, we denote the number of occurrences of *y* before the first occurrence of *x* in *u*, when reading *u* from right-to-left (respectively, from left-to-right), by $o_{x \leftarrow v}(u)$ (respectively, $o_{v \to x}(u)$).

Theorem 6.2.1. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by sylv are exactly the balanced identities such that $o_{x \leftarrow v}(u) = o_{x \leftarrow v}(v)$, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$.

Proof. We first prove by contradiction that an identity satisfied by $sylv_2$ must satisfy the stated conditions. Suppose $u \approx v$ is an identity satisfied by $sylv_2$. Since $sylv_2$ contains the free monogenic submonoid, we know that any identity satisfied by $sylv_2$ must be a balanced identity. Thus, we assume $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity.

Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exist variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, such that $o_{x \leftarrow v}(u) \neq o_{x \leftarrow v}(v)$. Then, if we consider the words $u \upharpoonright_{x,v}$ and $v \upharpoonright_{x,v}$, obtained from *u* and *v*, respectively, by eliminating every occurrence of a variable other than *x* or *y*, we have that $u \upharpoonright_{x,v}$ admits the suffix $xy^{o_{x \leftarrow y}(u)}$ and $v \upharpoonright_{x,v}$ admits the suffix $xy^{o_{x \leftarrow y}(v)}$.

Taking the evaluation ψ of *X* in sylv₂ such that $\psi(x) = [1]_{sylv_2}$, $\psi(y) = [2]_{sylv_2}$ and $\psi(z) = [\varepsilon]_{sylv_2}$, for all other variables $z \in X$, we have

$$\psi(u) = \psi\left(u \upharpoonright_{x,y}\right) = [u']_{\mathsf{sylv}_2} \cdot [12^{o_{x \leftarrow y}(u)}]_{\mathsf{sylv}_2} \text{ and } \psi(v) = \psi\left(v \upharpoonright_{x,y}\right) = [v']_{\mathsf{sylv}_2} \cdot [12^{o_{x \leftarrow y}(v)}]_{\mathsf{sylv}_2},$$

for some words $u', v' \in A_2^*$. Since $o_{x \leftarrow y}(u) \neq o_{x \leftarrow y}(v)$, we have that $\psi(u)$ and $\psi(v)$ cannot share a 2-1 right precedence of the same index. Thus, by Proposition 4.3.9, we have that $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$, which contradicts our hypothesis that $u \approx v$ is an identity.

We now prove by contradiction that an identity which satisfies the previously mentioned conditions must also be satisfied by $sylv_2$. Suppose that $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity, such that $o_{x \leftarrow y}(u) = o_{x \leftarrow y}(v)$, for any variables $x, y \in supp(u \approx v)$. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there is some evaluation ψ of X in $sylv_2$ such that $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$.

Notice that, since $u \approx v$ is a balanced identity, then $\psi(u)$ and $\psi(v)$ have the same content. As such, since $u \approx v$ is non-trivial, we have that $\operatorname{supp}(\psi(u)) = \operatorname{supp}(\psi(v)) = \{1, 2\}$, and, by Proposition 4.3.9, either $\psi(u)$ and $\psi(v)$ have 2-1 right precedences of different indexes, or one of them has a 2-1 right precedence and the other does not. Assume, without loss of generality, that words in $\psi(u)$ admit a suffix of the form 12^a , and words in $\psi(v)$ admit a suffix of the form 12^b , for some $a, b \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that a > b. Notice that this assumption covers both the case where $\psi(v)$ has a right precedence and the case where it does not. Furthermore, the assumption implies that $\psi(u)$ has a 2-1 right precedence of index a.

Observe that u must be of the form $u = u_1 z u_2$, with $z \in X$ and $u_2 \in X^*$, such that $\psi(u_2)$ has support {2} and $\psi(z)$ has either support {1, 2} or support {1}. As such, $\psi(zu_2)$ has a 2-1 right precedence of index a, the same as $\psi(u)$. Furthermore, notice that z cannot occur in u_2 . Thus, by our hypothesis, we have that $o_{z \leftarrow x}(u) = o_{z \leftarrow x}(v)$, for any variable $x \in \text{supp}(u_2)$. Therefore, v must also be of the form $v = v_1 z v_2$, where v_2 has the same content as u_2 . But this implies that $\psi(v_2)$ has support {2}, hence $\psi(zv_2)$ also has a 2-1 right precedence of index a. Since $\psi(zv_2)$ must also have the same right precedence as $\psi(v)$, we have reached a contradiction.

Thus, there is no evaluation ψ of X in sylv₂ such that $\psi(u) \neq \psi(v)$. Therefore, $u \approx v$ is an identity satisfied by sylv₂.

Since all identities satisfied by sylv must also be satisfied by $sylv_2$, we obtain the stated result.

By parallel reasoning, we can obtain the characterization of the identities satisfied by the #-sylvester monoid:

Theorem 6.2.2. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by sylv[#] are exactly the balanced identities such that, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, $o_{x \to v}(u) = o_{x \to v}(v)$.

The characterization of the identities satisfied by the Baxter monoid is an immediate consequence of Theorems 6.2.1 and 6.2.2, and Corollary 5.2.20:

Theorem 6.2.3. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by baxt are exactly the balanced identities such that, for any variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, $o_{x \to v}(u) = o_{x \to v}(v)$ and $o_{x \leftarrow v}(u) = o_{x \leftarrow v}(v)$.

With these characterizations, we recover the following corollaries:

Corollary 6.2.4 ([CM18b, Proposition 20]). The sylvester monoid satisfies the non-trivial identity $xyxy \approx yxxy$. Furthermore, up to equivalence, this is the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by sylv.

Corollary 6.2.5 ([CM18b, Proposition 24]). The #-sylvester monoid satisfies the non-trivial identity $yxyx \approx yxxy$. Furthermore, up to equivalence, this is the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by sylv[#].

Corollary 6.2.6 ([CM18b, Proposition 26]). The Baxter monoid satisfies the non-trivial identities $yxxyxy \approx yxyxxy$ and $xyxyxy \approx xyyxxy$. Furthermore, up to equivalence, these are the shortest non-trivial identities satisfied by baxt.

The following corollaries are useful alternative characterizations of the identities satisfied by sylv, sylv[#] and baxt. They imply that, when reading both sides of an identity satisfied by the sylvester, #-sylvester or Baxter monoid, the first occurrence of a variable is read at the same time in both words:

Corollary 6.2.7. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by sylv (respectively, sylv[#]) are balanced identities such that, for any $x \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, the longest suffix (respectively, prefix) of u where x does not occur has the same content as the longest suffix (respectively, prefix) of v where x does not occur.

Proof. We give the proof for the sylv case. The reasoning for the sylv[#] case is parallel.

Let $u = u_1 x u_2$ and $v = v_1 x v_2$, where u_2 and v_2 are words where x does not occur. Notice that, due to Theorem 6.2.1, for any variable y which occurs in u_2 or v_2 , we have that $o_{x \leftarrow v}(u) = o_{x \leftarrow v}(v)$. The result follows immediately.

Corollary 6.2.8. The identities $u \approx v$ satisfied by baxt are balanced identities such that, for any $x \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$, the longest prefix of u where x does not occur has the same content as the longest prefix of v where x does not occur, and the longest suffix of u where x does not occur has the same content as the longest suffix of v where x does not occur.

Proof. The result follows from the previous corollary.

These alternate characterizations allow us to obtain algorithms that check if identities are satisfied by the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids in polynomial time. For brevity's sake, we only show the algorithm for the sylvester case:

Proposition 6.2.9. Algorithm 5 is sound and complete, and has time complexity $O(k^2 \log(k))$, where k is the length of the word u, for input $u \approx v$.

Algorithm 5: *Identity checking algorithm for the sylvester monoid.*

Input: An identity $u \approx v$. **Output:** True if sylv satisfies $u \approx v$, False otherwise.

```
1 if |u| \neq |v| then return False;
 2 k \leftarrow |u|;
 3 C[1,...,k], D[1,...,k] ← [0,...,0];
 4 \overleftarrow{s} \leftarrow \emptyset;
 5 for 0 \le i \le k - 1 do
           if u_{k-i} = v_{k-i} then
 6
                 if u_{k-i} \notin \operatorname{supp}(5) then
 7
                       if C \neq D then
  8
                            return False;
  9
                       else
10
                             append u_{k-i} to \overleftarrow{s};
11
                             i \leftarrow |\overline{s}|;
12
                             C[j] \leftarrow C[j] + 1; D[j] \leftarrow D[j] + 1;
13
                 else
14
                       j \leftarrow \text{index of } u_{k-i} \text{ in } \overleftarrow{s};
15
                       C[j] \leftarrow C[j] + 1; D[j] \leftarrow D[j] + 1;
16
           else
17
                 if u_{k-i}, v_{k-i} \in \text{supp}(\overleftarrow{s}) then
18
                      j \leftarrow \text{index of } u_{k-i} \text{ in } \overleftarrow{s};
19
                       l \leftarrow \text{index of } v_{k-i} \text{ in } \overleftarrow{s};
20
                       C[j] \leftarrow C[j] + 1; D[l] \leftarrow D[l] + 1;
21
                 else
22
23
                       return False;
24 if C \neq D then return False;
25 return True
```

Proof. Algorithm 5 first checks if u and v have the same length, in line 1. If they do not, then $u \approx v$ is not a balanced identity, and as such, is not satisfied by sylv. This is done in 2k + 1 time, in the worst-case scenario where the length of v is greater than the length of u.

The algorithm scans u and v, from right-to-left, in the **for** loop in line 5. The arrays C and D stand for, respectively, the content vectors of the suffixes of u and v read so far, while the word \overleftarrow{s} stands for the support of these suffixes. Notice that, since u is of length k, then at most k variables occur in u. Hence, C and D have length k.

In each iteration of the loop, the algorithm checks if the symbol which is being read in u is the same as the one being read in v. If they are the same, and do not occur in $\frac{f}{s}$, this means that this is the first occurrence of a variable x. The algorithm checks if the arrays C and D are equal. If they are not, this implies that the longest suffix of u where x does not occur does not have the same content as the longest suffix of v where x does not occur. Hence, by Corollary 6.2.7, $u \approx v$ is not satisfied by sylv. If C and D are equal, then the algorithm registers the new variable in \overleftarrow{s} and updates the content vectors C and D. On the other hand, if x occurs already in \overleftarrow{s} , the algorithm simply updates C and D.

If the symbols which are being read in u and v are different, then the algorithm checks if they both occur in \overleftarrow{s} . If that does not happen, then that means at least one of them is the first occurrence of a variable in one of the words, but not in the other. Hence, by Corollary 6.2.7, $u \approx v$ is not satisfied by sylv. Otherwise, if they both occur in \overleftarrow{s} , the algorithm simply updates *C* and *D*.

After the final iteration of the loop, the algorithm checks if C and D are equal, to verify if the content of u is the same as the content of v. This is done because two words might have the same support, but their content might differ.

It is clear that the algorithm is sound and complete, since it always detects when a new variable is read, if it is read at the same time in both u and v, and if the content of the suffixes is the same, as well as if the content of u and v is the same.

Taking into consideration that operations of addition and comparing numbers are logarithmic time in a Turing machine model, and that accessing coordinates of vectors is a linear-time operation, we have that comparing the content vectors *C* and *D* takes at most $O(k\log(k))$ time, and updating them takes $O(k\log(k))$ time as well. On the other hand, checking if a variable occurs in \overleftarrow{s} takes O(k) time. As such, each iteration of the **for** loop has time complexity $O(k\log(k))$. Since there are *k* iterations of the loop, and no other part of the algorithm takes as much time as the loop, we can conclude that Algorithm 5 has time complexity $O(k^2\log(k))$.

Corollary 6.2.10. The decision problem CHECK-ID(sylv) belongs to the complexity class P.

By parallel reasoning, we can also construct an algorithm that checks if identities hold in sylv[#], with time complexity $O(k^2 \log(k))$. From that algorithm and Algorithm 5, we can construct another algorithm for the Baxter case, also with polynomial time complexity. As such, we also have the following corollary:

Corollary 6.2.11. The decision problems $CHECK-ID(sylv^{\#})$ and CHECK-ID(baxt) belong to the complexity class P.

We can easily obtain some important non-trivial identities satisfied by these monoids:

Example 6.2.12. Recall that the following non-trivial identities, given in Example 6.1.3, are satisfied by the hypoplactic monoid:

$$xyzxty \approx yxzxty;$$
 (L)

$$xzxytx \approx xzyxtx;$$
 (M)

$$xzytxy \approx xzytyx.$$
 (R)

The sylvester monoid satisfies (L), but satisfies neither (M) nor (R). On the other hand, the #-sylvester monoid satisfies (R), but satisfies neither (L) nor (M).

The Baxter monoid satisfies the following non-trivial identities:

$$xzyt xy rxsy \approx xzyt yx rxsy; \tag{O}$$

$$xzyt xy rysx \approx xzyt yx rysx.$$
 (E)

These identities form bases for the varieties generated by the sylvester monoid, as stated in Theorem 7.1.5, the #-sylvester monoid, as stated in Theorem 7.1.6, and the Baxter monoid, as stated in Theorem 7.1.7.

The following corollaries will be important in Subsection 7.1.2:

Corollary 6.2.13. The shortest non-trivial identities, with n variables, satisfied by sylv or by sylv[#], are of length n + 2.

Proof. Since any identity satisfied by sylv must also be satisfied by hypo, and since the shortest non-trivial identity, with n variables, satisfied by hypo, is of length n + 2 (see 6.1.8), then a non-trivial identity, with n variables, satisfied by sylv, must be of length at least n + 2.

On the other hand, by Theorem 6.2.1, it is immediate that

$$xya_1 \dots a_{n-2}yx \approx yxa_1 \dots a_{n-2}yx$$

is an identity satisfied by sylv, for variables $x, y, a_1, \ldots, a_{n-2}$.

The reasoning for identities satisfied by sylv[#] is parallel to the one given previously.

Corollary 6.2.14. The shortest non-trivial identity, with n variables, satisfied by baxt, is of length n + 4.

Proof. It is immediate, by Theorem 6.2.3, that for variables $x, y, a_1 \dots a_{n-2}$,

$$xy xy a_1 \dots a_{n-2}yx \approx xy yx a_1 \dots a_{n-2}yx$$

is an identity satisfied by baxt.

On the other hand, let $u \approx v$ be a non-trivial identity, with *n* variables, satisfied by baxt, such that u = wxu' and v = wyv', for some words w, u', v' over the alphabet of variables *X*. Notice that, since $u \approx v$ is satisfied by baxt, it must be balanced, hence cont(xu') = cont(yv'). Therefore, *x* must occur in *v'* and *y* must occur in *u'*.

Observe that y must occur in w, otherwise, we would have $o_{x \to y}(u) > o_{x \to y}(v)$. Similarly, x must occur in w. On the other hand, by Corollary 6.2.8, x must occur in u' and y must occur in v', since |u'| = |v'|. Therefore, x and y both occur at least three times each in u and v. Since $u \approx v$ is an identity with n variables, it must be of length at least n + 4. \Box

Finally, we can also clarify the relation between the Baxter monoids and the plactic monoids:

Corollary 6.2.15. The variety generated by baxt is strictly contained in the variety generated by plac₂.

Proof. Let $u \approx v$ be an identity satisfied by plac₂. Thus, it must be a balanced identity. Let $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that $o_{x \to y}(u) > o_{x \to y}(v)$. Let

$$u = u_1 y u_2$$
 and $v = v_1 y v_2$,

where u_1 (respectively, v_1) is the longest prefix of u (respectively, v) where y does not occur. Since the equational theory of the variety generated by plac₂ is left 1-hereditary (see Section 3.1), then $u_1 \approx v_1$ must be satisfied by plac₂. Hence, it must be a balanced identity. But $|u_1|_x = o_{x \to y}(u) > o_{x \to y}(v) = |v_1|_x$. We have reached a contradiction, hence, $o_{x \to y}(u) \neq o_{x \to y}(v)$.

By this reasoning, we prove that $o_{x \to y}(u) = o_{x \to y}(v)$ and $o_{x \leftarrow y}(u) = o_{x \leftarrow y}(v)$. Hence, by Theorem 6.2.3, $u \approx v$ must be satisfied by baxt.

On the other hand, it is well-known that the shortest non-trivial identity satisfied by the bicyclic monoid is Adjan's identity $xyyxxyxyx \approx xyyxyxyyx$ (see [Adj66]). Since plac₂ satisfies exactly the same identities as the bicyclic monoid (see [DJK18, Theorem 4.1]), plac₂ does not satisfy any non-trivial identity of length less than 10. But baxt satisfies an identity of length 6, as seen in Corollary 6.2.6. Thus, not all identities satisfied by baxt are satisfied by plac₂.

Therefore, as a consequence of Birkhoff's Theorem, the variety generated by baxt is strictly contained in the variety generated by $plac_2$.

7

VARIETIES GENERATED BY THE PLACTIC-LIKE MONOIDS

In this chapter, we obtain finite bases for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} , \mathcal{V}_{sylv} , $\mathcal{V}_{sylv}^{\#}$ and \mathcal{V}_{baxt} , using the identities given in Examples 6.1.3 and 6.2.12, and also their axiomatic ranks. We then show how to subdirectly represent finitely generated multihomogeneous monoids by subdirectly irreducible monoids.

The results in Subsection 7.1.1 have appeared in [CMR21a], while the results in Subsection 7.1.2 are to appear in the submitted paper [CMR21b]. The results in Section 7.2 are new, to the best of the author's knowledge.

7.1 Finite bases and axiomatic rank

7.1.1 The axiomatic rank of the variety generated by the hypoplactic monoid

The aim of this subsection is to prove that not only \mathcal{V}_{hypo} has finite axiomatic rank, but that it is also finitely based. We give a basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} with three identities, all of them over a four-symbol alphabet, each of length 6. This basis is minimal, in the sense that no identity in this basis is a consequence of the others, and also that each identity is of minimal length, for identities satisfied by hypo over a four-symbol alphabet. Furthermore, we also prove that there exists no basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} with only identities over an alphabet with at most three variables, thus showing that the axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is 4.

Theorem 7.1.1. \mathcal{V}_{hypo} admits a finite basis \mathcal{B}_{hypo} , consisting of the following identities:

$$xyzxty \approx yxzxty;$$
 (L)

$$xzxytx \approx xzyxtx;$$
 (M)

$$xzytxy \approx xzytyx.$$
 (R)

Proof. Let \mathcal{B}_{hypo} be the set comprising the three identities (L), (M) and (R). Notice that these identities are the ones given in Example 6.1.3.

The proof will be by induction, in the following sense: We order identities by the length of the common prefix of both sides of the identity. The induction will be on the

length of the suffix, that is, the length of the identity minus the length of the common prefix.

The base case for the induction, for identities of length n (with $n \ge 4$), is the identities of the form

$$wxy \approx wyx$$
,

where *w* is a word of length n - 2 and *x*, *y* are variables. Observe that, since any identity $u \approx v$ satisfied by hypo is a balanced identity, there are no non-trivial identities, of length *n*, with a common prefix of length greater than n - 2, satisfied by hypo. That is, the suffix after the common prefix must have length at least 2. Furthermore, since *wxy* admits a subsequence *xy* and *wyx* admits a subsequence *yx*, then *x* and *y* must both occur in *w*. Thus, *w* is of the form

$$w_1 x w_2 y w_3$$
 or $w_1 y w_2 x w_3$,

for some words w_1, w_2, w_3 . Therefore, by replacing *z* with w_2 , and *t* by w_3 , and, if necessary, renaming *x* and *y*, we can immediately deduce this identity from the identity (R) of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} . Notice that, when n = 4, the base case corresponds to the identities given in Corollary 6.1.2.

The idea of the proof of the induction step is that, for any identity $u \approx v$, we can apply identities of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} , finitely many times, to deduce a new identity $u \approx u^*$ from $u \approx v$, such that u^* is "closer" to v than u, in the sense that u^* and v have a common prefix which is strictly longer than the common prefix of u and v. Notice that $u^* \approx v$ is a consequence of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} , by the induction hypothesis. As such, we can conclude that $u \approx v$ is a consequence of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} .

The technical part of the proof allows us to show that there is always a way to shuffle some variables of u in such a way that we obtain u^* . We show that these variables must occur several times in u, thus allowing us to apply the identities of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} to shuffle u and obtain u^* .

Let $u \approx v$ be a non-trivial identity satisfied by hypo. Then, it must be a balanced identity, by Theorem 6.1.1. Since $u \approx v$ is a non-trivial identity, we must have u = wxu' and v = wyv', for some words w, u', v' over supp $(u \approx v)$ and variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$ such that $x \neq y$. Notice that u' and v' cannot be the empty word, otherwise, we would have u = wx and v = wy, which contradicts the fact that cont(u) = cont(v).

On the other hand, since cont(xu') = cont(yv'), we have that *y* occurs in *u'*. Thus, to distinguish the leftmost *y* in *u'*, we have that

$$xu' = u_1 a y u_2,$$

for some variable *a* and words u_1 and u_2 , such that *y* does not occur in u_1 and $a \neq y$. Once again, since cont(xu') = cont(yv'), we have that *a* occurs in *v'*. Thus, to distinguish the leftmost *a* in *v'*, we have that

$$v' = v_1 a v_2$$
,

for some words v_1 and v_2 , such that *a* does not occur in v_1 . To sum up, we have that

$$u = wu_1 a y u_2$$
 and $v = w y v_1 a v_2$,

where y does not occur in u_1 and a does not occur in v_1 .

Notice that u admits ay as a subsequence, hence, v must also do so. Thus, either a occurs in w, or y occurs in v_2 , since a does not occur in v_1 . But if y occurs in v_2 , then it must also occur in u_2 , since cont(xu') = cont(yv') and y does not occur in u_1 .

On the other hand, notice that v admits ya as a subsequence, hence, u must also do so. Thus, either y occurs in w, or a occurs in u_2 , since y does not occur in u_1 .

As such, we have four possible cases to look at:

Case 1. Both variables y and a occur in w. Then, we can deduce the word wu_1yau_2 from u, by applying the identity (R), renaming x to a.

Case 2. Both variables y and a occur in u_2 . Then, we can deduce the word wu_1yau_2 from u, by applying the identity (L), renaming x to a.

Case 3. Variable *y* occurs in both *w* and u_2 . Then, we can deduce the word wu_1yau_2 from *u*, by applying the identity (M), renaming *x* to *y* and *y* to *a*.

Case 4. Variable *a* occurs in both *w* and u_2 . Then, we can deduce the word wu_1yau_2 from *u*, by applying the identity (M), renaming *x* to *a*.

Observe that we can repeatedly apply this reasoning until we obtain a word of the form

$$u^* = wyu^{\prime\prime},$$

for some word u'', since the only restriction imposed on the variable *a* was that $a \neq y$. Thus, we have proven that, for any non-trivial identity $u \approx v$ satisfied by hypo, we can obtain a new word u^* from *u* such that the common prefix of u^* and *v* is strictly longer than the common prefix of *u* and *v*, by applying identities of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} finitely many times.

By induction, we conclude that $u \approx v$ is a consequence of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} , thus proving that \mathcal{B}_{hypo} is a basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} .

Since \mathcal{V}_{hypo} admits a finite basis, it has finite axiomatic rank. In order to determine the axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} , we first check if all identities in \mathcal{B}_{hypo} are necessary in order to obtain a basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} . It is easy to see that right zero semigroups satisfy identities (L) and (M), but not the identity (R), and left zero semigroups satisfy (R) and (M), but not (L). Thus, (L) and (R) are not consequences of the other identities in \mathcal{B}_{hypo} .

On the other hand, consider the monoid $R_1(2) = \langle e, g | ge = e = eg^2, g^3 = g, e^2 = e^3 = e^2g \rangle$, with multiplication table:

| | 1 | g | е | eg | 0 |
|----|----|----|---|----|---|
| 1 | 1 | g | е | eg | 0 |
| g | g | 1 | е | eg | 0 |
| е | е | eg | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| eg | eg | е | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

This monoid is a noncryptic monoid (that is, Green's relation \mathcal{H} is not a congruence on it), that belongs to a family of monoids which generate all minimal noncryptic monoid varieties (see [PV06]). It consists of an ideal extension of a null semigroup $K = \{e, eg\}$ by the 2-element cyclic group with a zero adjoined $C_2^0 = \{0, 1, g\}$. Notice that $g^2 = 1$ and $e^2 = 0$.

The monoid $R_1(2)$ satisfies (L) and (R): If we substitute all variables with elements of C_2^0 , we get equality by commutativity. If, after substituting, we have more than one element of *K* on each side, both sides equal 0. So we are left with the case of substituting a variable that appears once (either *z* or *t*) with an element of *K* and everything else with elements of C_2^0 . But since *z* and *t* are in the same position on both sides of the identities, and whichever elements of C_2^0 are substituted for *x* and *y* commute, the result is the same. However, $R_1(2)$ does not satisfy (M): Taking the evaluation ψ such that $\psi(y) = e$ and $\psi(x) = \psi(z) = \psi(t) = g$, we get

$$\psi(xzxytx) = g^3 eg^2 = e \neq eg = g^2 eg^3 = \psi(xzyxtx).$$

Since no identity of \mathcal{B}_{hypo} is a consequence of the other identities also in \mathcal{B}_{hypo} , we conclude that \mathcal{B}_{hypo} is minimal, in the sense that it does not contain any proper subset which is also a basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} .

We now show that the identities (L) and (R) are required to be in any basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} which contains only identities over an alphabet with four variables:

Proposition 7.1.2. Neither of the identities (L) or (R) is a consequence of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by hypo, over an alphabet with four variables, excluding itself (but not the other) and equivalent identities.

Proof. We prove the result for the identity (L). Parallel reasoning shows the analogous result for (R).

Let $X = \{x, y, z, t\}$ be an alphabet with four variables and let S be the set of all non-trivial identities, satisfied by hypo, over X, excluding (L) and equivalent identities. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that (L) is a consequence of S. As such, there must exist a non-trivial identity $u \approx v$ in S, and a substitution σ , such that

$$xyzxty = w_1\sigma(u)w_2$$
,

where w_1, w_2 are words over X, and $\sigma(u) \neq \sigma(v)$. Notice that $u \approx v$ must be balanced, and that there must be at least two variables in supp $(u \approx v)$, otherwise, $u \approx v$ would be a trivial identity.

Observe that if the substitution σ maps some variables in supp $(u \approx v)$ to the empty word, then $\sigma(u) = \sigma(u')$ and $\sigma(v) = \sigma(v')$, where u' and v' are words obtained by eliminating every occurrence of such variables in u and v, respectively. Hence, we have that

$$xyzxty = w_1\sigma(u')w_2.$$

Notice that $u' \approx v'$ is an identity satisfied by hypo, which cannot be trivial, otherwise we would have $\sigma(u) = \sigma(u') = \sigma(v') = \sigma(v)$. Thus, $u' \approx v'$ is also in S. On the other hand, notice that σ does not map any variable occurring in u' and v' to the empty word. As such, any case where σ maps any variable to the empty word guarantees the existence of another case where it does not map any variable to the empty word.

Therefore, we can assume, without loss of generality, that σ does not map any variable to the empty word. Due to this, and since (L) is an identity where *x* and *y* occur two times, and *t* and *z* each occur one time, we have that each variable in supp($u \approx v$) can occur at most two times, and only two variables can occur more than one time. Furthermore, by Corollary 6.1.8, which gives us a lower bound for the length of the identities, we have that $u \approx v$ is of length at least 4. Thus, up to renaming of variables, *x* and *y* occur exactly twice in $u \approx v$, and *t* and *z* can occur at most one time.

Suppose now, in order to obtain a contradiction, that $w_1 \neq \varepsilon$. Then, since $u \approx v$ is of length at least 4, we must have w_1 of length at most 2, that is, w_1 is either x or xy. Therefore, x can occur only once in $\sigma(u)$. But x and y occur twice in u, and σ does not map any variable to the empty word, hence, there must be at least two variables which occur twice in $\sigma(u)$. However, only x and y occur twice in xyzxty. We have reached a contradiction, hence, $w_1 = \varepsilon$. Using a similar argument, we can also conclude that $w_2 = \varepsilon$. Therefore, we have that

$$xyzxty = \sigma(u).$$

As such, we can immediately conclude that only up to three variables occur in $u \approx v$: If $u \approx v$ were to be a four-variable identity, then it would be of length 6, and σ would be simply renaming the variables, thus implying that $u \approx v$ was equivalent to (L), which contradicts our hypothesis.

Suppose that $u \approx v$ is a two-variable identity. Hence, it is of length 4 and *x* and *y* both occur twice in it. Since $xyzxty = \sigma(u)$, then either $\sigma(x)$ or $\sigma(y)$ must be a single variable, and the other must be of length 2. Since no variable occurs more than twice in $\sigma(u)$, this implies that three variables occur twice in $\sigma(u)$. But *x* and *y* are the only variables which occur twice in xyzxty. We have reached a contradiction, hence, $u \approx v$ is not a two-variable identity.

Then, $u \approx v$ must be a three-variable identity. Hence, it is of length 5, with x and y occurring twice and z occurring once in it. Notice that $\sigma(x)$ and $\sigma(y)$ must be single variables, otherwise, the length of $\sigma(u)$ would be greater than 6. These variables cannot be z or t, since they occur only once in xyzxty. Therefore, $\sigma(z)$ must be a factor of xyzxty of length 2. But neither x nor y can occur in $\sigma(z)$, hence, this factor cannot exist, and subsequently, σ cannot exist.

As such, we can conclude that (L) is not a consequence of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by hypo, over an alphabet with four variables, excluding (L) itself and equivalent identities. \Box Therefore, we can conclude that \mathcal{V}_{hypo} does not admit any basis with only identities over an alphabet with two or three variables. In other words, we have that:

Corollary 7.1.3. The axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{hypo} is 4.

Another consequence of the previous proposition is the following:

Corollary 7.1.4. Any basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} with only identities over an alphabet with four variables must contain the identities (L) and (R), or equivalent identities.

Furthermore, since (M) is not a consequence of (L) and (R), any basis for \mathcal{V}_{hypo} with only identities over an alphabet with four variables must contain at least three identities, one of which must be either (M), an equivalent identity, or an identity of which (M) is a consequence.

7.1.2 The axiomatic rank of the varieties generated by the sylvester,#-sylvester and Baxter monoids

Now, we prove that that the varieties generated by the sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter monoids are finitely based and, therefore, have finite axiomatic rank. We give bases for \mathcal{V}_{sylv} and $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$ with one identity each, of length 6, over a four-symbol alphabet. Trivially, these bases are minimal with regards to the number of identities in the basis; they are also minimal with regards to the number of variables occurring in these identities, and the length of these identities. We also give a basis for \mathcal{V}_{baxt} , with two identities, of length 10, over a six-symbol alphabet. This basis is also minimal with regards to the number of variables occurring in these identities, and the length of the basis, the number of variables occurring in these identities, and the length of these identities. We also give a basis for \mathcal{V}_{baxt} , with two identities, of length 10, over a six-symbol alphabet. This basis is also minimal with regards to the number of variables occurring in these identities, and the length of these identities.

Furthermore, we also prove that there exist no bases for \mathcal{V}_{sylv} or $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$ with only identities over an alphabet with at most three variables, thus showing that the axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{sylv} and $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$ is 4. We also prove that there exists no basis for \mathcal{V}_{baxt} with only identities over an alphabet with at most five variables, thus showing that the axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{baxt} is 6.

Theorem 7.1.5. \mathcal{V}_{sylv} admits a finite basis \mathcal{B}_{sylv} , consisting of the following identity:

$$xyzxty \approx yxzxty.$$
 (L)

Proof. The proof follows the same overall strategy as the proof of Theorem 7.1.1. Let \mathcal{B}_{sylv} be the set of identities which contains only the identity (L). Notice that this identity is given in Example 6.2.12.

The proof will be by induction, in the following sense: We order identities by the length of the common suffix of both sides of the identity. The induction will be on the length of the prefix, that is, the length of the identity minus the length of the common suffix.

The base case for the induction, for identities of length n (with $n \ge 4$), is the identities of the form

$$xyw \approx yxw$$
,

where *w* is a word of length n - 2 and x, y are variables. Observe that, since any identity $u \approx v$ satisfied by sylv is a balanced identity, there are no non-trivial identities, of length n, with a common suffix of length greater than n - 2, satisfied by sylv. That is, the prefix before the common suffix must have length at least 2. Furthermore, x and y must both occur in w, otherwise, we would have $o_{x \leftarrow y}(xyw) > o_{x \leftarrow y}(yxw)$ or $o_{y \leftarrow x}(xyw) < o_{y \leftarrow x}(yxw)$. Thus, w is of the form

$$w_1 x w_2 y w_3$$
 or $w_1 y w_2 x w_3$,

for some words w_1, w_2, w_3 . Therefore, by replacing *z* with w_1 , and *t* by w_2 , and, if necessary, renaming *x* and *y*, we can immediately deduce this identity from the identity (L). Notice that, when n = 4, the base case corresponds to the identity given in Corollary 6.2.4.

Let $u \approx v$ be a non-trivial identity satisfied by sylv. Then, it must be a balanced identity, by Theorem 6.2.1. Since $u \approx v$ is a non-trivial identity, we must have u = u'xw and v = v'yw, for some words w, u', v' over supp $(u \approx v)$ and variables $x, y \in \text{supp}(u \approx v)$ such that $x \neq y$. Notice that u' and v' cannot be the empty word, otherwise, we would have u = xw and v = yw, which contradicts the fact that cont(u) = cont(v).

On the other hand, since cont(u'x) = cont(v'y), we have that *y* occurs in *u'*. Thus, to distinguish the rightmost *y* in *u'*, we have that

$$u'x = u_1yau_2,$$

for some variable *a* and words u_1 and u_2 , such that *y* does not occur in u_2 and $a \neq y$. Once again, since cont(u'x) = cont(v'y), we have that *a* occurs in *v'*. Thus, to distinguish the rightmost *a* in *v'*, we have that

$$v' = v_1 a v_2,$$

for some words v_1 and v_2 , such that *a* does not occur in v_2 . To sum up, we have that

$$u = u_1 y a u_2 w$$
 and $v = v_1 a v_2 y w$,

where *y* does not occur in u_2 and *a* does not occur in v_2 .

By Theorem 6.2.1, y must occur in w, otherwise, we would have $o_{y \leftarrow x}(u) > o_{y \leftarrow x}(v)$. Thus, a must also occur in w, otherwise, we would have $o_{a \leftarrow y}(u) < o_{a \leftarrow y}(v)$. As such, we can deduce the word $u_1 ay u_2 w$, by applying the identity (L) to u, renaming x to a and replacing z and t by the appropriate words.

Observe that we can repeatedly apply this reasoning until we obtain a word of the form

$$u^* = u^{\prime\prime}yw,$$

for some word u'', since the only restriction imposed on the variable *a* was that $a \neq y$. Thus, we have proven that, for any non-trivial identity $u \approx v$ satisfied by sylv, we can obtain a new word u^* from u such that the common suffix of u^* and v is strictly longer than the common suffix of u and v, by applying the identity (L) finitely many times.

By induction, we conclude that $u \approx v$ is a consequence of \mathcal{B}_{sylv} , thus proving that \mathcal{B}_{sylv} is a basis for \mathcal{V}_{sylv} .

By the same reasoning, we can also prove the following result:

Theorem 7.1.6. $\mathcal{V}_{svlv^{\#}}$ admits a finite basis $\mathcal{B}_{svlv^{\#}}$, consisting of the following identity:

$$xzytxy \approx xzytyx.$$
 (R)

Proof. The proof follows the same reasoning as the proof of Theorem 7.1.5, the main difference being that, within a set of identities of the same length, they are ordered on the length of the common prefix of both sides of the identity, and the induction is on the length of the suffix. The induction step resorts to Theorem 6.2.2.

We also use the same reasoning to prove the following theorem:

Theorem 7.1.7. $\mathcal{V}_{\text{baxt}}$ admits a finite basis $\mathcal{B}_{\text{baxt}}$, consisting of the following identities:

$$xzyt xy rxsy \approx xzyt yx rxsy; \tag{O}$$

$$xzyt xy rysx \approx xzyt yx rysx.$$
 (E)

Proof. The proof follows the same overall strategy as the proof of Theorem 7.1.5. As such, we only give the reasoning for the base case and the induction step.

The base case for the induction on the length of the prefix before the common suffix, for identities of length n (with $n \ge 6$), is the identities of the form

$$xyxyw \approx xyyxw$$
,

where *w* is a word of length n - 4 and x, y are variables. Notice that both sides of the identity must have a prefix of the form xy, due to Corollary 6.2.8. By the same reason, observe that, since any identity $u \approx v$ satisfied by baxt is a balanced identity, there are no non-trivial identities, of length *n*, with a common suffix of length greater than n - 4, satisfied by baxt. Furthermore, *x* and *y* must both occur in *w*, otherwise, we would have $o_{x \leftarrow v}(xyw) > o_{x \leftarrow v}(yxw)$. Thus, *w* is of the form

$$w_1 x w_2 y w_3$$
 or $w_1 y w_2 x w_3$,

for some words w_1, w_2, w_3 . Therefore, by replacing *z* and *t* with the empty word, *r* with w_1 , and *s* by w_2 , and, if necessary, renaming *x* and *y*, we can immediately deduce this identity from the identity (O) or the identity (E), depending on the form of *w*. Notice that, when n = 6, the base case corresponds to the identities given in Corollary 6.2.6.

Let $u \approx v$ be a non-trivial identity satisfied by baxt. Then, it must be a balanced identity, by Theorem 6.2.3. Since $u \approx v$ is a non-trivial identity, we must have u = u'xw

and v = v'yw, for some words w, u', v' over $supp(u \approx v)$ and variables $x, y \in supp(u \approx v)$ such that $x \neq y$. By Corollary 6.2.8, we have that x must occur at least once in u' and wand at least twice in v', and y must occur at least twice in u' and at least once in v' and w. Thus, to distinguish the leftmost y in u', we have that

$$u'x = u_1yau_2$$

for some variable *a* and words u_1 and u_2 , such that *y* does not occur in u_2 and $a \neq y$. Notice that *y* must occur in u_1 . Since cont(u'x) = cont(v'y), we have that *a* occurs in *v'*. Thus, to distinguish the rightmost *a* in *v'*, we have that

$$v' = v_1 a v_2$$

for some words v_1 and v_2 , such that *a* does not occur in v_2 . To sum up, we have that

$$u = u_1 y a u_2 w$$
 and $v = v_1 a v_2 y w$,

where *y* occurs in u_1 but not in u_2 and *a* does not occur in v_2 .

Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that *a* does not occur in u_1 . This implies that $|u'|_v = o_{v \to a}(u)$. But $|u'|_v = |v'|_v + 1$, hence

$$o_{y \to a}(v) \le |v'|_y < |u'|_y = o_{y \to a}(u).$$

Thus, by Theorem 6.2.3, we obtain a contradiction. As such, *a* must occur in u_1 . By the same theorem, *a* must occur in *w* as well, otherwise, we would have $o_{a \leftarrow y}(u) < o_{a \leftarrow y}(v)$. Therefore, *y* and *a* both occur at least once in u_1 and *w*. As such, we can deduce the word $u_1 ay u_2 w$, by applying the identity (O) or the identity (E) to *u*, depending on where *y* and *a* occur in u_1 and *w*, renaming *x* to *a* and replacing the remaining variables by the appropriate words.

The identities in \mathcal{B}_{baxt} also form a basis for either of the varieties generated by, respectively, the monoids $2\mathfrak{Cob}_1^\circ$ and $\overline{2\mathfrak{Cob}_1^\circ}$, the endomorphism monoids (or local monoids) at object 1 of the categories $2\mathfrak{Cob}^\circ$ and $\overline{2\mathfrak{Cob}^\circ}$ (see [AV20, Theorem 5.7]). These are intermediary categories between, respectively, the category $2\mathfrak{Cob}$ of 2-cobordisms and the (undeformed) partition category \mathfrak{P} , and the regular category $\overline{2\mathfrak{Cob}}$ (a regular version of $2\mathfrak{Cob}$) and \mathfrak{P} , which appear in mathematical physics and representation theory. Furthermore, the varieties generated by any other endomorphism monoids of $2\mathfrak{Cob}^\circ$ and $\overline{2\mathfrak{Cob}}^\circ$, as well as the varieties generated by any endomorphism monoids of $2\mathfrak{Cob}$ and $\overline{2\mathfrak{Cob}}$, are not finitely based (see [AV20, Theorem 5.6]).

Since they admit finite bases, the varieties \mathcal{V}_{sylv} , $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$ and \mathcal{V}_{baxt} have finite axiomatic rank. By Proposition 7.1.2, we know that the identities (L) and (R) are not consequences of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by hypo, over an alphabet with four variables, excluding themselves and equivalent identities. Since the identities satisfied by sylv and sylv[#] must also be satisfied by hypo, we can conclude the following:

Corollary 7.1.8. The identity (L) is not a consequence of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by sylv, over an alphabet with four variables, excluding (L) itself and equivalent identities. Furthermore, any basis for \mathcal{V}_{sylv} with only identities over an alphabet with four variables must contain the identity (L), or an equivalent identity.

Corollary 7.1.9. The identity (R) is not a consequence of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by sylv[#], over an alphabet with four variables, excluding (R) itself and equivalent identities. Furthermore, any basis for $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$ with only identities over an alphabet with four variables must contain the identity (R), or an equivalent identity.

Hence, \mathcal{V}_{sylv} and $\mathcal{V}_{sylv^{\#}}$ do not admit any bases with only identities over an alphabet with two or three variables. In other words, we have that:

Corollary 7.1.10. The axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{svlv} and $\mathcal{V}_{svlv^{\#}}$ is 4.

We now show that the identities (O) and (E) must be in any basis for $\mathcal{V}_{\text{baxt}}$ which contains only identities over an alphabet with six variables:

Proposition 7.1.11. Neither of the identities (O) or (E) is a consequence of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by baxt, over an alphabet with six variables, excluding itself (but not the other) and equivalent identities.

Proof. We prove the result for the identity (O). Parallel reasoning shows the analogous result for (E).

Let $X = \{x, y, z, t, r, s\}$ be an alphabet with six variables and let S be the set of all nontrivial identities, satisfied by baxt, over X, excluding (O) and equivalent identities. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that (O) is a consequence of S. As such, there must exist a non-trivial identity $u \approx v$ in S, and a substitution σ , such that

$$xzyt xy rxsy = w_1 \sigma(u) w_2$$
,

where w_1, w_2 are words over *X*, and $\sigma(u) \neq \sigma(v)$. Notice that $u \approx v$ must be balanced, and that there must be at least two variables in supp $(u \approx v)$, otherwise, $u \approx v$ would be a trivial identity.

By the same reasoning as in the proof of 7.1.2, we can assume, without loss of generality, that σ does not map any variable to the empty word. Due to this, and since only x and y occur three times in xzyt xy rxsy, and all other variables each occur one time, we have that each variable in $supp(u \approx v)$ can occur at most three times, and only two variables can occur more than one time. Furthermore, by Corollary 6.2.14, which gives us a lower bound for the length of the identities, we have that $u \approx v$ is of length at least 6. Notice that it is exactly of length 6 if only two variables occur in it. Thus, up to renaming of variables, x and y occur exactly three times in $u \approx v$, and t, z, r and s can occur at most one time.

Suppose now, in order to obtain a contradiction, that $w_1 \neq \varepsilon$. Then, since $u \approx v$ is of length at least 6, we must have w_1 of length at most 4, that is, w_1 is either *x*, *xz*, *xzy* or

xzyt. Therefore, *x* can occur only twice in $\sigma(u)$. But *x* and *y* occur three times in *u*, and σ does not map any variable to the empty word, hence, there must be at least two variables which occur three times in $\sigma(u)$. However, only *x* and *y* occur three times in *xzyt xy rxsy*. We have reached a contradiction, hence, $w_1 = \varepsilon$. Using a similar argument, we can also conclude that $w_2 = \varepsilon$. Therefore, we have that

$$xzyt xy rxsy = \sigma(u).$$

As such, we can immediately conclude that only up to five variables occur in $u \approx v$: If $u \approx v$ were to be a six-variable identity, then it would be of length 10, and σ would be simply renaming the variables, thus implying that $u \approx v$ was equivalent to (O), which contradicts our hypothesis.

Notice that, regardless of the number of variables occurring in $u \approx v$, we have that both $\sigma(x)$ and $\sigma(y)$ are a single variable, otherwise, more than two variables would have to occur three times in *xzyt xy rxsy*, or one variable would have to occur six times. Furthermore, $\sigma(x)$ and $\sigma(y)$ can only be *x* or *y*, since these are the only variables occurring three times in *xzyt xy rxsy*. Hence, if $u \approx v$ is an identity where up to five variables occur, then $u \approx v$ cannot be a two-variable identity, and, furthermore, there is at least one variable *z* occurring in $u \approx v$ such that $\sigma(z)$ is of length at least 2, and neither *x* nor *y* can occur in $\sigma(z)$. This is impossible, since *x* or *y* occur in every factor of *xzyt xy rxsy* of length 2.

As such, we can conclude that (O) is not a consequence of the set of non-trivial identities, satisfied by baxt, over an alphabet with six variables, excluding (O) itself and equivalent identities. \Box

Therefore, we can conclude that $\mathcal{V}_{\text{baxt}}$ does not admit any basis with only identities over an alphabet with up to five variables. In other words, we have that:

Corollary 7.1.12. The axiomatic rank of \mathcal{V}_{baxt} is 6. Furthermore, any basis for \mathcal{V}_{baxt} with only identities over an alphabet with six variables must contain the identities (O) and (E), or equivalent identities.

7.2 Subdirect representations of multihomogeneous monoids

As seen in Section 3.2, finitely generated homogeneous monoids are residually finite. We now show that multihomogeneous monoids are residually finite, by classifying whether a Rees factor monoid of a multihomogeneous monoid is subdirectly irreducible or not, then constructing a subdirect representation by finite subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids. We also show that this representation can be used to prove that finitely generated homogeneous monoids are residually finite, however, we also show that it is not possible to subdirectly represent these monoids by subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids alone. We are unsure if these results are new, mainly due to the difficulty of finding results on multihomogeneous monoids, compared to the more general case of homogeneous monoids, and the different terminology used in the literature. Let *M* be a multihomogeneous monoid, and let $\langle X | \mathcal{R} \rangle$ be a monoid presentation for *M*. Recall that J(x) denotes the principal ideal generated by $x \in M$. Let

$$K_x = \{ y \in M : x \notin J(y) \}.$$

It is easy to see that K_x is an ideal: Let $y \in K_x$ and $z \in M$. Assume, in order to obtain a contradiction, that $yz \notin K_x$, that is, $x \in J(yz)$. Then, there exist $p, q \in M$ such that x = pyzq, which implies that $x \in J(y)$. Similarly, $zy \notin K_x$ implies that $x \in J(y)$. Hence, $yz, zy \in K_x$, for any $y \in K_x$ and $z \in M$.

Notice that all elements $y \in M \setminus K_x$ are such that $x \in J(y)$. On the other hand, since M is multihomogeneous, the content of the product of two elements of M is greater than the content of any one of those elements, when considering the componentwise order. As such, if $x \in J(y)$, then the content of x is greater than the content of y. Therefore, since there are finitely many elements of M whose content is less than or equal to the content of x, the Rees factor monoid M/K_x is finite.

Proposition 7.2.1. Let I be an ideal of a multihomogeneous monoid M. Then, M/I is subdirectly irreducible if and only if $I = K_x$, for some $x \in M$.

Proof. First of all, notice that, for $x \in M$, all elements of M whose length is greater than or equal to the length of x are in K_x , except for x itself.

For any $y, z \in M \setminus K_x$ such that $y \neq z$ and the length of y is less than or equal to the length of z, there exist $p, q \in M \setminus K_x$ such that pyq = x and $pzq \in K_x$: Since $y \notin K_x$, there exist $p, q \in M \setminus K_x$ such that pyq = x. On the other hand, since $y \neq z$ and M is multihomogeneous, then $cont(y) \neq cont(z)$, hence $cont(x) = cont(pyq) \neq cont(pzq)$. Since the length of y is less than or equal to the length of z, then the length of pzq is greater than or equal to the length of x, hence $pzq \neq x$ and, as such, $pzq \in K_x$.

As such, we have that any principal congruence in M/K_x contains the principal congruence generated by $([x]_{K_x}, K_x)$. Thus, $Con(M/K_x) \setminus \{\Delta_{M/K_x}\}$ has a minimum element, which implies that M/K_x is subdirectly irreducible.

On the other hand, let *I* be an ideal of *M* such that *M*/*I* is subdirectly irreducible. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there is no $x \in M \setminus I$ such that $J(x) \setminus I = \{x\}$. As such, there must exist a sequence $(x_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of elements in $M \setminus I$ such that $x_k \neq x_{k+1}$ and $x_{k+1} \in J(x_k) \setminus I$. Notice that the elements in this sequence are pairwise distinct, since *M* is multihomogeneous, therefore any element in $J(x_k)$ other than x_k itself must be of length strictly greater than x_k . Assume, without loss of generality, that $x_1 \neq 1_M$. As such, the length of x_k is greater than or equal to *k*, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus, if we take the principal congruence ρ_k of M/I generated by the pair $([x_k]_I, I)$, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we can see that $\rho_{k+1} \subsetneq \rho_k$. As such, we have an infinite chain of congruences on M/I. Notice that, for any $x, y \in M \setminus I$ such that $x \neq y$ and *l* is the maximum of the lengths of *x* and *y*, the pair $([x_I]_I, [y]_I)$ is not in ρ_{l+1} , since neither *x* nor *y* are in $J(x_{l+1})$. Therefore, the intersection of all congruences ρ_k is the identity relation, which implies that **Con** $(M/I) \setminus \{\Delta_M/I\}$ does not have a minimum congruence, and consequently M/I is not subdirectly irreducible. This contradicts our hypothesis.

Therefore, there exists at least an element $x \in M \setminus I$ such that $J(x) \setminus I = \{x\}$. Let z be such an element. Suppose, in order to obtain a contradiction, that there exists y in $M \setminus I$ such that $z \notin J(y)$. Then, $(J(y) \cap J(z)) \setminus I = \emptyset$, hence, the intersection of the principal congruence generated by the pair $([y]_I, I)$ and the principal congruence generated by the pair $([z]_I, I)$ is the identity relation $\Delta_{M/I}$. As such, **Con** $(M/I) \setminus \{\Delta_{M/I}\}$ does not have a minimum congruence, and consequently M/I is not subdirectly irreducible. This contradicts our hypothesis.

Therefore, there is only be one element $x \in M \setminus I$ such that $J(x) \setminus I = \{x\}$, and all other elements in $y \in M \setminus I$ are such that $x \in J(y)$. Therefore, $K_x \subseteq I$. On the other hand, if there were some $y \in I$ such that $y \notin K_x$, then $x \in J(y) \subseteq I$, which contradicts our hypothesis. Hence, $I = K_x$.

Define
$$\delta: M \longrightarrow \prod_{x \in M} M/K_x$$
 in the following way: For $x, y \in M$,

$$\pi_x(\delta(y)) = [y]_{K_x}.$$

Proposition 7.2.2. The map δ is a subdirect embedding of M into the indexed family $(M/K_x)_{x \in M}$ of subdirectly irreducible monoids.

Proof. It is clear that, by its definition, δ is a morphism. Let $p, q \in M$ be such that $p \neq q$. Then $p, q \in M \setminus K_{pq}$. Hence, we have that

$$\pi_{pq}\left(\delta(p)\right) = [p]_{K_{pq}} \neq [q]_{K_{pq}} = \pi_{pq}\left(\delta(q)\right),$$

therefore, $\delta(p) \neq \delta(q)$. Thus, δ is an embedding. Furthermore, it is easy to see that $\delta(M)$ is a subdirect product of the indexed family $(M/K_x)_{x \in M}$ of subdirectly irreducible monoids, since $\pi_x \circ \delta$ is the natural surjective map from M to M/K_x , for each $x \in M$.

We have managed to obtain a subdirect representation of a multihomogeneous monoid by its finite subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids. As such, we have the following corollary:

Corollary 7.2.3. Multihomogeneous monoids are residually finite.

In particular, we have that the plactic-like monoids of infinite rank are residually finite. It is also easy to see that all multihomogeneous monoids are infinite, hence, we have the following

Corollary 7.2.4. No multihomogeneous monoid is subdirectly irreducible.

In the more general case of homogeneous monoids, the map δ is not necessarily an embedding into a direct product of finite monoids: For example, consider the monoid M presented by $\langle \mathbb{N} | \mathcal{R} \rangle$, where \mathcal{R} is such that *abc* \mathcal{R} 111, for all *a*, *b*, *c* $\in \mathbb{N}$. Then, for all

elements *x* of length greater than or equal to 3, the Rees factor monoid M/K_x is not finite, since all elements $[a]_M$ are in $M \setminus K_x$, for each $a \in \mathbb{N}$.

On the other hand, if we discard all infinite monoids from the definition of δ , we no longer have an embedding. To clarify this, let M' be the subset of elements x of M such that M/K_x is finite and define $\delta': M \longrightarrow \prod_{x \in M'} M/K_x$ in the following way: For $x \in M'$ and $y \in M$,

$$\pi_x(\delta'(y)) = [y]_{K_x}.$$

Notice that the elements of M' are of the form $[a]_M$ or $[ab]_M$, where $a, b \in \mathbb{N}$ are not necessarily distinct. As such, all elements y of length greater than or equal to 3 are in K_x , for each $x \in M'$. Thus, we have that, for all $x \in M'$,

$$\pi_x(\delta'([123]_M)) = \left[[123]_M \right]_{K_x} = K_x = \left[[1234]_M \right]_{K_x} = \pi_x(\delta'([1234]_M))$$

hence $\delta'([123]_M) = \delta'([1234]_M)$. As such, δ' is not an embedding.

In the case of *finitely generated* homogeneous monoids, the δ is still an embedding into a direct product of finite monoids, since having a finite number of generators implies that there are finitely many words of length less than or equal to the length of an element $x \in M$, hence $M \setminus K_x$ is finite. This gives us an alternative proof to show that finitely generated homogeneous monoids are residually finite. However, Proposition 7.2.1 no longer holds, since the Rees factor monoids may no longer be subdirectly irreducible: For example, let $X = \{a, b\}$ and let \mathcal{R} be such that

$aab \mathcal{R} aba \mathcal{R} abb \mathcal{R} baa \mathcal{R} bab \mathcal{R} bba.$

Let *M* be the monoid presented by $\langle X | \mathcal{R} \rangle$. It is clear that *M* is a finitely generated homogeneous monoid. Furthermore, it is easy to see that, for any word $w \in X^*$ such that $|w| \ge 3$ and $\operatorname{supp}(w) = \{a, b\}$, then $w \mathcal{R} ba^{|w|-1}$. In other words, for words of length $k \ge 3$, there are only three possible elements of *M* which they can represent: a^k and b^k are, respectively, the sole representatives of $[a^k]_M$ and $[b^k]_M$, and all other words are representatives of $[ba^{k-1}]_M$.

As such, for $w \in X^*$ such that $|w| \ge 3$ and $supp(w) = \{a, b\}$, we have that, for any $p, q \in X^*$,

$$[p]_M \cdot [ab]_M \cdot [q]_M = [w]_M \iff [p]_M \cdot [ba]_M \cdot [q]_M = [w]_M.$$

Hence, in $M/K_{[w]_M}$, the intersection of the principal congruence generated by the pair

$$\left(\left[[ab]_M\right]_{K_{[w]_M}}, \left[[ba]_M\right]_{K_{[w]_M}}\right)$$

and the principal congruence generated by the pair

$$\left(\left[[w]_M\right]_{K_{[w]_M}}$$
, $K_{[w]_M}
ight)$

is the identity relation $\triangle_{M/K_{[w]_M}}$. Therefore $\operatorname{Con}(M/K_{[w]_M}) \setminus \{ \triangle_{M/K_{[w]_M}} \}$ does not have a minimum congruence, consequently $M/K_{[w]_M}$ is not subdirectly irreducible.

This shows that Proposition 7.2.2 does not hold for the case of finitely generated homogeneous monoids, that is, the embedding δ no longer gives a subdirect representation of a finitely generated homogeneous monoid by subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids.

On the other hand, if we discard all non-subdirectly irreducible monoids from the definition of δ , we no longer have an embedding. To clarify this, let M'' be the subset of elements x of M such that M/K_x is subdirectly irreducible. Define $\delta'': M \longrightarrow \prod_{x \in M''} M/K_x$ in the following way: For $x \in M''$ and $y \in M$,

$$\pi_x(\delta''(y)) = [y]_{K_x}.$$

For any word $w \in X^*$ such that $|w| \ge 3$ and $\operatorname{supp}(w) = \{a, b\}$ and any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, since $M/K_{[w]_M}$ is not subdirectly irreducible, and $[w]_M \in K_{a^k} \cap K_{b^k}$, we have that $[w]_M \in K_x$, for all $x \in M''$. Therefore, for any $x \in M''$, we have that

$$\pi_x(\delta^{\prime\prime}([aab]_M)) = \left[[aab]_M\right]_{K_x} = K_x = \left[[aabb]_M\right]_{K_x} = \pi_x(\delta^{\prime\prime}([aabb]_M)),$$

hence $\delta''([aab]_M) = \delta''([aabb]_M)$. As such, δ'' is not an embedding.

However, the proof of Proposition 7.2.1 still allows us to show that any subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoid of *M* is of the form K_x , for some $x \in M$. As such, we can conclude the following:

Corollary 7.2.5. Finitely generated homogeneous monoids are not subdirectly represented by subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids.

In conclusion, we have that multihomogeneous monoids are residually finite and subdirectly represented by finite subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids; finitely generated homogeneous monoids are residually finite, but not subdirectly represented by subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids; homogeneous monoids are neither necessarily residually finite, nor subdirectly represented by subdirectly irreducible Rees factor monoids.

Open problems

8

In this thesis, we have proved that the hypoplactic (respectively, sylvester, #-sylvester and Baxter) monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 satisfy exactly the same identities. We have obtained a characterization of these identities and shown that the identity checking problems for these monoids are in the complexity class P. Furthermore, we have obtained finite bases for the varieties generated by each of these monoids. However, there exist other plactic-like monoids, which are yet to be studied in such depth.

Recall that plactic-like monoids are quotients of the free monoid over an ordered alphabet, whose elements can be uniquely identified with combinatorial objects. Examples of other plactic-like monoids, besides those studied in this thesis, are the taiga monoid [Pri13], the monoid of binary search trees with multiplicities; the stalactic monoid [HNT08; Pri13], the monoid of stalactic tableaux; the left and right patience sorting monoids [CMS19; Rey07], the monoids of patience sorting tableaux; and the stylic monoid [AR21], the monoid of *N*-tableaux. With the exception of the stylic monoid, the identities satisfied by these monoids have been first studied in [CM18b] and, in the case of the left and right patience sorting monoids, in [CMS19]. It has been proven independently in [Cai+21, Corollary 5.10] and in [HZ21, Theorem 4.2] that the taiga and stalactic monoids of rank greater than or equal to 2 generate the same variety, which admits a finite basis consisting of the identity $xyx \approx yxx$. However, there are still questions to ask about these monoids:

Open Problems 1. Do all plactic-like monoids (except the plactic monoid itself) of rank higher than 2 embed into a direct product of copies of the corresponding monoid of rank 2? Can we obtain a complete characterization of the identities satisfied by these monoids? Do the identity checking problems for these monoids belong to the complexity class P? Do the varieties generated by these monoids admit finite bases?

Since the plactic-like monoids arise from the study of combinatorial Hopf algebras, whose bases are indexed by combinatorial objects, it is natural to ask if we can deduce results on these Hopf algebras from what we obtained on the plactic-like monoids. In particular, we ask the following:

Open Problems 2. Can we deduce identities satisfied by combinatorial Hopf algebras from the identities satisfied by their corresponding plactic-like monoids?

In this thesis, the plactic monoid of rank n was defined as a quotient of the free monoid over the ordered alphabet $A_n = \{1 < \dots < n\}$, by a presentation and by Young tableaux and the Schensted algorithm. Another possible way for the plactic monoid of rank n to arise is from the crystal basis for the q-analogue of the special linear Lie algebra \mathfrak{sl}_n , that is, the type A_{n+1} simple Lie algebra, which links the plactic monoid to Kashiwara's theory of crystal graphs [KN94]. The plactic congruence corresponds to isomorphisms between connected components of the crystal graphs. As such, the classical plactic monoid can be defined in terms of crystals of type A_n , and thus is said to be of type A_n .

Similarly, generalizations of the classical plactic monoid arise from the crystals of representations of other quantum algebras, namely symplectic Lie algebras \mathfrak{sp}_n (the type C_n simple Lie algebra), special orthogonal Lie algebras of odd and even rank \mathfrak{so}_{2n+1} and \mathfrak{so}_{2n} (the type B_n and D_n simple Lie algebras), and the exceptional simple Lie algebra G_2 [KS04; Lec02; Lec03; Lec07]. The plactic monoids of types B_n , C_n , D_n and G_2 can also be defined by presentations or by Young tableaux and the insertion algorithm, as detailed in [Lec07] and [CGM19].

On the other hand, the hypoplactic monoid [CM17] and the sylvester and Baxter monoids [CM18a] have been defined using a purely combinatorial notion of quasi-crystals. However, the corresponding monoids of types B_n , C_n , D_n and G_2 are yet to be defined. As such, we ask the following:

Open Problems 3. Is it possible to define all plactic-like monoids in terms of crystals or similar structures? Can generalized versions of these monoids, of types B_n , C_n , D_n and G_2 , also be defined? If such is possible, then can we obtain characterizations of the identities satisfied by these monoids, and other related results? And are these results connected to the previously obtained results on the monoids of type A_n ?

Structures are a generalization of algebras, defined as sets endowed with some relations (not necessarily functions). Automatic presentations for structures were first introduced by Khoussainov and Nerode [KN95] to extend finite model theory to infinite structures, in such a way that preserves the decidability of important decision problems. Informally, an automatic presentation for a structure consists of a regular language of abstract representatives for the elements of the structure such that the relations of the structure are all recognizable by synchronous finite automata. A structure that admits an automatic presentation is said to be FA-presentable. Many characterization and classification results have been obtained for FA-presentable structures of various kinds (see [Rub08]).

This concept was first applied to semigroups in [Cai+09], where a complete classification of finitely generated FA-presentable cancellative semigroups was given, along with a complete list of FA-presentable one-relation semigroups. In [Cai+10], the interaction of automatic presentations and several semigroup constructions was studied, and classifications for FA-presentable finitely generated Clifford semigroups, completely simple semigroups, and completely 0-simple semigroups were also given. In [CRT12], unary FA-presentable semigroups were studied, and unary FA-presentable completely simple semigroups were classified. Stuart Margolis asked [A. Cain, personal communication, 2008] if all monoids admitting automatic presentations satisfy non-trivial identities. All known examples satisfy identities, and the question is still open. In particular, Brough, Cain and Malheiro proved that finite rank plactic and hypoplactic monoids admit automatic presentations [A. Cain, personal communication]. As such, we ask the following:

Open Problems 4. Do all plactic-like monoids admit automatic presentations? Do all monoids admitting automatic presentations satisfy non-trivial identities?

As mentioned in Section 4.1, the plactic monoid of finite rank n does not satisfy any non-trivial identity of length less than or equal to n [Cai+17, Proposition 3.1]. This is the only known result on a lower bound for the minimum length of the identities satisfied by finite-rank plactic monoids. Recall that $plac_n$ must satisfy at least one non-trivial identity [JK21, Theorem 3.1]. Let l be the length of said identity. Then, by [Cai+17, Proposition 3.1], all plactic monoids of rank strictly greater than l do not satisfy that identity, hence they do not generate the same variety as $plac_n$. However, it is still unknown if $plac_m$ and $plac_n$ generate the same variety, for any $n < m \le l$. It is conceivable that there exists a hierarchy of plactic monoids of finite ranks, where each level consists of monoids which satisfy exactly the same identities.

The case of upper triangular tropical matrix monoids is similar, however, there is a method to construct identities satisfied by these monoids, given in [Izh14] (on which there is a mistake which voids the validity of the method, but which is corrected in an erratum) and in [Tay17, Section 3.2]. Unfortunately, the length of these identities is not explicitly stated, only an upper bound is given in [Izh14, Section 5]. However, due to the mistakes in the paper, this upper bound is for the length of identities which are not necessarily satisfied by upper triangular tropical matrix monoids, as shown in [Tay17, Section 3.2, Counterexample 3.2.1].

Although the length of the identities satisfied by the monoid of $n \times n$ upper triangular tropical matrices, given in [Tay17, Section 3.2], is not explicitly stated, it is easy to obtain, by noticing that the shortest (n-1)-power words of C and [n-1] used in their construction are in fact non-cyclic de Bruijn sequences of order n-1 on a size-2 alphabet [Bru46]. As such, these words have length $2^{n-1} + n - 2$, and the identities have length $2^{n+1} + 4n - 4$, which gives us an upper bound for the minimum length of the identities satisfied by upper triangular tropical matrix monoids. However, this upper bound is not tight, since there exist shorter identities satisfied by these monoids [Tay17, Proposition 3.2.30].

The plactic monoid of rank *n* must satisfy all identities satisfied by the monoid of $d \times d$ upper triangular tropical matrices [JK21, Corollary 3.3], where $d = \lfloor n^2/4 \rfloor + 1$, and all identities satisfied by plac_n must be satisfied by the monoid of $n \times n$ upper triangular

tropical matrices [JK21, Theorem 4.4]. As such, the minimum length l of the identities satisfied by $plac_n$ is such that

$$n \le l \le 2^{\lfloor n^2/4 \rfloor + 2} + n^2.$$

Recall that the variety generated by $plac_2$ coincides with the variety generated by the monoid of 2×2 upper triangular tropical matrices [Izh19, Corollary 7.19], and the variety generated by $plac_3$ coincides with the variety generated by the monoid of 3×3 upper triangular tropical matrices [JK21, Corollary 4.5]. However, it is still unknown if, for higher ranks, the varieties generated by plactic monoids and upper triangular tropical matrix monoids coincide.

Open Problems 5. Can these upper and lower bounds be improved, both in the case of the finite-rank plactic monoids and the case of upper triangular tropical matrix monoids? Do plactic monoids or upper triangular tropical matrix monoids of different finite ranks generate the same variety, and if so, which ones? Does the variety generated by a finite-rank plactic monoid always coincide with a variety generated by an upper triangular tropical matrix monoid?

Bibliography

- [AR21] A. Abram and C. Reutenauer. *The Stylic Monoid*. 2021. arXiv: 2106.06556 [math.C0] (cit. on p. 77).
- [Adj66] S. I. Adjan. "Defining relations and algorithmic problems for groups and semigroups". In: *Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov.* 85 (1966), p. 123. ISSN: 0371-9685 (cit. on pp. 1, 59).
- [AU92] A. V. Aho and J. D. Ullman. *Foundations of computer science*. Principles of Computer Science Series. Computer Science Press, New York, 1992, pp. xvi+765.
 ISBN: 0-7167-8233-2 (cit. on p. 24).
- [AV20] K. Auinger and M. Volkov. Equational theories of endomorphism monoids of categories with a topological flavor. 2020. arXiv: 2002.01016 [math.CT] (cit. on p. 69).
- [Bar+20] L. Barker, P. Fleischmann, K. Harwardt, F. Manea, and D. Nowotka. "Scattered factor-universality of words". In: *Developments in language theory*. Vol. 12086. Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci. Springer, Cham, 2020, pp. 14–28. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-48516-0_2. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-48516-0_2 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Bax64] G. Baxter. "On fixed points of the composite of commuting functions". In: *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 15 (1964), pp. 851–855. ISSN: 0002-9939. DOI: 10.2307/2034894. URL: https://doi.org/10.2307/2034894 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Ber12] C. Bergman. Universal algebra. Vol. 301. Pure and Applied Mathematics (Boca Raton). Fundamentals and selected topics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2012, pp. xii+308. ISBN: 978-1-4398-5129-6 (cit. on p. 11).
- [Bir35] G. Birkhoff. "On the Structure of Abstract Algebras". In: Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 31.4 (1935), pp. 433–454.
 DOI: 10.1017/S0305004100013463 (cit. on p. 15).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Bir44] G. Birkhoff. "Subdirect unions in universal algebra". In: Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 50 (1944), pp. 764–768. ISSN: 0002-9904. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9904-1944-08235-9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9904-1944-0823
 5-9 (cit. on p. 16).
- [Bru46] N. G. de Bruijn. "A combinatorial problem". In: Nederl. Akad. Wetensch., Proc. 49 (1946), 758–764 = Indagationes Math. 8, 461–467 (1946). ISSN: 0370-0348 (cit. on p. 79).
- [BS17] D. Bump and A. Schilling. Crystal bases. Representations and combinatorics. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ, 2017, pp. xii+279. ISBN: 978-981-4733-44-1. DOI: 10.1142/9876. URL: https://doi.org/10.1142/9876 (cit. on p. 1).
- [BS81] S. Burris and H. P. Sankappanavar. A course in universal algebra. Vol. 78.
 Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1981, pp. xvi+276. ISBN: 0-387-90578-2 (cit. on pp. 11, 15, 16).
- [Cai16] A. Cain. Nine Chapters on the Semigroup Art. Lecture notes for a tour through semigroups. 2016. URL: https://archive.org/details/cain_semigroups_ a4_screen (cit. on pp. 5, 11).
- [CGM19] A. J. Cain, R. D. Gray, and A. Malheiro. "Crystal monoids & crystal bases: rewriting systems and biautomatic structures for plactic monoids of types A_n , B_n , C_n , D_n , and G_2 ". In: J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 162 (2019), pp. 406– 466. ISSN: 0097-3165. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcta.2018.11.010. URL: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jcta.2018.11.010 (cit. on p. 78).
- [Cai+21] A. J. Cain, M. Johnson, M. Kambites, and A. Malheiro. Representations and identities of plactic-like monoids. 2021. arXiv: 2107.04492 [math.RA] (cit. on pp. 3, 77).
- [Cai+17] A. J. Cain, G. Klein, L. Kubat, A. Malheiro, and J. Okniński. A note on identities in plactic monoids and monoids of upper-triangular tropical matrices. 2017. arXiv: 1705.04596 [math.CO] (cit. on pp. 2, 21, 79).
- [CM17] A. J. Cain and A. Malheiro. "Crystallizing the hypoplactic monoid: from quasi-Kashiwara operators to the Robinson-Schensted-Knuth-type correspondence for quasi-ribbon tableaux". In: J. Algebraic Combin. 45.2 (2017), pp. 475–524. ISSN: 0925-9899. DOI: 10.1007/S10801-016-0714-6. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10801-016-0714-6 (cit. on pp. 22, 78).
- [CM18a] A. J. Cain and A. Malheiro. "Crystals and trees: quasi-Kashiwara operators, monoids of binary trees, and Robinson-Schensted-type correspondences". In: J. Algebra 502 (2018), pp. 347–381. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2018.01.036. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.20 18.01.036 (cit. on pp. 3, 24, 32, 35, 78).

- [CM18b] A. J. Cain and A. Malheiro. "Identities in plactic, hypoplactic, sylvester, Baxter, and related monoids". In: *Electron. J. Combin.* 25.3 (2018), Paper No. 3.30, 19. DOI: 10.37236/6873. URL: https://doi.org/10.37236/6873 (cit. on pp. 3, 22, 24, 28, 30, 33, 35, 36, 50, 55, 77).
- [CM19] A. J. Cain and A. Malheiro. "Combinatorics of cyclic shifts in plactic, hypoplactic, sylvester, Baxter, and related monoids". In: J. Algebra 535 (2019), pp. 159–224. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2019.06.025. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2019.06.025 (cit. on p. 26).
- [CMR21a] A. J. Cain, A. Malheiro, and D. Ribeiro. "Identities and bases in the hypoplactic monoid". In: *Communications in Algebra* 0.0 (2021), pp. 1–17. DOI: 10.1080/00927872.2021.1955901. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00
 927872.2021.1955901.URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/00927872.2021
 .1955901 (cit. on pp. ix, 3, 37, 49, 51, 61).
- [CMR21b] A. J. Cain, A. Malheiro, and D. Ribeiro. Identities and bases in the sylvester and Baxter monoids. 2021. arXiv: 2106.00733 [math.RA] (cit. on pp. 3, 37, 49, 61).
- [CMS19] A. J. Cain, A. Malheiro, and F. M. Silva. "The monoids of the patience sorting algorithm". In: *Internat. J. Algebra Comput.* 29.1 (2019), pp. 85–125. ISSN: 0218-1967. DOI: 10.1142/S0218196718500649. URL: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218196718500649 (cit. on p. 77).
- [Cai+09] A. J. Cain, G. Oliver, N. Ruškuc, and R. M. Thomas. "Automatic presentations for semigroups". In: *Inform. and Comput.* 207.11 (2009), pp. 1156–1168. ISSN: 0890-5401. DOI: 10.1016/j.ic.2009.02.005. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ic.2009.02.005 (cit. on p. 78).
- [Cai+10] A. J. Cain, G. Oliver, N. Ruškuc, and R. M. Thomas. "Automatic presentations and semigroup constructions". In: *Theory Comput. Syst.* 47.2 (2010), pp. 568–592. ISSN: 1432-4350. DOI: 10.1007/S00224-009-9216-4. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/S00224-009-9216-4 (cit. on p. 78).
- [CRT12] A. J. Cain, N. Ruškuc, and R. M. Thomas. "Unary FA-presentable semigroups". In: Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 22.4 (2012), pp. 1250038, 29. ISSN: 0218-1967. DOI: 10.1142/S0218196712500385. URL: https://doi.org/10 .1142/S0218196712500385 (cit. on p. 79).
- [Cas+01] J. Cassaigne, M. Espie, D. Krob, J.-C. Novelli, and F. Hivert. "The Chinese monoid". In: *Internat. J. Algebra Comput.* 11.3 (2001), pp. 301–334. ISSN: 0218-1967. DOI: 10.1142/S0218196701000425. URL: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218196701000425 (cit. on p. 3).

- [Che+20] Y. Chen, X. Hu, N. V. Kitov, Y. Luo, and M. V. Volkov. "Identities of the Kauffman monoid *K*₃". In: *Comm. Algebra* 48.5 (2020), pp. 1956–1968.
 ISSN: 0092-7872. DOI: 10.1080/00927872.2019.1710164. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/00927872.2019.1710164 (cit. on p. 1).
- [DJK18] L. Daviaud, M. Johnson, and M. Kambites. "Identities in upper triangular tropical matrix semigroups and the bicyclic monoid". In: J. Algebra 501 (2018), pp. 503–525. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2017.12.032. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2017.12.032 (cit. on pp. 1, 2, 19, 21, 59).
- [Die17] R. Diestel. Graph theory. Fifth. Vol. 173. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 2017, pp. xviii+428. ISBN: 978-3-662-53621-6. DOI: 10.10 07/978-3-662-53622-3. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-53 622-3 (cit. on p. 24).
- [DHT02] G. Duchamp, F. Hivert, and J.-Y. Thibon. "Noncommutative symmetric functions VI: Free quasi-symmetric functions and related algebras". In: Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 12.5 (2002), pp. 671–717. ISSN: 0218-1967. DOI: 10.114 2/S0218196702001139. URL: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218196702001 139 (cit. on p. 2).
- [DK94] G. Duchamp and D. Krob. "Plactic-growth-like monoids". In: Words, languages and combinatorics, II (Kyoto, 1992). World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1994, pp. 124–142 (cit. on p. 3).
- [Eil76] S. Eilenberg. Automata, languages, and machines. Vol. B. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 59. With two chapters ("Depth decomposition theorem" and "Complexity of semigroups and morphisms") by Bret Tilson. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], New York-London, 1976, pp. xiii+387 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Eva78] T. Evans. "Word problems". In: Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 84.5 (1978), pp. 789–802. ISSN: 0002-9904. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9904-1978-14516-9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9904-1978-14516-9 (cit. on p. 16).
- [Ful97] W. Fulton. Young tableaux. Vol. 35. London Mathematical Society Student Texts. With applications to representation theory and geometry. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997, pp. x+260. ISBN: 0-521-56144-2; 0-521-56724-6 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Gel+95] I. M. Gelfand, D. Krob, A. Lascoux, B. Leclerc, V. S. Retakh, and J.-Y. Thibon. "Noncommutative symmetric functions". In: *Adv. Math.* 112.2 (1995), pp. 218–348. ISSN: 0001-8708. DOI: 10.1006/aima.1995.1032. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/aima.1995.1032 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Gir12] S. Giraudo. "Algebraic and combinatorial structures on pairs of twin binary trees". In: J. Algebra 360 (2012), pp. 115–157. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 1 0.1016/j.jalgebra.2012.03.020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2012.03.020 (cit. on pp. 2, 3, 35, 36, 43).
- [Gre07] J. A. Green. *Polynomial representations of* GL_n . augmented. Vol. 830. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. With an appendix on Schensted correspondence and Littelmann paths by K. Erdmann, Green and M. Schocker. Springer, Berlin, 2007, pp. x+161. ISBN: 978-3-540-46944-5; 3-540-46944-3 (cit. on p. 1).
- [HZ21] B. B. Han and W. T. Zhang. *Finite basis problems for stalactic, taiga, sylvester and Baxter monoids.* 2021. arXiv: 2107.00892 [math.GR] (cit. on pp. 3, 77).
- [Hig92] P. M. Higgins. *Techniques of semigroup theory*. Oxford Science Publications.
 With a foreword by G. B. Preston. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University
 Press, New York, 1992, pp. x+258. ISBN: 0-19-853577-5 (cit. on p. 5).
- [HNT05] F. Hivert, J.-C. Novelli, and J.-Y. Thibon. "The algebra of binary search trees". In: *Theoret. Comput. Sci.* 339.1 (2005), pp. 129–165. ISSN: 0304-3975. DOI: 10.1016/j.tcs.2005.01.012. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcs.2005.01.012 (cit. on pp. 2, 24).
- [HNT08] F. Hivert, J.-C. Novelli, and J.-Y. Thibon. "Commutative combinatorial Hopf algebras". In: J. Algebraic Combin. 28.1 (2008), pp. 65–95. ISSN: 0925-9899.
 DOI: 10.1007/S10801-007-0077-0. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/S10 801-007-0077-0 (cit. on p. 77).
- [How76] J. M. Howie. An introduction to semigroup theory. L.M.S. Monographs, No. 7. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], London-New York, 1976, pp. x+272 (cit. on p. 8).
- [How95] J. M. Howie. Fundamentals of semigroup theory. Vol. 12. London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series. Oxford Science Publications. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1995, pp. x+351. ISBN: 0-19-851194-9 (cit. on p. 5).
- [Izh14] Z. Izhakian. "Semigroup identities in the monoid of triangular tropical matrices". In: Semigroup Forum 88.1 (2014), pp. 145–161. ISSN: 0037-1912.
 DOI: 10.1007/S00233-013-9507-6. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/S00233-013-9507-6 (cit. on pp. 2, 21, 79).
- [Izh19] Z. Izhakian. "Tropical plactic algebra, the cloaktic monoid, and semigroup representations". In: J. Algebra 524 (2019), pp. 290–366. ISSN: 0021-8693.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2018.12.014. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2018.12.014 (cit. on pp. 2, 21, 80).

- [JO11] J. Jaszuńska and J. Okniński. "Structure of Chinese algebras". In: J. Algebra 346 (2011), pp. 31–81. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.201 1.08.020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2011.08.020 (cit. on p. 3).
- [JK21] M. Johnson and M. Kambites. "Tropical representations and identities of plactic monoids". In: *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 374.6 (2021), pp. 4423–4447.
 ISSN: 0002-9947. DOI: 10.1090/tran/8355. URL: https://doi.org/10.1090/tran/8355 (cit. on pp. 2, 15, 19, 21, 79, 80).
- [JT19] M. Johnson and N. M. Tran. "Geometry and algorithms for upper triangular tropical matrix identities". In: J. Algebra 530 (2019), pp. 470–507. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2019.03.024. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2019.03.024 (cit. on pp. 2, 19, 21).
- [KN94] M. Kashiwara and T. Nakashima. "Crystal graphs for representations of the q-analogue of classical Lie algebras". In: J. Algebra 165.2 (1994), pp. 295–345. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1006/jabr.1994.1114. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/jabr.1994.1114 (cit. on p. 78).
- [KS95] O. G. Kharlampovich and M. V. Sapir. "Algorithmic problems in varieties". In: Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 5.4-5 (1995), pp. 379-602. ISSN: 0218-1967. DOI: 10.1142/S0218196795000227. URL: https://doi.org/10.1142/S021 8196795000227 (cit. on p. 1).
- [KN95] B. Khoussainov and A. Nerode. "Automatic presentations of structures". In: Logic and computational complexity (Indianapolis, IN, 1994). Vol. 960. Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci. Springer, Berlin, 1995, pp. 367–392. DOI: 10.1007/3 -540-60178-3_93. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-60178-3_93 (cit. on p. 78).
- [KS04] J.-A. Kim and D.-U. Shin. "Insertion scheme for the classical Lie algebras". In: Comm. Algebra 32.8 (2004), pp. 3139–3167. ISSN: 0092-7872. DOI: 10 . 1081/AGB-120039283. URL: https://doi.org/10.1081/AGB-120039283 (cit. on p. 78).
- [KV20] N. V. Kitov and M. V. Volkov. "Identities of the Kauffman Monoid \mathcal{K}_4 and of the Jones Monoid \mathcal{J}_4 ". In: *Fields of logic and computation*. III. Vol. 12180. Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci. Springer, Cham, 2020, pp. 156–178. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-48006-6_12. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-48006-6_12 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Knu70] D. E. Knuth. "Permutations, matrices, and generalized Young tableaux".
 In: Pacific J. Math. 34 (1970), pp. 709–727. ISSN: 0030-8730. URL: http://projecteuclid.org/euclid.pjm/1102971948 (cit. on pp. 1, 24).

- [KT97] D. Krob and J.-Y. Thibon. "Noncommutative symmetric functions IV: Quantum linear groups and Hecke algebras at q = 0". In: J. Algebraic Combin. 6.4 (1997), pp. 339–376. ISSN: 0925-9899. DOI: 10.1023/A:1008673127310.
 URL: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008673127310 (cit. on p. 2).
- [KO15] L. Kubat and J. Okniński. "Identities of the plactic monoid". In: Semigroup Forum 90.1 (2015), pp. 100–112. ISSN: 0037-1912. DOI: 10.1007/S00233-0 14-9609-9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/S00233-014-9609-9 (cit. on pp. 2, 21).
- [LS81] A. Lascoux and M.-P. Schützenberger. "Le monoïde plaxique". In: Noncommutative structures in algebra and geometric combinatorics (Naples, 1978).
 Vol. 109. Quad. "Ricerca Sci." CNR, Rome, 1981, pp. 129–156 (cit. on p. 1).
- [LS78] A. Lascoux and M.-P. Schützenberger. "Sur une conjecture de H. O. Foulkes". In: C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 286.7 (1978), A323–A324. ISSN: 0151-0509 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Lec02] C. Lecouvey. "Schensted-type correspondence, plactic monoid, and jeu de taquin for type C_n". In: J. Algebra 247.2 (2002), pp. 295–331. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1006/jabr.2001.8905. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/jabr.2001.8905 (cit. on p. 78).
- [Lec03] C. Lecouvey. "Schensted-type correspondences and plactic monoids for types B_n and D_n ". In: J. Algebraic Combin. 18.2 (2003), pp. 99–133. ISSN: 0925-9899. DOI: 10.1023/A:1025154930381. URL: https://doi.org/10.1 023/A:1025154930381 (cit. on p. 78).
- [Lec07] C. Lecouvey. "Combinatorics of crystal graphs for the root systems of types A_n, B_n, C_n, D_n and G_2 ". In: *Combinatorial aspect of integrable systems*. Vol. 17. MSJ Mem. Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2007, pp. 11–41 (cit. on p. 78).
- [LR98] J.-L. Loday and M. O. Ronco. "Hopf algebra of the planar binary trees". In: Adv. Math. 139.2 (1998), pp. 293–309. ISSN: 0001-8708. DOI: 10.1006 / aima. 1998.1759. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/aima.1998.1759 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Lot02] M. Lothaire. Algebraic combinatorics on words. Vol. 90. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. A collective work by Jean Berstel, Dominique Perrin, Patrice Seebold, Julien Cassaigne, Aldo De Luca, Steffano Varricchio, Alain Lascoux, Bernard Leclerc, Jean-Yves Thibon, Veronique Bruyere, Christiane Frougny, Filippo Mignosi, Antonio Restivo, Christophe Reutenauer, Dominique Foata, Guo-Niu Han, Jacques Desarmenien, Volker Diekert, Tero Harju, Juhani Karhumaki and Wojciech Plandowski, With a preface by Berstel and Perrin. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002, pp. xiv+504. ISBN: 0-521-81220-8. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781107326019. URL: https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781107326019 (cit. on pp. 1, 19).

- [Lou21] J. M. Lourenço. The NOVAthesis &TEX Template User's Manual. NOVA University Lisbon. 2021. URL: https://github.com/joaomlourenco/novathesis/ raw/master/template.pdf (cit. on p. ix).
- [Mac15] I. G. Macdonald. Symmetric functions and Hall polynomials. Second. Oxford Classic Texts in the Physical Sciences. With contribution by A. V. Zelevinsky and a foreword by Richard Stanley, Reprint of the 2008 paperback edition [MR1354144]. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2015, pp. xii+475. ISBN: 978-0-19-873912-8 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Mal73] A. I. Mal'cev. Algebraic systems. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 192. Posthumous edition, edited by D. Smirnov and M. Taĭclin, Translated from the Russian by B. D. Seckler and A. P. Doohovskoy. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973, pp. xii+317 (cit. on pp. 11, 15).
- [Mas96] G. Mashevitzky. "On the finite basis problem for left hereditary systems of semigroup identities". In: *Semigroups, automata and languages (Porto, 1994)*. World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1996, pp. 167–181 (cit. on p. 15).
- [MMT18] R. N. McKenzie, G. F. McNulty, and W. F. Taylor. Algebras, lattices, varieties. Vol. 1. Reprint of [MR0883644], 1969. AMS Chelsea Publishing/American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2018, pp. xii+367. ISBN: 978-1-4704-4295-8. DOI: 10.1090/chel/383.H. URL: https://doi.org/10.1090 /chel/383.H (cit. on pp. 11, 15, 16).
- [Nov00] J.-C. Novelli. "On the hypoplactic monoid". In: Discrete Math. 217.1-3 (2000). Formal power series and algebraic combinatorics (Vienna, 1997), pp. 315–336. ISSN: 0012-365X. DOI: 10.1016/S0012-365X(99)00270-8. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-365X(99)00270-8 (cit. on pp. 2, 22–24, 28).
- [Okn15] J. Okniński. "Identities of the semigroup of upper triangular tropical matrices". In: Comm. Algebra 43.10 (2015), pp. 4422–4426. ISSN: 0092-7872. DOI: 10.1080/00927872.2014.946141. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/00927
 872.2014.946141 (cit. on pp. 2, 21).
- [Pap94] C. H. Papadimitriou. Computational complexity. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Reading, MA, 1994, pp. xvi+523. ISBN: 0-201-53082-1 (cit. on pp. 11, 16).
- [Pas06] F. Pastijn. "Polyhedral convex cones and the equational theory of the bicyclic semigroup". In: J. Aust. Math. Soc. 81.1 (2006), pp. 63–96. ISSN: 1446-7887.
 DOI: 10.1017/S1446788700014646. URL: https://doi.org/10.1017/S144
 6788700014646 (cit. on pp. 2, 15).

- [PV06] F. Pastijn and M. V. Volkov. "Cryptic semigroup varieties". In: Semigroup Forum 72.2 (2006), pp. 159–189. ISSN: 0037-1912. DOI: 10.1007/S00233-0 05-0550-9. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/S00233-005-0550-9 (cit. on p. 64).
- [Pin86] J.-É. Pin. Varieties of formal languages. Foundations of Computer Science. With a preface by M.-P. Schützenberger, Translated from the French by A. Howie. Plenum Publishing Corp., New York, 1986, pp. x+138. ISBN: 0-306-42294-8. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4613-2215-3. URL: https://doi.org/10 .1007/978-1-4613-2215-3 (cit. on p. 51).
- [PR95] S. Poirier and C. Reutenauer. "Algèbres de Hopf de tableaux". In: Ann. Sci. Math. Québec 19.1 (1995), pp. 79–90. ISSN: 0707-9109 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Pri13] J.-B. Priez. "Lattice of combinatorial Hopf algebras: binary trees with multiplicities". In: vol. DMTCS Proceedings vol. AS, 25th International Conference on Formal Power Series and Algebraic Combinatorics (FPSAC 2013). Jan. 2013. DOI: 10.46298/dmtcs.2372. URL: https://dmtcs.episciences.org/2372 (cit. on pp. 3, 32, 77).
- [Rea05] N. Reading. "Lattice congruences, fans and Hopf algebras". In: J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 110.2 (2005), pp. 237–273. ISSN: 0097-3165. DOI: 10.1016 /j.jcta.2004.11.001. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcta.2004.11 .001 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Rey07] M. Rey. "Algebraic constructions on set partitions". In: 19th Formal Power Series and Algebraic Combinatorics (FPSAC'07). 1. electronic version (12 pp.) France, 2007, 10pp. URL: https://hal-upec-upem.archives-ouvertes. fr/hal-00622741 (cit. on p. 77).
- [Rub08] S. Rubin. "Automata presenting structures: a survey of the finite string case". In: Bull. Symbolic Logic 14.2 (2008), pp. 169–209. ISSN: 1079-8986.
 DOI: 10.2178/bs1/1208442827. URL: https://doi.org/10.2178/bs1/120 8442827 (cit. on p. 78).
- [Sap14] M. V. Sapir. Combinatorial algebra: syntax and semantics. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. With contributions by Victor S. Guba and Mikhail V. Volkov. Springer, Cham, 2014, pp. xvi+355. ISBN: 978-3-319-08030-7; 978-3-319-08031-4. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-08031-4. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08031-4 (cit. on p. 1).
- [Sch61] C. Schensted. "Longest increasing and decreasing subsequences". In: Canadian J. Math. 13 (1961), pp. 179–191. ISSN: 0008-414X. DOI: 10.4153/CJM-1961-015-3. URL: https://doi.org/10.4153/CJM-1961-015-3 (cit. on p. 1).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

| [Sch77] | MP. Schützenberger. "La correspondance de Robinson". In: Combinatoire |
|---------|--|
| | et représentation du groupe symétrique (Actes Table Ronde CNRS, Univ. Louis- |
| | Pasteur Strasbourg, Strasbourg, 1976). 1977, 59–113. Lecture Notes in Math., |
| | Vol. 579 (cit. on p. 1). |

- [Shn89] L. M. Shneerson. "On the axiomatic rank of varieties generated by a semigroup or monoid with one defining relation". In: Semigroup Forum 39.1 (1989), pp. 17–38. ISSN: 0037-1912. DOI: 10.1007/BF02573281. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02573281 (cit. on pp. 2, 15, 21).
- [Shn93] L. M. Shneerson. "Identities in finitely generated semigroups of polynomial growth". In: J. Algebra 154.1 (1993), pp. 67–85. ISSN: 0021-8693. DOI: 10.1
 006/jabr.1993.1004. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/jabr.1993.1004
 (cit. on p. 2).
- [Sim72] I. Simon. "Hierarchies of Events with Dot-Depth One". PhD thesis. University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ont., Canada, 1972 (cit. on p. 51).
- [Sip13] M. Sipser. *Introduction to the Theory of Computation*. Third. Cengage Learning, 2013, pp. xxii+458. ISBN: 978-1-133-18779-0 (cit. on pp. 11, 16).
- [Tay17] M. Taylor. "On upper triangular tropical matrix semigroups, tropical matrix identities and T-modules". PhD thesis. The University of Manchester (United Kingdom), 2017 (cit. on pp. 2, 21, 79).
- [Vol01] M. V. Volkov. "The finite basis problem for finite semigroups". In: *Sci. Math. Jpn.* 53.1 (2001), pp. 171–199. ISSN: 1346-0862 (cit. on pp. 1, 15).
- [Vol04] M. V. Volkov. "Reflexive relations, extensive transformations and piecewise testable languages of a given height". In: vol. 14. 5-6. International Conference on Semigroups and Groups in honor of the 65th birthday of Prof. John Rhodes. 2004, pp. 817–827. DOI: 10.1142/S0218196704002018. URL: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218196704002018 (cit. on p. 51).



IDENTITIES AND BASES IN PLACTIC, HYPOPLACTIC, SYLVESTER, AND RELATED MONOIDS Duarte Ribeiro